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LIsT OF ABBREVIATIONs/ACRONYMs
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3
FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERsON                                 

On behalf of the Council of the Academy of Sci-
ence of South Africa (ASSAf), I am pleased to in-
troduce this year’s Annual Report and to report on 
the activities and performance highlights of the 
Academy for 2020/21. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has required us all to ad-
just to new scenarios and to make different plans 
for delivery on our objectives through the various 
phases of the national lockdown since March 2020. 
The ASSAf Council approved a hybrid model of re-
mote	work	and	work	from	the	office	for	the	Acade-
my Secretariat with the recommended health and 
safety measures in place to protect staff who needs 
to	go	into	the	office.	

ASSAf, like other government departments, had to 
contend with budget cuts while still having to deliver 
on given mandates and we were required to submit 
revised Annual Performance Plans (APP). The Exec-
utive	Officer	(EO),	Prof	Himla	Soodyall,	together	with	
her management team, have worked diligently to 
ensure a smooth transition into the lockdown period 
in ways that sustained the many and demanding 
activities of the Academy. I recognise the extraordi-
nary commitment of the Secretariat which, despite 
many challenges, continued to deliver on the am-
bitious list of activities listed in the 2020/21 APP. This 
Annual Report documents the achievements and 
successes of a team that remained dedicated to 
and focused on the core business of the organi-
sation despite the dwindling resources and an in-
creasingly stringent working environment. I am, fur-
thermore, indebted to the accomplished members 
of the ASSAf Council who have invested their time 
and talents to enrich the governance and deliver 
on	the	fiduciary	responsibilities	of	the	Academy.	

The	2020/21	financial	 year	ushered	 in	 the	Acade-
my’s	new	five-year	Strategic	Plan	for	the	2020/21	-	
2024/25 cycle with ASSAf’s activities reported within 
six strategic outcome and output driven objectives 
as presented in the tabled 2020/21 APP. These are: 
Independent,	Authoritative	and	Influential	Scientific	
Advice, Science Engagement, Mobilising Knowl-
edge, Facilitating Partnerships, Scholarship Sup-
port and Supporting Transformation. The activities 
within these objectives are closely aligned with the 
national priorities set by government as outlined in 
the White Paper on Science, Technology and Inno-

vation, together with the Medium-Term Strategic 
Framework 2019 - 2024.

Overall,	ASSAf	published	one	consensus	study,	five	
proceedings reports, one peer review panel report, 
six Statements and two books during the reporting 
period. 

As	the	official	academy	of	science	of	South	Africa,	
ASSAf has as core function to honour the country’s 
most outstanding scholars by electing them to Mem-
bership of the Academy. Thirty-one of the country’s 
leading scholars and scientists were elected and in-
augurated as Members of ASSAf and with the addi-
tional appointment of three Honorary Foreign Asso-
ciates by the ASSAf Council, the ASSAf Membership 
at	the	end	of	this	financial	period	stands	at	594.	We	
are also delighted and honoured to have present-
ed Prof Tshilidzi Marwala and Prof Leila Patel, with 
the ASSAf Science-for-Society Gold Medal Award 
for 2020. We recognise these two scholars for the 
impact of their contributions to societal issues and 
policy making in South Africa.

Looking back at the year under review, ASSAf con-
tinued to make great strides towards strengthening 
and growing its national, regional and international 
partnerships. I highlight some of the efforts below.

Nationally, ASSAf is leading an engagement 
among scientists to draw up a Code of Conduct 
for Research to ensure compliance with the Pro-
tection of Personal Information Act (POPIA) and 
an ASSAf Forum on Just Transition has been estab-
lished whereby ASSAf will play a mediating role to 
bring various stakeholders together at a Forum to 
discuss a plan to take forward a transition away 
from a coal-dominated energy economy and to 
a lower-emissions development pathway, leaving 
no one behind. The Academy and the South Afri-
can National Space Agency (SANSA) have sealed 
a partnership with a commitment to establish col-
laboration activities that ensure policy formulation 
is	scientific	and	evidence-based,	and	that	science	
engagement is advanced to increased science 
awareness in our communities. ASSAf was again 
a proud partner and supporter of the 2020 edition 
of Science Forum South Africa (SFSA) and through 
its Members, its EO, its Scholarly Publishing, Liaison 
and Science Advisory Programmes, the Academy 
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hosted and/or participated in some eight sessions 
at the 2020 SFSA.

In the international arena, ASSAf played a role in 
various InterAcademy Partnership (IAP) initiatives 
including co-chairing the IAP Predatory Journals 
project that is evaluating the extent and impact 
of predatory practices. The ASSAf EO represented 
the Academy at the Science 20 (S20) Summit and 
five	Members	participated	in	working	groups	lead-
ing up to the event. Together with the Embassy of 
Italy in South Africa, ASSAf brought together experts 
from South Africa and Italy who put the mental 
health challenges confronting the elderly in the era 
of the COVID-19 pandemic under the spotlight. Al-
though held virtually this year, ASSAf continued to 
support the Annual Lindau Nobel Laureate Meet-
ing through participation in an Expo and Network-
ing Day that had been organised as part of the 
online meeting programme and in partnership with 
the Department of Science and Innovation (DSI), 
the Academy launched an inspiring publication 
that records the narratives by South African young 
scientists who have participated at the prestigious 
Lindau Nobel Laureate meetings.

On the continent, ASSAf participated in activities 
in support of African science academies includ-
ing the Kingdom of Eswatini Academy of Sciences, 
the Botswana Academy of Sciences as well as the 
recently launched Lesotho Academy of Science 
and Technology. The Academy also led a survey 
among the national academies of science in the 
SADC region to document and report on academy 
capacity and undertaking of activities related to 
COVID-19 to demonstrate the value-add of acad-
emies to their respective countries in dealing with 
matters of national and global importance.

In October 2020, the terms of a number of expe-
rienced Council members (Profs Barney Pityana, 
Zeblon	Vilakazi,	Brenda	Wingfield,	and	Johann	Mouton)	
came to an end; I wish to thank them for their col-
legiality, energy, dedication and willingness to en-
hance the image and work of South Africa’s only 

recognised Academy. As I go into my second term 
as President of ASSAf, I should also express deep 
gratitude to these departing Council members for 
their consistent guidance, wisdom and support to 
me as President of ASSAf.

ASSAf’s impressive accomplishments during the pe-
riod under review are in no small part due to the 
voluntary participation of its Members. I wish to ac-
knowledge all those who have given so willingly of 
their time and expertise to the Academy, thereby 
enabling us in achieving our objectives. 

Sadly, the following Members passed away during 
the period under review: Dr Neville Comins, 
Prof Maarten de Wit, Prof Doug Rawlings, 
Prof Esté Vorster, Prof Viness Pillay, Prof Rolf Stumpf, 
Prof Bangilizwe Mqeke, Prof Lourens du Plessis, 
Prof Tania Douglas and Prof Christof Heyns. We will 
surely miss their presence and contributions and ex-
tend our sincere condolences to their family and 
friends.

ASSAf wishes to acknowledge the funding from DSI 
and for their continued support in facilitating and 
promoting our activities nationally, regionally, Pan 
African and globally.

The year in review will be remembered for a series 
of lockdowns at various levels, the global scram-
ble for vaccinations with a third wave imminent in 
South Africa at the time of writing this message. But 
it will also be remembered for the world coming to-
gether	and	for	remarkable	scientific	success.

Prof Jonathan Jansen
Chairperson
Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf)
30 July 2021
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Egameni loMkhandlu we-Akhademi Yezesayensi 
yaseNingizimu Afrika (i-Academy of Science in 
South Africa) (i-ASSAf), kuyintokozo ukwethula uM-
biko Wonyaka walo nyaka nokubika ngemisebenzi 
kanye	 nesifinyezo	 semisebenzi	 eyenziwe	 yi-Akha-
demi ngowezi-2020/21. 

Ubhubhane lwe-COVID-19 lubize ukuba sonke 
sijwayele izindlela ezintsha futhi senze izinhlelo ezi-
hlukile zokuhlinzekela izimpokophelo zethu eziga-
beni ezinhlobonhlobo zokuvalwa kwemisebenzi 
ethile kuzwelonke kusukela ngoMashi 2020. UMkha-
ndlu we-ASSAf ugunyaze uhlelo olusebenza ngez-
indlela ezimbili okuwukusebenzela ekhaya kanye 
nokusebenzela ehhovisi likaNobhala we-Akhademi 
ngokulandela izincomo zezempilo nezindlela zok-
uphepha ezimisiwe zokuvikela izisebenzi okumele 
ziye ehhovisi. 

I-ASSAf, njengeminye iminyango kahulumeni, 
kudingeke ukuba ibhekane nokuncishiswa kwesa-
belomali kube kusadingeka ukuba ihlinzeke ngem-
isebenzi emisiwe futhi kudingeke ukuba sithumele 
uHlelo Lwemisebenzi Yonyaka (i-APP) olubuyekezi-
we. Isikhulu Esiphezulu (i-EO), uSolz. Himla Soodyall, 
enethimba lakhe labaphathi, basebenze ngokuz-
imisela ukuqinisekisa ukudlulela esikhathini soku-
miswa kweminye imisebenzi ezweni ngaphandle 
kwezinkinga ngezindlela ezikwaze ukugcina in-
qwaba yemisebenzi edinga okuningi kwi-Akha-
demi. Ngidlulisa ukubonga ukuzimisela ngokwed-
lulele kweHhovisi Likanobhala okwenze ukuba, 
yize kube nenqwaba yezinselele, liqhubekile ukuh-
linzeka	 ngemisebenzi	 esohlwini	 lwezifiso	 eziku-APP	
yowezi-2020/21. Lo Mbiko Wonyaka uqukethe imi-
phumela emihle kanye nempumelelo yethimba 
eliqhubeke nokuzinikela nasekugxileni emsebenzini 
owumnyombo wesikhungo yize kube nezinkinga 
zezinsiza kanye nokunyuka kobunzima endaweni 
yokusebenzela.  Phezu kwalokho, ngibonga kakhu-
lu kumalungu asebenze ngokuzikhandla oMkha-
ndlu we-ASSAf anikele ngesikhathi namathalente 
awo ukuze kuphumelele ukuphatha nokuhlinzeka 
ngemisebenzi emisiwe ye-Akhademi.  

Unyaka wezimali wezi-2021 wangenisa ukuqala 
koHlelo Lweqhingasu Lokusebenza olusha lwemin-
yaka emihlanu lowezi-2020/21-21 - 2014/25 kube 
imisebenzi ye-ASSAf ebikiwe ngaphansi kwemi-
phumela eyisithupha engokweqhingasu kanye 
nemiphumela elandela izimpokophelo eyethulwa 

IsENDLALELO sIkAMONGAMELI

kwi-APP yowezi-2020/21. Lokho kungokulandelayo: 
Ukuzimela, Izeluleko Zesayensi Eziyizonazona Nez-
inomthelela, Ukubonisana Ngesayensi, Ukuthola 
Ulwazi, Ukulawula Ubudlelwano, Ukweseka Ngem-
ifundaze kanye Nokweseka Uguquko. Imiseben-
zi engaphansi kwalezi zimpokophelo isondelene 
nokuseqhulwini kuzwelonke okumiswe wuhulumeni 
njengoba kwendlalwe Kumthetho Odingidwayo 
WezeSayensi, Ezobuchwephese Nezokuqanjwa 
kwamasu Amasha, kundawonye noHlaka Lweqhin-
gasu Lwesikhathi Esimaphakathi sowezi-2019-2024.

Phezu kwakho konke, i-ASSAf ishicilele ucwanin-
go olulodwa okuvunyelwene ngalo, imibiko yezin-
qumo emihlanu, umbiko obuyekezwe ozakwabo 
owodwa, Izitatimende eziyisithupha kanye nez-
incwadi ezimbili ngesikhathi sokwethulwa kombiko. 

Njengoba i-Akhademi Yezesayensi yaseNingizimu 
Afrika ngokusemthethweni, omunye wemise-
benzi esemnyombweni ye-ASSAf wukuhlonipha 
izifundiswa eziphuma phambili ezweni ngokuz-
ikhetha ukuze zibe ngamaLungu e-Akhademi. 
Izifundiswa eziphuma phambili ezingamashumi 
amathathu ezweni nososayensi bakhethwa fu-
thi bagcotshwa njengamaLungu e-ASSAf futhi 
kwaphinda kwaqokwa, ngokwengezela, Ozakwa-
bo Bakwamanye Amazwe Abahlonishwa wuM-
khandlu we-ASSAf, ubuLungu be-ASSAf ekupheleni 
kwalesi sikhathi sezimali bube ngama-594. Sizizwe-
la sinentokozo enkulu futhi sisenhlanhleni enkulu 
yokuklomelisa uSolz. Tshilidzi Marwala noSolz. Leila 
Patel, ngeMedali Eyindondo Yegolide ye-ASSAf 
Science-for-Society yowezi-2020. Sihlonipha lezi 
zifundiswa ezimbili ngomthelela wegalelo lazo ez-
inkingeni zasemphakathini nasekubhalweni kwezin-
qubomgomo eNingizimu Afrika.

Uma sibheka unyanga obuyekezwayo, i-ASSAf 
iqhubekile nokuthatha amagxathu amakhulu 
aqonde ekuqiniseni nasekukhuliseni ubudlelwano 
bayo ezweni, ezifundeni nakumazwe ngamazwe. 
Ngenzansi ngiveze ezinye zezinhlelo.

Kuzwelonke, i-ASSAf ihamba phambili ekuboni-
saneni nososayensi ukuze kubhalwe Inqubo 
Yokuziphatha Yocwaningo ukuqinisekisa ukulan-
delwa koMthetho Wokuvikela Kolwazi Lomuntu 
Siqu (i-POPIA) kanye neForumu ye-ASSAf Yobu-
lungiswa Kwezezinguquko ezisunguliwe lapho i-AS-
SAf izobamba iqhaza lokuxhumanisa ababam-

3
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biqhaza abanhlobonhlobo ndawonye kwiForumu 
yokudingida uhlelo lokuqhubekisa uguquko ku-
sukwa emnothweni wamandla ancike emalahleni 
kushintshelwe endleleni yokwakha izindlela ezin-
gawungcolisi kakhulu umoya, kube kungashiywa 
muntu ngaphandle.  I-Akhademi ne-Ejensi Yeze-
mikhathi Kuzwelonke yaseNingizimu Africa (i-South 
African National Space Agency) (i-SANSA) bazi-
bophezele ebudlelwaneni bokuzinikela ekusunge-
leni imisebenzi yokubambisana eqinisekisa ukuthi 
ukumiswa kwenqubomgomo esuselwe kwisayensi 
nobufakazi obuphathekayo, nokuthi ukubonisana 
ngokwesayensi kuyathuthuka ukuze kwandiswe 
ulwazi ngesayensi emiphakathini yethu. I-ASSAf ip-
hinde ibe wuzakwethu esizigqaja ngaye nomeseki 
wohlelo lowezi-2020 lwe-Science Forum South Afri-
ca (i-SFSA) ngobuLungu bayo, u-EO wayo, Imibhalo 
Yezifundiswa Eshicilelwayo, Izinhlelo Zokuxhumana 
neZokwelulekana Ngesayensi, i-Akhademi isin-
gathe futhi/noma yabamba iqhaza emihlangan-
weni eyisishiyagalombili ye-2020 SFSA.

Ezingeni lamazwe ngamazwe, i-ASSAf ibambe 
iqhaza elikhulu ezinhlelweni ezinhlobonhlobo ze-In-
terAcademy Partnership (i-IAP) okubandakanya 
ukuba wusihlalo ngokuhlanganyela ne-IAP Pred-
atory Journal emsebenzini wokuhlola ubungako 
nomthelela wezinqubo ezingalungile. I-EO ye-ASSAf 
imele i-Akhademi eNgqungqutheleni ye-S20 futhi 
Amalungu amahlanu abamba iqhaza emaqenjini 
enza umsebenzi wokuhola lo mcimbi. Indawonye 
neNxusa lase-Italy eliseNingizimu Afrika, i-ASSAf ih-
langanise ongoti baseNingizimu Afrika nase-Italy 
ababeka izinselele ezigqamile zesimo sokuphila 
ngokomqondo esihlasela abantu abakhululile nge-
sikhathi sobhubhane lwe-COVID-19. Yize ubanjwe 
ngohlelo lwezokuxhumana ngobuchwepheshe 
kulo nyaka, i-ASSAf iqhubekile nokweseka uM-
hlangano Waminyaka Yonke we-Lindau Nobel 
Laureate ngokubamba iqhaza Osukwini Lwemib-
ukiso Nokuhlangana olwaluhlelwe njengengxenye 
yohlelo lomhlangano obanjwe ngohlelo lwezokux-
humana nangokubambisana noMnyango Weze-
sayensi Nezokuqanjwa Kwamasu Amasha (i-DIS), 
i-Akhademi yethule umsebenzi oshicilelwe okhuth-
azayo obhale izindaba zososayensi abancane bas-
eNingizimu Afrika ababambe iqhaza emihlangan-
weni yeLindau Nobel Laureate.

Ezwenikazi, i-ASSAf ibambe iqhaza ekwesekeni 
izikhungo zemfundo zesayensi zase-Afrika okuban-
dakanya i-Akhademi Yezesayensi yaseSwatini, 
i-Akhademi Yezesayensi yaseBotswana kanye 
ne-Akhademi Yezesayensi Nezobuchwepheshe 
yaseLesotho esanda kwethulwa. I-Akhademi iphin-
de yahola ucwaningo phakathi kwama-akhademi 
esayensi esifundeni se-SADC ukuze kubhalwe futhi 
kubikwe ngabasebenzi baku-akhademi nokwen-
za imisebenzi eqondene ne-COVID-19 ukuze ku-
bonakale igalelo lama-akhademi emazweni awo 

ekubhekaneni nezindaba ezibalulekile kuzwelonke 
nakumazwe ngamazwe.

Ngo-Okthoba 2020, isikhathi sokusebenza samalun-
gu oMkhandlu anesipiliyoni (uSolz. Barney Pityana, 
uZeblon	 Vilakazi,	 uBrenda	 Wingfield,	 noJohann	
Mouton)	safika	emaphethelweni;	ngithanda	ukuba-
bonga ngokubambisana, ugqozi, ukuzinikela kanye 
nokuzimisela ukuthuthukisa igama nomsebenzi 
weNingizimu Afrika we-Akhademi okuyiyo kuphe-
la ehlonishwayo kulo mkhakha. Njengoba sengin-
gena ehlandlelani lami lesibili njengoMongameli 
we-ASSAf, kumele ngiveze ukubonga okukhulu kula 
malungu oMkhandlu ophumayo ngokungakhatha-
li ukudlulisa izeluleko, ubuhlakani kanye nokungese-
ka njengoMongameli we-ASSAf.

Impumelelo ye-ASSAf encomekayo ngesikha-
thi esibuyekezwayo idalwe kakhulu wukubamba 
iqhaza	 ngokuzinikela	 kwamaLungu	 ayo.	 Ngifisa	
ukwazisa bonke labo abanikele ngesikhathi sabo 
kanye nolwazi lwabo njengongoti ngenhliziyo evu-
mayo e-Akhademi, okwenze sakwazi ukufeza izim-
pokophelo zethu. 

Ngeshwa, amaLungu alandelayo adlulile em-
hlabeni ngesikhathi esibuyekezwayo: uDkt. Neville 
Comins, uSolz. Maartens de Wit, uSolz. Doug Rawl-
ings, uSolz. Este Vorster, uSolz. Viness Pillay, uSolz. Rolf 
Stumpf, uSolz. Bangilizwe Mqeke, uSolz. Lourens du 
Plessis, uSolz. Tania Douglas kanye noSolz. Christof 
Heyns. Impela sizobakhumbula njengabantu kanye 
nangamagalelo abo futhi sidlulisa amazwi endudu-
zo asuka ekujuleni kwezinhliziyo zethu aqondiswe 
emindenini nakubangani babo.

I-ASSAf	 ifisa	 ukwazisa	 uxhasomali	 oluvele	 kwi-DSI	
kanye nokuqhubeka kwayo nokweseka uku-
lawulwa nokuthuthukiswa kwemisebenzi yethu 
kuzwelonke, esifundeni e-Afrika kanye nasemazwe-
ni ngamazwe.

Unyaka obuyekezwayo uzokhunjulwa ngochun-
gechungwe lwamazinga anhlobonhlobo oku-
miswa kwemisebenzi ethile ezweni, umshikashika 
womhlaba wonke wokuthola imigomo kube ne-
hlandla lesithathu lobhubhane libe lihlomile nge-
sikhathi sokubhalwa kwalo myalezo. Kodwa futhi 
uzokhunjulwa ngokuhlangana komhlaba nangem-
pumelelo encomekayo kwezesayensi.

Solz. Jonathan Jansen
Usihlalo
I-Akhademi Yezesayensi yaseNingizimu Afrika 
(i-ASSAf)
30 Julayi 2021
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The	beginning	of	this	financial	year	marked	the	on-
set of the new ASSAf Five-year 2021/22 – 2024/25 
Strategic Plan which was compiled under my 
leadership	as	the	third	Executive	Officer	appoint-
ed at ASSAf in November 2018. The 2021/22 Annu-
al Performance Plan outlined the activities ASSAf 
had envisaged within its various programmes to 
advance the six strategic objectives, and an up-
date of the activities are presented in this Annual 
Report.
 
With the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic 
in early March in South Africa, and the response 
by the South African government to impose strict 
lockdown regulations which came into effect from 
27 March 2020, ASSAf staff was forced to work re-
motely from home. As the different levels of lock-
down regulations were phased in, ASSAf Manage-
ment reviewed the situation and took the decision 
to encourage staff to work remotely, and when it 
was	possible	or	essential	to	return	to	the	office,	the	
return-to-work process was phased in with strict 
standard operational procedures that were put in 
place for staff to work in a safe environment. This 
blended model of working remotely or at the of-
fice	is	now	captured	in	a	policy	and	Management	
will review the situation when the risk of contract-
ing the virus is brought under control.

The	pandemic	exacerbated	the	financial	pressure	
on government funds which resulted in budget cuts 
imposed by National Treasury to government de-
partments. The situation resulted in ASSAf’s budget 
being cut by almost 11%. This necessitated Man-
agement to explore and subsequently implement 
cost cutting measures. ASSAf imposed a moratori-
um on travel, conferencing and the related hospi-
tality expenses associated with it. The implementa-
tion of the blended policy of working from home 
with	 limited	 requirements	 of	 going	 to	 the	 office,	
assisted ASSAf to consider downsizing the square 
meter	area	office	space	it	was	renting.	In	the	same	
period, a number of personnel resigned from ASSAf 
and a decision was taken, through a process of col-
lective consultation, not to replace those who have 
left but to re-allocate the duties and responsibilities 
thus ensuring that the responsibilities of those who 
had left are absorbed by the remaining staff. The 
effect of all the above-mentioned actions is that it 
drastically curtailed costs without necessarily com-
promising the Academy from achieving its objec-
tives. 

Over the years, ASSAf executed its mandate within 
the parameters of four programmes, namely: Ad-
ministration and Governance, Liaison, Science Ad-
visory and Scholarly Publishing. 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
R’000 R’000 R’000

Administration and governance 21 037 22 132 16 871
Liaison 16 974 13 906 6 927
Science Advisory 6 092 6 045  3 164
Scholarly Publishing 14 289 10 485  8 107

Over the past three years, spending under each of the programmes has been as follows:

EXECUTIVE OFFICER’s OVERVIEW
3
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For six years up to the end of March 2021, ASSAf 
hosted	the	Regional	Office	of	the	International	Sci-
ence Council for Africa called ISC ROA. Although 
the ISC ROA was not funded directly from the ASSAf 
budget, they were treated as a cost centre and all 
their spending accounted for under the Administra-
tion and Governance Programme. 

Considering	the	past	three	financial	years,	in	2018/19	
Administration and Governance Programme ac-
counted for 36%, LP accounted for 29%, SAP ac-
counted for 10% and SPP accounted for 25% of the 
total expenditure. In 2019/20 Administration and 
Governance Programme accounted for 42%, LP 
accounted for 27%, SAP accounted for 11% and 
SPP accounted for 20% of the total expenditure 
and in 2020/21, Administration and Governance 
Programme accounted for 48%, LP accounted for 
20%, SAP accounted for 9% and SPP accounted for 
23% of the total expenditure. 

When considering the spending pattern in the pre-
ceding three years, 2018/19 and 2019/20, it is evi-
dent that there is a minimal difference in spending 
except for the Liaison and Scholarly Programmes 
which showed a higher decline in spending. This 
can be attributed to the budget cuts imposed by 
National Treasury which had an impact on some 
projects within those programmes.  In addition, 
there was a decline in external funding that also 
contributed to this factor. As expected, and in line 
with the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the subsequent lockdown in response thereof, the 
2020/21	 figures	 show	 the	 impact	 that	 COVID-19	
had across all the programmes in line with the cost 
cutting measures that were implemented.   

Despite	 the	 financial	 and	 staffing	challenges,	 the	
virtual mode of operational activities has enabled 
ASSAf in hosting webinars to advance many of 
its objectives presented in this Annual Report. We 
have engaged the DSI to assist in engagements 
with the Department of Higher Education (DHET) to 
solicit additional funding to support the SciELO plat-
form, as this is more in line with issues of common 
good that falls within the mandate of the DHET. 

ASSAf has a dedicated and committed team who 
support	the	supply	chain	management	and	finan-
cial aspects of operational activities with guidance 
from an Audit and Risk Committee and we pride 
ourselves on receiving a clean audit in the previous 
year. ASSAf is fully compliant with its policies and 
procedures as well as the National Treasury supply 
chain management prescripts. The supply chain 
management processes in place are considered 
to	 be	 effective	 and	 efficient	 with	 built-in	 internal	
controls. Suppliers and service providers are sought 
from the National Treasury Central Supplier Data-
base. ASSAf will request/apply for the retention of 
surplus funds from National Treasury at an appro-
priate time and through the appropriate channels.  
The	current	financial	outlook	is	considered	reason-
able and does not necessitate any amendments.

The outbreak of COVID-19 which has impacted on 
a global scale had a negative impact on the pros-
pects of securing external funding to augment AS-
SAf’s funding base. This has resulted in ASSAf being 
mostly dependent on the parliamentary grant allo-
cation from government. It is envisaged that ASSAf 
will realise some recurring funding for the foresee-
able future but the possibility of a reduction in the 
parliamentary grant cannot be ruled out.  

The socio-economic and health challenges facing 
South Africa in the wake of the COVID-19 pandem-
ic are the new realities in South Africa. ASSAf will 
continue to make use of the diversity of expertise 
among	 its	Members	 to	work	 together	 to	find	solu-
tions	to	these	difficulties.

ASSAf	acknowledges	and	appreciates	the	financial	
support provided by government through the Minis-
try of Higher Education, Science and Technology as 
well as the support it receives from the Ministry itself.

Prof Himla Soodyall
Executive Officer 
Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf)
30 July 2021
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To	the	best	of	my	knowledge	and	belief,	I	confirm	
the following: 

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual 
report	 is	consistent	with	the	annual	financial	state-
ments audited by the external auditors.

The annual report is complete, accurate and is free 
from any omissions.

The annual report has been prepared in accor-
dance with the guidelines on the annual report as 
issued by National Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have 
been prepared in accordance with Generally Rec-
ognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and this has 
been audited.

The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation	of	the	annual	financial	statements	and	
for the judgements made in this information.  

The accounting authority is responsible for establish-
ing and implementing a system of internal control 
has been designed to provide reasonable assur-
ance as to the integrity and reliability of the perfor-
mance information, the human resources informa-
tion	and	the	annual	financial	statements.

5
sTATEMENT OF REsPONsIBILITY AND 
CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY FOR 

THE ANNUAL REPORT

The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent	opinion	on	the	annual	financial	state-
ments.

In	our	opinion,	 the	annual	 report	 fairly	 reflects	 the	
operations, the performance information, the hu-
man	resources	information	and	the	financial	affairs	
of	the	entity	for	the	financial	year	ended	31	March	
2021.

Yours faithfully 

Executive Officer
Name: Prof Himla Soodyall
30 July 2021

Chairperson of the Board
Name: Prof Jonathan Jansen
30 July 2021
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6.1 Vision

The Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf) aspires to be the apex organisation for science and 
scholarship in South Africa, recognised and connected both nationally and internationally. Through its 
Membership	which	represents	the	collective	voice	of	the	most	active	scholars	in	all	fields	of	scholarly	en-
quiry, ASSAf aims to generate evidence-based solutions to national problems.

6.2 Mission

The mission of the Academy is to:

•	 	Recognise	 scholarly	achievement	and	excellence	 in	 the	application	of	 scientific	 thinking	 for	 the	
benefit	of	society.

•	  Mobilise Members to ensure that they are available to contribute their expertise in the service of 
society.

•	  Conduct systematic and evidence-based studies on issues of national importance, producing au-
thoritative	reports	that	have	significant	impact	on	policymaking.

•	  Promote the development of an indigenous system of South African research publications, increas-
ing their quality, visibility, accessibility and impact.

•	  Publish science-focused periodicals that will showcase the best of southern African research to a 
wide national and international audience.

•	  Develop productive partnerships with national, regional and international organisations with a view 
to building our capacity in science and its application within the National System of Innovation (NSI).

•	 Create	diversified	sources	of	funding	for	sustainable	functioning	and	growth	of	a	national	academy.
•	 Communicate effectively with relevant stakeholders through various media and fora.

6.3 Values

ASSAf’s strength resides in the quality and diversity of its Membership; internationally renowned scholars 
elected by their peers, who give of their time voluntarily in the service of society. The Membership could be 
regarded as the ‘brains trust’ of the nation. ASSAf is able to use its Membership as a collective resource for 
evidence-based solutions to national problems. Through the well-recognised convening power of acad-
emies,	ASSAf	is	able	to	mobilise	the	best	scientific	minds	from	across	the	nation,	as	well	as	internationally,	
to	provide	authoritative	advice	 to	government	and	other	 stakeholders	based	on	 scientifically	 rigorous	
analysis of evidence and consensus of diverse experts. As such, ASSAf is an independent, non-biased and 
credible	source	of	scientific	advice.	The	diversity	of	its	Membership,	embracing	the	full	disciplinary	spec-
trum, enables ASSAf to focus on issues of a multi-disciplinary, multi-sectoral nature and to bring the strengths 
of a fully inclusive approach to bear on the issues of national and international concern.

ASSAf fully embraces the principles espoused in the Constitution of South Africa.

sTRATEGIC OVERVIEW
6
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LEGIsLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATEs
7

The Academy of Science of South Africa Act 
(No 67 of 2001)

This Act establishes the Academy of Science 
of South Africa (ASSAf), which provides evi-
dence-based	scientific	advice	on	issues	of	public	
interest to government and other stakeholders. 
ASSAf	regularly	publishes	its	findings	and	recom-
mendations. It acknowledges the achievements 
of South African scientists in order to develop the 
intellectual capacity of the nation and promote 
innovative, scholarly thinking.

Science and Technology Laws Amendment Acts 
(No 16 of 2011 and No 7 of 2014)

The purpose of the Acts was to amend the Acts 
of various science entities, including ASSAf, to 
harmonise processes relating to membership of 
boards.

Science and Technology Laws Amendment 
Act, 2020 (No. 9 of 2020)

To provide for the repeal of sections dealing with 
matters that are contained in the Public Finance 
Management Act, 1999. Section 2 of the Acad-
emy of Science of South Africa Act, 2001, was 
amended by the deletion of subsection (2): 
(2) The Academy must comply with the provisions 
of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 
(Act. No. 1 of 1999).

Additional policies that are taken into account 
when identifying strategic priorities of ASSAf are:

•	  Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) 
 (No 1 of 1999).
•	  National priorities outlined in the Medium-Term 

Strategic Framework (MTSF).
•	  Ten-Year Innovation Plan for Science and 

Technology (2008 – 2018).
•	 New Growth Path (2010).
•	 National Skills Development Strategy (2011).
•	 National Development Plan (NDP) (2012).
•	  White Paper on Science, Technology and 
 Innovation (2019).
•	  Decadal Plan on Science, Technology and 
 Innovation.
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ORGANIsATIONAL sTRUCTURE
8
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PART B PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION

1. AUDITOR’S REPORT: PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

The entity is not required to prepare a report on its performance against predetermined objectives as it 
does	not	fall	within	the	ambit	of	PFMA	and	such	reporting	is	also	not	required	in	terms	of	the	entity’s	specific	
regulations.

2. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

2.1 Service Delivery Environment

ASSAf	 is	 the	official	 national	 science	academy	of	 South	Africa,	established	by	an	Act	of	 Parliament	
(No 67 of 2001), as amended, and represents South Africa in the international community of science 
academies. It was formed in response to the need for an academy of science congruent with the 
dawn	of	democracy	in	South	Africa	-	activist	in	its	mission	of	using	science	for	the	benefit	of	society.	The	
Parliament of South Africa passed the Academy of Science of South Africa Act (Act 67 of 2001), as 
amended, which came into operation in May 2002. 

ASSAf	activities	encompasses	all	fields	of	scientific	enquiry	and	it	includes	the	full	diversity	of	South	Africa’s	
distinguished scientists. ASSAf has a dual role – to honour distinguished scholars through election to Mem-
bership of the Academy, and to provide science advice to government and other stakeholders on critical 
national and global issues. 

ASSAf’s science advisory role in support of policy development is informed by key national challenges, 
particularly those outlined in the National Development Plan (NDP) and is executed in both a responsive 
and proactive manner. ASSAf strives to address cross-cutting and complex issues that suit the convening 
strength and niche of an Academy. The Academy’s strength lies in undertaking in-depth, evidence-based 
studies (Table 1) and seeks to implement projects in collaboration with other science academies in Africa 
and abroad, in its efforts to be responsive to the ever-changing regional and global environment.

The key universal elements of the Academy’s advice are that it is:

•	 Authoritative
•	 Independent
•	 Objective
•	 Free	of	vested	interests
•	 Trusted
•	 Based	on	volunteer	contributions
•	 Based	on	rigorous	analysis	of	evidence	and	peer	review
•	 Transparent		
•	 Multidisciplinary	and	able	to	address	complex	issues	that	transcend	disciplinary	boundaries

Partnerships	with	organisations	hosted	by	ASSAf	–	International	Science	Council	Regional	Office	for	Afri-
ca (ISC ROA), The World Academy of Science South African Representative (TWAS SAREP), GenderInSITE 
and South African Young Academy of Science (SAYAS) promote the strategic goals of the Academy. In 
addition, ASSAf engages in strong partnerships with the Department of Science and Innovation (DSI), the 
National Research Foundation (NRF), the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET), the South 
African Medical Research Council (SAMRC), the Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC) as well as oth-
er national stakeholders. 

ASSAf engages internationally with global science academies as a member of the InterAcademy Part-
nership (IAP), the Network of African Science Academies (NASAC), and Brazil, Russia, India, China, South 
Africa (BRICS) Academies.



 24  ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  

ASSAf continues to act as secretariat to the Committee of Heads of Organisations for Research and Tech-
nology (COHORT).

ASSAf submits all governance-related reports to the DSI, Department of Public Monitoring and Evaluation 
(DPME), Treasury and Parliament to meet its compliance obligations. 

2.2 Alignment with Government Policies

ASSAf is committed to the outcomes approach as developed by government. Collectively, ASSAf’s activ-
ities contribute towards addressing impact indicators and achieving outputs and targets associated with 
the 14 outcomes outlined in the government’s Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF) (2015 - 2020) that 
have been linked to objectives set in the NDP, with a strong focus to the triple challenges of unemploy-
ment, poverty and inequality. 

The recently published White Paper on Science, Technology and Innovation (2019) provides a framework 
around which many of ASSAf’s activities are closely aligned.

For	ASSAf	to	fulfil	 its	science	advisory	role	regarding	key	challenges	facing	the	nation,	evidence-based	
studies contribute to consensus studies undertaken by Members on a volunteer basis, as well as by invited 
local and regional experts. In addition, ASSAf Members volunteer their service on committees and panels, 
both locally and internationally. All activities help to strengthen strategic partnerships within South Africa, 
regionally in Africa and with international partners to enhance the government’s global footprint.
 
2.3 Organisational environment

ASSAf is a Membership-based organisation that is governed by a Council and supported by the secretar-
iat.	At	the	end	of	the	financial	period,	the	ASSAf	Membership	comprised	594	professionals	who	are	repre-
sented by the Council and supported by the Secretariat.

The	2020/21	financial	year	piloted	the	new	five-year	Strategic	Plan	for	the	2020/21	-	2024/25	cycle	that	
proposes	to	profile	and	improve	on	the	ASSAf	brand	within	the	NSI	landscape	by	re-focusing	its	strategic	
objectives	on	outcomes,	outputs	and	services	which	 include,	 (1)	 Independent,	authoritative	and	 influ-
ential	scientific	advice,	(2)	Science	engagement,	(3)	Mobilising	knowledge,	(4)	Facilitating	partnerships,	
(5) Scholarship support, and (6) Supporting transformation. The activities within each of these new-look 
outcomes are intended to be more focussed, collaborative, effective, and transdisciplinary, and support-
ed by staff with the most appropriate expertise and skills. These activities are carried out by the Science 
Advisory Programme (SAP), Liaison Programme (LP) and Scholarly Publishing Programme (SPP). Operations 
and resources are organised and conducted by the Governance and Administration Programme, which 
involves	administrative,	financial,	human	resources,	and	information	technology	services,	while	ensuring	
support to Council.

The Governance and Administration Programme is	central	to	the	efficient	functioning	of	the	Academy,	
providing	essential,	cross-cutting	administrative	and	financial	support	to	the	Council	and	the	secretariat,	
contributing	to	ASSAf’s	efficiency.	The	programme	is	also	responsible	for	all	 reporting	requirements	and	
compliance matters and implementing the monitoring and evaluation (M&E) component. The overall stra-
tegic objective is to ensure good governance of the Academy through the ASSAf Council. This includes 
execution	of	Council	elections,	support	of	Council	meetings	and	committees,	efficient	and	effective	ex-
ecution	of	Council	 resolutions	and	efficient	and	effective	financial	and	human	resource	management	
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activities. As a result of strategic reengineering within the organisation, a position for a Governance Coor-
dinator was developed. This position is responsible for all governance related reporting as well as member 
liaison which includes all aspects pertaining to Academy Member elections, networking and communi-
cating with Members. The Governance Coordinator is ultimately responsible for coordinating the Acad-
emy’s governance and compliance related matters. This programme also aims to provide effective and 
targeted communication with ASSAf stakeholders to support the vision and mission of the Academy to be 
the apex organisation of science and scholarship in South Africa.

The SPP is regarded as a major intervention into the NSI in South Africa and makes a direct and major con-
tribution to the promotion of innovation and scholarly activity. The strategic goal of the SPP is to enhance 
the national capacity to produce and publish research, on the one hand, and to increase the quality and 
visibility of South African research publications, on the other. The SPP’s numerous activities are coordinated 
to achieve this goal. This programme is responsible for advancing ASSAf’s open science agenda, coordi-
nating science engagement activities within ASSAf and is also responsible for the production and dissem-
ination	of	the	Academy’s	flagship	journal,	the	South African Journal of Science (SAJS) and the science 
magazine, Quest: Science for South Africa. Through its various activities, the SPP promotes and advances 
all six outcomes with the desired targets (Table 2) with a stronger focus on Mobilising knowledge (Outcome 
3), Science engagement (Outcome 2), and Facilitating Partnerships (Outcome 4).

The LP is structured into several sub-programmes, each of which is designed to establish and strengthen 
partnerships and engagement with key stakeholders and organisations. The overall purpose is to promote 
and recognise excellence and scholarly achievement; strengthening and enhancing international scien-
tific	 linkages;	and	advancing	engagement	with	key	policymakers	 in	government,	 including	Parliament	
and	 relevant	national	 scientific	organisations.	 The	 internal	 structure	of	 the	programme	 is	as	 follows:	 (1)	
Member Liaison, which includes all aspects pertaining to Academy Member elections, networking and 
communicating with Members; (2) National Liaison, which is divided into strategic partnerships; scholarly 
lectures; prizes and awards; and engagement with the business sector; (3) International Liaison, which is 
divided into strategic partnerships; African collaboration; and overseas collaboration; (4) Young Scien-
tists’ Liaison; and (5) Promotion of women and gender in science. Given these activities, the LP strongly 
advocates for partnerships (Outcome 4), enhances the visibility of ASSAf through hosting of lectures and 
workshops on topical issues (Science engagement: Outcome 2) and supports scholarship and the transfor-
mation agenda among the senior ASSAf Members and the SAYAS (Outcomes 5 and 6).

The SAP enables	ASSAf	 to	 fulfil	 its	 science	advisory	 role	 regarding	key	challenges	 facing	 the	nation	by	
undertaking targeted evidence-based studies. The studies fall into broad categories related to health, 
education, climate change, energy, the science-policy nexus, humanities, and biosafety and biosecurity. 
Studies are selected both proactively and reactively, primarily to respond to national priorities, to suit the 
niche of the Academy, and to utilise the expertise residing in the Academy’s Members. ASSAf’s various 
Standing Committees play a major role in recommending studies to be undertaken and in supporting 
membership to national, regional and global committees. All in-depth consensus studies are approved 
by the ASSAf Council. As in the past year, there will be a continued focus on the dissemination of Acade-
my reports through stakeholder engagement to ensure improved uptake of recommendations. Activities 
within	the	SAP	have	contributed	primarily	towards	advancing	Independent,	authoritative	and	influential	
scientific	advice	(Outcome	1)	and	the	publications	and	outreach	around	these	activities	contributed	in	
Mobilising knowledge (Outcome 3) and Science Engagement (Outcome 2), respectively.

A summary of the indicators, outputs, performance indicators and targets are presented in Table 2.
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2.4 Strategic Outcome Orientated Goals

Overarching goals of ASSAf are as follows:

Recognition and reward of excellence

Promotion of innovation and scholarly activity

Promotion of effective, evidence-based scientific advice

Promotion of public interest in and awareness of 
science and science eduction

Promotion of national, regional and international linkages

The broad goals of government, applicable within the context of ASSAf activities, are as follows:

Responsive, coordinated and efficient NSI

Increased knowledge generation

Human capital development

Using knowledge for economic development

Knowledge utilisation for inclusive development
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3.  PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY STRATEGIC OUTCOME-ORIENTATED GOALS 

3.1 GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

The overall strategic objective is to ensure good governance of the Academy through the ASSAf Council. 
This	includes	execution	of	Council	elections,	support	of	Council	meetings	and	committees,	efficient	and	
effective	execution	of	Council	resolutions	and	efficient	and	effective	financial	and	human	resource	man-
agement activities. More details for this programme are provided in Part C of this report.

Council Elections

Council elections were executed for the 2020 to 2024 cycle in terms of Regulation 13. Four new members 
were elected to replace members whose terms had come to an end and who were not legible to serve 
another term. The four new members are (alphabetically): Prof Irvy (Igle) Gledhill, Prof Evance Kalula, Prof 
Julian May and Prof Christian Pirk. Newly appointed Council advisors in terms of Regulation 8 are: Prof 
Thokozani Majozi, Prof Letlhokwa George Mpedi and Prof Stella Nkomo. More details are provided in Part 
C of this report.

Annual General Meeting

Held	virtually	 for	the	first	 time,	the	2020	Annual	General	Meeting	(AGM)	was	held	on	14	October	2020.	
Council	reported	back	to	the	ASSAf	Members	on	its	annual	activities,	strategies	and	annual	financial	state-
ments and audits. 

The business part of the AGM was followed by the AGM keynote lecture. Given the role that Prof Shabir 
Madhi has played with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic, he was invited to give this year’s AGM key-
note lecture. His talk was titled, The changing course of the COVID-19 pandemic in South Africa - hope or 
despair? He discussed his views on the pandemic and where the country stands with respect to a vaccine 
and some of the public debates around these issues.

Annual ASSAf Awards Ceremony

Also	held	virtually	 for	 the	first	 time,	 the	2020	ASSAf	Awards	Ceremony	 took	place	on	14	October	2020.	
During the ASSAf Awards Ceremony new ASSAf and SAYAS members were inaugurated and the winners 
of the ASSAf Science-for-Society Gold Medal awards were awarded to Prof Tshilidzi Marwala and Prof Leila 
Patel, both from the University of Johannesburg (UJ).

ASSAf was honoured to have Dr Judy Dlamini, Chancellor of the University of the Witwatersrand (Wits) as 
the guest speaker at this year’s ceremony. 

3.2 COMMUNICATION

The main purpose of this sub-programme is to provide effective and targeted communication with ASSAf 
stakeholders to support the vision of the Academy to be the apex organisation of science and scholarship 
in South Africa and to increase the visibility and standing of ASSAf. It aims to build the ASSAf brand and to 
communicate the achievements of ASSAf and its Members to ASSAf stakeholders. ASSAf stakeholders in-
clude Members, representatives of government and science councils, universities, sponsors and the public.

The sub-programme ensured visibility of ASSAf and its activities in the media through the issue of 23 media 
releases. The print, online and broadcast media are monitored regularly to determine uptake and impact 
of Academy activities. The Advertising Value Equivalent (AVE) summary for ASSAf news generated some 
R46	244	269,00.	AVE	is	a	measure	used	to	calculate	the	rand	value	benefit	to	ASSAf	from	media	coverage.

The sub-programme is also responsible for the ASSAf website, the quarterly ASSAf e-newsletters and the 
production of reports. Four Science-for-Society e-newsletters were distributed, reaching some 55 000 recip-
ients per edition.
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The sub-programme undertook the production of 15 publications (Table 1), of which one was a consensus 
study. ASSAf continued with its e-publication strategy for study reports, considerably reducing production 
and printing cost of ASSAf’s various reports. 

Various online platforms were supported. The ASSAf website had 38 356 sessions over the period under 
review, with 73 331 page views. A total of 366 posts was loaded.

The ASSAf Facebook account had 2 332 followers at the end of March 2021. Over the period under review 
the page received 2 239 Likes. ASSAf has grown its Twitter follower audience from 6 816 on 31 March 2020 
to 8 327 followers on 1 April 2021. 

3.3  IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 2020/21 ANNUAL PERFORMANCE PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
2020/21 – 2024/25 STRATEGIC PLAN

ASSAf operationalised its activities around six strategic objectives that are outcome and output driven. The 
activities within each of these outcomes are more focussed, collaborative, effective, and transdisciplinary, 
and supported by staff with the most appropriate expertise and skills.

All ASSAf publications during the reporting period are presented in Table 1, and a summary of activities 
pertaining to special public lectures, meetings, conferences, workshops, science engagement, strategic 
partnerships, and women and gender in science for all programmes (hosted or showing participation), are 
provided in Annexure A. 

3.3.1 OUTCOME 1: Independent, Authoritative, and Influential Scientific Advice

Objective: To conduct effective evidence-based multidisciplinary science to inform policy and practice 
for the betterment of society.

Standing Committees and other committees’ activities

ASSAf has six Standing Committees: Health; Scholarly Publishing in South Africa; Science, Technology, En-
gineering and Mathematics (STEM) Education; Humanities; Biosafety and Biosecurity; and Science for the 
Reduction of Poverty and Inequality (SCSfRPI). Each of these committees provides strategic direction to 
ASSAf’s	science	advisory	activities	and	assists	with	the	identification	of	Members	who	represent	ASSAf	in	
various committees nationally, regionally and internationally.

The activities and achievements of the Standing Committees and other committees are summarised be-
low.

Standing Committee on Health

The	terms	of	office	of	Prof	Steve	Reid,	Prof	Linda	Richter	and	Prof	Solomon	Rataemane	came	to	an	end	
and Prof Shabir Madhi who had been acting as Interim Chair for the Committee stepped down from the 
position. The following eight new members have been appointed to the Committee:

Prof John Ataguba (UCT)
Prof Minrie Greeff (NWU) 
Dr Elizabeth Lutge KwaZulu-Natal Department of Health
Prof Neil McKerrow KwaZulu-Natal Department of Health/(UCT)
Prof Mosa Moshabela (UKZN)
Prof Shane Norris (Wits)
Prof Heidi van Rooyen (HSRC)
Dr Caradee Wright (SAMRC)  

Prof Mosa Moshabela was elected as the new Chairperson of the Committee and Prof Lekan Ayo-Yusuf, 
Sefako Makgatho Health Sciences University, as the Deputy-Chair. 

Two committee members, Prof Karen Hofman and Prof Heidi van Rooyen represented ASSAf at the UK 
Academy of Medical Sciences hosted workshop on Addressing the challenge of the COVID-19 pandemic 
in Low-and Middle-Income Countries in June 2020. Prof van Rooyen chaired the socio-behavioural re-
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sponse group during this workshop. In addition, ASSAf Members, Profs Julian May and Priscilla Reddy par-
ticipated as panellists in the same group and Profs Quarraisha Abdool Karim and Michael Pepper partici-
pated as panellists in the public health and clinical response group, respectively.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Committee released a statement on The Unanticipated Costs 
of COVID-19 on South Africa’s Quadruple Disease Burden on 2 July and later in the same month, a sub-
group of Committee members met where the short-term, medium-term, and longer-term plans (in view 
of COVID-19) for the Committee were proposed and agreed upon. Initiatives, activities, and studies to be 
potentially	undertaken	by	ASSAf	were	solicited	from	members	and	following	discussions,	five	of	the	nine	
projects were endorsed as important to pursue.

The Committee provided input and endorsement of the Brazil Academy initiated statement titled Health 
Inequity during the Pandemic: A Cry for Ethical Global Leadership as well as for the IAP statement focusing 
on Regenerative Medicine. It also provided inputs for the S20 statement, entitled Pandemic Preparedness: 
The Role of Science, developed with the support of the academies of sciences with a focus on the role of 
science in pandemics.

Humanities Standing Committee

In collaboration with the DHET’s Future Professors Programme (Phase 1), the Humanities Standing Commit-
tee hosted a panel discussion titled COVID-19 Research, the Disciplines and their Methodologies, a medi-
ated conversation between scholars from disparate disciplines involved in aspects of COVID-19 research. 
The focus of the conversation was on the approaches and methodologies of various disciplines and how 
greater	fluency	in	inter-disciplinary	research	could	be	fostered	especially	at	a	time	when	the	demands	of	
COVID-19 add elements of time pressure to research.

Meetings were held during the year to plan and discuss the Humanities Book Award process and the Annu-
al Humanities Lecture. Ms Angela Saini, a British science journalist was invited to deliver the annual lecture 
on Race Science. Prof Charles van Onselen was awarded the Humanities Book Award for his book entitled 
The Night Trains: Moving Mozambican Miners to and from South Africa, circa 1902-1955.

Standing Committee on Biosafety and Biosecurity

The	terms	of	office	of	Committee	members,	Dr	Chandré	Gould	(Institute	for	Security	Studies)	and	Dr	Rachel	
Chikwamba (CSIR) came to an end and Dr Nosiphiwe Ngqwala, Rhodes University (RU) stepped down.

Ten new members, who bring a diverse range of expertise, were recently welcomed to this Standing Com-
mittee: Dr Aijaz Ahmad,  Wits/National Health Laboratory Services, Prof Collet Dandara, University of Cape 
Town (UCT), Prof Ames Dhai, Wits, Prof Adeyemi Aremu, North-West University (NWU), Prof Rose Hayeshi, 
NWU, Prof Alan Christoffels, University of the Western Cape (UWC)/South African National Bioinformatics 
Institute,	Prof	Virna	Leaner,	UCT,	Prof	Brenda	Wingfield,	University	of	Pretoria	(UP),	Prof	Sharon	Prince,	UCT,	
and Prof Andre Pascal Kengne, SAMRC.

Committee member, Prof Pamela Andanda contributed inputs on the Nuclear Threat Initiative report titled 
Biosecurity Innovation and Risk Reduction: A Global Framework for Accessible, Safe and Secure DNA Syn-
thesis. The authors of the commissioned article on gene drives technology continued revising the article. 
Committee members provided inputs on the statement on The Unanticipated Costs of COVID-19 on South 
Africa’s Quadruple Disease Burden released by the Standing Committee on Health.

A sub-group of the Committee met during October 2020 with deliberations mainly focused on the US Na-
tional	Institute	of	Health	(NIH)	Grant	Call	specifically	on	Ethical,	Legal,	and	Social	Implications	Research	
(ELSI) projects. The advantages and disadvantages of ASSAf applying for such a grant were discussed and 
it was ultimately agreed that at this time the Academy should not apply. As a way forward several alter-
native suggestions were made including - amongst others - forming a core group that could review and 
consider potential funding opportunities to advise ASSAf so that the Academy could respond effectively. 
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Standing Committee on Science for the reduction of poverty and inequality (SCSfRPI) 

The Committee met twice during the reporting period. 

The policymakers’ booklet on integrating the issues on poverty, inequality and climate change has been 
repurposed to be a guide to local governance structures on how to better prepare for disasters/crises and 
to manage such in an integrated way thereby not exacerbating other disasters/crises. The policy brief was 
shared with the South African Local Government Association (SALGA), the Cities Support Programme (De-
partment of National Treasury) and the Department of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs 
(CoGTA) to obtain feedback on the relevance of the document and input to improve the potential for 
impact. Discussions evolved into a proposed dialogue between SALGA and ASSAf around the potential 
for partnership. A meeting was held subsequently held on 31 March 2021 and included key members 
from SALGA and ASSAf, as well as a member of the SCSfRPI, Prof Philip Harrison. The discussions aimed to 
discover more about the mandates, challenges and strengths of each party, and to determine a way of 
developing a permanent working partnership. The discussions were focussed around managing multiple 
forms of crisis which local government (i.e. municipalities) were at the forefront, particularly now in the cur-
rent crisis of the pandemic, which the ASSAf booklet underpinned.

A	meeting	was	specifically	convened	to	initiate	the	planning	of	a	COVID-19	webinar	series	on	how	to	re-
duce poverty in South Africa. The meeting included representatives of the primary partnering institutions, 
all members of the ASSAf Standing Committee on the Science for the Reduction of Poverty and Inequality. 
The	purpose	of	the	webinar	series	was	defined;	planning	teams	were	identified;	and	a	concept	note	was	
conceptualised.

ASSAf Standing Committees meet on COVID-19 pandemic activities 

The Standing Committees of ASSAf convened during June 2020 to discuss and consider an Academy re-
sponse to and possible activities on the COVID-19 pandemic. During a COVID-19 focussed meeting of the 
SCSfRPI in May, the members had discussed what would be considered appropriate activities or initiatives 
by the Academy. There was debate on a number of possible activities, one of which was the need for the 
integration	of	disciplines	and	fields	of	expertise	in	formulating	interventions	and	responses.	It	was	agreed	
that response from the Academy should be a holistic activity and include bringing together the various 
committees that provide guidance and strategic direction to the Academy. 

On 18 November 2020, some members of the Standing Committee on Health, the Standing Committee 
on Biosafety and Biosecurity and ASSAf Council met. The meeting centered around revisiting and revising 
the ASSAf study proposal on One Health and Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) in South Africa, especially 
in light of COVID-19. This small Task Team also discussed other potential initiatives that fall under the One 
Health umbrella such as the interaction between human health, the retail economy, agriculture, and the 
environment. Meeting participants agreed that the proposed study on One Health and AMR in South Af-
rica was an important multi-disciplinary initiative. As a way forward it was agreed that engagements with 
all key stakeholders was an important initial step in revising the study proposal.

Committee for Scholarly Publishing in South Africa (CSPiSA)

Other disciplines

A	new	panel	of	 the	Other	Disciplines	 journals	was	officially	appointed	and	had	an	 inaugural	meeting	
during October 2020. Prof Robin Crewe, Chair of the Committee for Scholarly Publishing in South Afri-
ca (CSPiSA), chaired the orientation meeting. Prof Peter Nyasulu Stellenbosch University (SU) and 
Prof Sarojini Nadar (UWC) were appointed as Chair and Vice-Chair respectively for the panel and 
conveners were appointed for each sub-group within the disciplinary groupings. The sub-groups include: 
Geography	and	Population,	Gender,	Health,	Social	Sciences,	Humanities,	Law	and	Other	fields.	The	sub-
groups were tasked with providing names of potential reviewers for the journals. Each group will produce 
a consolidated list of reviewers. 

Ad Hoc peer review panel

The DHET requested ASSAf’s assistance in constituting a Peer Review Panel to evaluate the new and re-ap-
plications of journals for DHET accreditation. A panel of 13 expert scholars were selected from the ASSAf 
Membership, SAYAS and the National Research Foundation databases. There were 13 journals under re-
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view	from	various	fields	of	Economics	and	Public	Administration,	Education,	Health,	Humanities,	Law	and	
Politics. The panel met during November 2020 and reports from the meeting were submitted to the DHET.

Protection of Personal Information Act (POPIA) Steering Committee

ASSAf is facilitating the process to develop a Code of Conduct for Research, having hosted two stake-
holder events that were attended by scientists and researchers from diverse disciplinary backgrounds, 
such as genomics, biobanking, ethics, and law. A Steering Committee has been established to oversee 
the process of developing a Code of Conduct under POPIA for research, as well as a Drafting Committee 
who will draft the document.

The Steering Committee has met to discuss the development of the POPIA Code of Conduct and also to 
provide guidance to the Drafting Committee.

Steering Committee Members

Name Affiliation Areas of expertise

Prof Michèle Ramsay - Chair Wits Human Genetics

Prof Ahmed Bawa                  USAf Physics

Prof Alan Christoffels UWC Bioinformatics and Health Genomics

Prof Jantina de Vries UCT Bioethics

Prof Monique Marks DUT Social Sciences

Dr Mongezi Mdhluli MRC MRC representative

Dr Mapitso Molefe CSIR CSIR representative

Dr Tshilidzi Muthivhi DoH Department of Health representative

Prof Caroline Ncube UCT Commercial Law

Prof Jerome Singh UKZN Ethics and Law

POPIA Drafting Committee Meetings

The Drafting Committee has met frequently to discuss and plan the development of the POPIA Code of 
Conduct for research.

Drafting Committee Group Members

Name Affiliation Areas of expertise

Dr Rachel Adams – Chair HSRC Human Rights Law

Dr Fola Adeleke Wits Law

Dr Dominique Anderson UWC Bioinformatics

Dr Nicola Branson UCT Social Sciences

Dr Harriet Etheredge Wits Bioethics

Ms Eleni Flack-Davison Wits Legal Advisor

Prof	Safia	Mohammed Unisa Law

Dr Antonel Olckers DNABiotec Human Genetics

Prof Maria Papathanasopoulos Wits HIV Pathogenesis Research

Ms Jane Pillay NHLS Immunology

Prof Tobias Schonwetter UCT Intellectual Property

Dr Carmen Swanepoel SU/NHLS Medical Biochemistry
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Steering Committee for the ASSAf Forum on Just Transition

In January 2021, the ASSAf Council endorsed the proposal for a new ASSAf Forum on Just Transition in South 
Africa (that is, a transition away from a coal-dominated energy economy and to a lower-emissions devel-
opment pathway leaving no one behind). The Forum is to bring together thought leaders and scientists 
to educate and engage one another in robust discussions. The Forum will provide a neutral, though not 
value-free, space for engagement by the Academy with labour, communities, business and government 
across all tiers. The concept was initiated by an introductory meeting of potential members of steering 
committee on 22 February 2021.

The Committee of seven members, chaired by Prof Harald Winkler, UCT, is tasked with identifying members 
of the broader Forum to ensure balanced participation (among 20 - 30 members) and to develop a num-
ber of founding questions and issues which the Forum is to debate.  

Consensus studies

ASSAf completed and launched a consensus study entitled Provider Core Competencies for Improved 
Mental Health Care of the Nation. This report is a comprehensive document reviewing current training 
programmes for various cadres of service providers who provide (or could provide) care for people with 
mental, neurological and substance use (MNS) disorders in South Africa. The review used national mental 
health and disability policies to develop a vision of contextually appropriate services using a task-shifting 
disability-inclusive	approach	as	a	framework	for	the	review.	The	study	was	financially	supported	through	
generous funds from Janssen Pharmaceutica.

The following consensus studies have not reached conclusion yet with a few activities outstanding as re-
ported below:

Energy and Climate Studies

Evaluation of Alternative Telecommunication Technologies for the Karoo Central Astronomy Advantage 
Area

A last engagement was held on 14 October 2020 with members of the Landbou Aksie (LAG) to present to 
them the technology solutions for telecommunications the panel had converged upon and for the farm-
ers	in	the	study	area	to	gain	an	understanding	of	the	benefits	and	impacts	of	the	proposed	technologies.	
Following a presentation on the draft report to the South African Radio Astronomy Observatory (the client) 
on 29 October 2020, all review feedback was addressed, and the report was approved by the ASSAf 
Council during March 2021. The report has been submitted for formal copy-editing.

Second Biennial Report on the State of Climate Change Science and Technology in South Africa

The	report	has	been	printed	and	the	official	launch	and	dissemination	thereof	is	pending	approval	from	
the DSI. 

The Shale Gas Industry in South Africa: Toward a Science Action Plan

The Department of Mineral Resources and Energy (DMRE), as the department overseeing the develop-
ment of the shale gas industry in South Africa, has indicated its support of the Science Action Plan (SAP) 
drafted by ASSAf. The SAP has been submitted for formal copy-editing. 

Health Studies

Root Causes of Low Coverage and Under-Immunisation of the African Child

The	finalised	draft	report	was	submitted	to	the	reviewers	on	31	March	2021	for	the	peer-review	process.	

Challenges of Good Governance and Management in the South African Health System

The panel of this consensus study met during October 2020. Given that the panel was not representative, 
the names of additional panel members were submitted to the ASSAf Council for approval. The ASSAf 
council has subsequently approved the addition of new members to serve on the study panel.
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Ethical, Legal and Social Issues related to Gene Therapy: A South African Perspective

The panel acknowledged that COVID-19 had implicated the targets and timelines of the study. Clear 
deadlines have been set and tasks have been allocated to ensure that the study is completed by the end 
of 2021.

Biosafety and Biosecurity Studies

The State of Laboratory Biosafety and Biosecurity in the SADC region

Dr Livio Heath from the Agricultural Research Council (ARC) is the new Chairperson for this SADC re-
gion-wide consensus study. Dr Heath comes with vast experience in disease outbreaks which will be valu-
able for both the study and in terms of a COVID-19 additional focus. Prof Iqbal Parker had been acting as 
Interim Chair for the consensus study since its inception in June 2019 and has stepped down. Prof Parker’s 
contributions and guidance have been invaluable for the study.

The 10-member multi-country panel convened on 24 November 2020 where they discussed the data 
collection process from the SADC Member States. These discussions included the possible addition of 
COVID-19	related	study	objectives	as	it	falls	within	the	field	of	the	study	(i.e.	disease	outbreaks).

Grouped Peer Review of Scholarly Journals

Education

The Report on Grouped Peer Review of Scholarly Journals in Education was released by ASSAf in June 
2020. The report is aimed at improving the quality of the journals in our higher education system, thereby 
influencing	the	standard	of	research	conducted	in	the	respective	fields.	It	is	in	the	interests	of	our	higher	
education system and society in general that the quality of research conducted in the system should be 
continuously improved.

The peer review of journals in the Education disciplinary group included 17 journals, each represented by 
three volumes covering the period from 2015 to 2017 with some information updated for 2018. A total of 53 
senior researchers from across the country conducted the reviews.

History, Philosophy, and Politics

The completed History, Philosophy and Politics report has been approved by the ASSAf Council and will be 
published in the next reporting period.

Mathematics and Science

The version two draft reports of the journals being evaluated in the Maths and Science discipline group 
have been submitted to the journal editors for comment and correction of factual errors and/or inclusion 
of information. The reports are being revised with updated information.

Economics and Business Management

The version two draft reports of the journals being evaluated in the Economics and Business Management 
group have been submitted to the journal editors for comment and correction of factual errors and/or 
inclusion of information. The reports are being revised with updated information.

Proceedings and other reports

The Academy published the following proceedings reports (Table 1):

•	  The 10th Annual Young Scientists’ Conference: Migration, Displacement and Mobility in Africa: Com-
plex Issues in Current Times

•	  Social, Psychological and Health Impact of Coronavirus Disease (Covid-19) on the Elderly: South Afri-
can and Italian Perspectives
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•	  Neonicotinoids and Their Impact on Ecosystem Services for Agriculture and Biodiversity in Africa: A 
Review and Recommendations to Policymakers

•	 The Hidden Crisis: Mental Health in Times of COVID-19

•	 Building Profitable and Sustainable Community Owned Connectivity Networks

SAYAS published two articles as an output of a webinar that was held on 29 September 2020 on the Dis-
semination of Policy Briefs on Non-Pharmaceutical Interventions on COVID-19 by SADC National Young 
Academies of Science. The	first	article,	published	via	the	International	Network	for	Government	Science	
Advice (INGSA) website, is titled COVID-19 Non-pharmaceutical Interventions in the SADC Region: Collab-
orative Engagement on Policy Briefs. The second article is titled COVID-19 policy briefs must be realistic: 
a review by young southern African scientists and was published via The Conversation. Both articles were 
written by SAYAS members, Profs Pradeep Kumar, Puleng Segalo, and Adeyemi O. Aremu.

Statements

The following statements were published by ASSAf (Table 1):

•	 ASSAf Public Statement on the Coronavirus (18 May 2020)

•	 Academic freedom and the values of science (25 May 2020)

•	  SAJS Statement: Why are Black students less likely to consider studying biological sciences (11 June 
2020)

•	 ASSAf Statement in response to the article by Prof Nicoli Nattrass (9 June 2020)

•	  ASSAf Standing Committee on Health: The Unanticipated Costs of COVID-19 on South Africa’s Qua-
druple Disease Burden (2 July 2020)

During the reporting period, the Academy was also one of 18 academies that issued the Commonwealth 
academies Statement on climate change, biodiversity and sustainable energy (6 June 2020) that under-
pinned the importance of global cooperation and effective policy for tackling the virus and for ensuring a 
successful economic recovery.
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Table 1: Summary of ASSAf publications hosted on the ASSAf repository/website

Date Statements
(click on Title to access document)

18 May 2020 ASSAf Public Statement Coronavirus 

25 May 2020 Academic freedom and the values of science

6 June 2020 Commonwealth academies statement on climate change, biodiversity and 
sustainable energy

9 June 2020 ASSAf statement on Nattrass article

11 June 2020 ‘Why are black South African students less likely to consider studying 
biological sciences?’

 2 July 2020 The unanticipated costs of COVID-19 to South Africa’s quadruple disease 
burden

Date Scholarly/Peer Review Reports

June 2020 Peer Review of Scholarly Journals in Education

Date Consensus Studies

March 2021 Provider Core Competencies for Improved Mental Health Care of the Nation

Date Books and Booklets

April 2020 Legends of South African Science II 

March 2021 Lindau Nobel Laureate Meetings - South Africa’s Alumni Narratives

Date Proceedings Reports

May 2020 Annual Young Scientist Conference 2019: Migration, Displacement and 
Mobility in Africa: Complex Issues in Current Times

September 2020 Social, Psychological and Health Impact of Coronavirus Disease (Covid-19) 
on the Elderly: South African and Italian Perspectives

January 2021 Building	Profitable	and	Sustainable	Community	Owned	Connectivity	Networks	
- As Part of the Innovation for Inclusive Development (IID) Seminar Series

February 2021  The Hidden Crisis: Mental Health in Times of Covid-19

February 2021 Neonicotinoids and Their Impact on Ecosystem Services for Agriculture and 
Biodiversity in Africa: A Review and Recommendations to Policymakers

3.3.2 OUTCOME 2: Science Engagement

Objective: Promotion of public interest and awareness of science, science education and the value of 
evidence-based information in growing the knowledge economy.

ASSAf Special Public Lectures Series

Special lectures include the Presidential Roundtables, the ASSAf Science-Business Leadership Forums, Em-
bassy Lectures, the Distinguished Visiting Scholar lectures, the Royal Society of South Africa lectures hosted 
at UCT, Innovation for Inclusive Development lectures and the Annual Humanities Lecture. These are held 
annually	to	engage	the	general	public	and	relevant	stakeholders	in	science	that	benefits	society.

ASSAf Presidential Roundtables

The Presidential Roundtable discussions, moderated by ASSAf President, Prof Jonathan Jansen, focus on 
thought-provoking and sometimes controversial issues facing the academic and higher education com-
munity in the country.

Fifth ASSAf Presidential Roundtable - Technology and the Future of Higher Education

The	fifth	Presidential	Roundtable	discussion	held	during	May	2020	on Technology and the Future of Higher 
Education brought together leading experts on the subject to present ideas on what universities might look 
like in a post-COVID-19 world. The virtual audience included representatives from other African science 
academies, tertiary institutions from across the country and the continent as well as Embassies. 
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Sixth ASSAf Presidential Roundtable - Frankensteins or Gods? The Impact of the new technologies on what 
it means to be human

The sixth in the series of Presidential Roundtable discussions took place on 25 November 2020. This discus-
sion featured Prof Margaret Levi as the guest speaker. Prof Levi is Director: Center for Advanced Study in 
the Behavioral Sciences and Professor of Political Science, Stanford University.

The	guest	lecture	put	the	human	question	in	and	the	societal	implications	of	artificial	intelligence	(AI)	under	
the spotlight and addressed the questions that we face, as machine learning and algorithmic decision 
become more deeply embedded in the processes that guide our information sources, our governing and 
criminal justice system, our shopping, and so much more.

Distinguished Visiting Scholar Lecture Series

The Academy annually brings outstanding international scholars to South Africa for approximately two 
weeks for a nationwide lecture tour. The purpose is to promote scholarly activity and to contribute towards 
strengthening	scientific	endeavour	in	South	Africa.
 
On 10 September 2020, ASSAf, in collaboration with UJ, hosted a public lecture titled Science Policy, Sci-
ence Literacy: post-COVID education for the developing world during the Fourth Industrial Revolution by 
ASSAf Distinguished Visiting Scholar, Prof Romain Murenzi, the Executive Director of The World Academy of 
Sciences (TWAS). Prof Murenzi also oversees the administration of the Organisation for Women in Science 
for the Developing World (OWSD); the IAP, and GenderInSITE, an international initiative to promote the role 
of women in science, innovation, technology and engineering. Given the travel restrictions imposed due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, the lecture was held virtually and was attended by some 120 participants.

Innovation for Inclusive Development (IID) Learning Interventions

The purpose of the IID seminars is to demonstrate how innovative technology solutions may be used to 
improve the capacity of the State to deliver and improve access to basic services, and thereby advance 
local economic development. The practical knowledge and insights generated from these seminars can 
be used as tools to support evidence-based policy and decision-making to enhance service delivery and 
building capacity in relevant State institutions and communities. 

Two IID seminars were hosted during the reporting period:

The	first	seminar	for	the	period	under	review,	hosted	during	August	in	partnership	with	the	DSI	was	titled:	
Building Profitable and Sustainable Community Owned Connectivity Networks. The webinar, facilitated by 
Ms Ellen Fischat from Story Room aimed to look at how other rural and township wireless connectivity mod-
els such as Zenzeleni Community Owned Connectivity Networks (COCN) can be scaled-up to increase 
the number of people connected in the rural settings, more so in light of the COVID-19 crisis. Over 100 par-
ticipants were in attendance from Zimbabwe, Uganda, Nigeria and from various industries across South 
Africa including public, private, academia, NPO/NGO, and others.

In partnership with DSI and UJ, ASSAf hosted the second virtual IID seminar on Exploring the Prospects of Us-
ing 3D Printing Technology in the South African Human Settlements, on 1 March 2021. This webinar present-
ed	preliminary	findings	from	a	study	conducted	by	UJ,	addressing	the	viability	of	3D	printing	technology,	
the cost comparison of 3D printed houses to conventional construction, and the preliminary perceptions 
on 3D printing of houses. There was a unanimous consensus that collaborative efforts from all stakehold-
ers are key to take advantage of this niche technology. Again, there was a diverse audience with over 
100 participants in attendance from across the globe, including India, Senegal, Zimbabwe and national 
stakeholders.

ASSAf-Embassy Lecture Series

The Academy collaborates with embassies of various overseas countries to organise the ASSAf-Embassy 
Lecture Series. The Lecture Series serves as a platform for hosting activities of mutual interest between AS-
SAf and embassy missions in South Africa and is aimed at increasing public understanding of science.

During the reporting period, ASSAf hosted a panel discussion in partnership with the Embassy of Italy in South 
Africa titled Social, Psychological and Health Impact of COVID-19 on the Elderly: South African and Italian 
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Perspectives. The panel discussion brought together experts from South Africa and Italy who explored the 
mental health challenges confronting the elderly in the era of the COVID-19 pandemic. The event was 
attended by some 140 people, representing academia, private sector, non-governmental organisations 
and the public at large. A proceedings report with recommendations has been produced (Table 1). 

ASSAf Annual Humanities Lecture

The ASSAf Annual Humanities Lecture was inaugurated in 2017. Its primary purpose is to provide a platform, 
within ASSAf and its multidisciplinary suite of activities and projects, for showcasing and promoting the 
Humanities	and	its	significance	for	social	and	human	development.	It	does	so	through	inviting	a	leading	
Humanities scholar to deliver a lecture on a question which is of interest in the country.

The 2020 ASSAf Annual Humanities Lecture on Race Science held on 6 October 2020 was presented by 
Angela Saini, independent British science journalist and award-winning author of Superior: The Return of 
Race and Science.
 
ASSAf invited Ms Saini to give the Humanities Lecture this year because Superior speaks to the topic of race 
and racism in deeply informative and relevant ways. Most pertinent in the Academy’s interest in having Ms 
Saini is the explanation she makes for the resurgence of racism around the world in the current period. This 
explanation is essentially that ‘race science’, as she describes it, remains alive and well in the academy. 
Even	as	it	has	been	scientifically	disproved	it	continues	to	inform	not	only	fields	of	study	such	as	the	social	
sciences and humanities but also the hard sciences. 

Series of monthly scientific talks jointly hosted with the Royal Society of South Africa

ASSAf continued to collaborate with the Royal Society of South Africa (RSSA) by co-hosting monthly scien-
tific	talks.	The	following	lectures	were	held	in	Cape	Town:

Opening	public	lectures	for	the	first	time	since	the	national	lockdown	in	March	2020,	the	RSSA	hosted	a	live	
talk in Cape Town on 18 November 2020 by Dr Bruno Werz, maritime archaeologist and CEO of the African 
Institute for Marine and Underwater Research, Exploration & Education. The talk titled Finding Haarlem was 
a recount of Dr Werz’s search for the wreck of the Haarlem, a ship which went under the waves in Table 
Bay in 1647 and his presentation provided a brief overview of work undertaken to date.

Dynamic desert: Land use and environmental change in the Karoo, was the title of the second joint AS-
SAf-Royal Society webinar held during the reporting period on 17 March 2021. It was delivered by Prof 
Timm Hoffman who won the WWF Living Planet Award, for global recognition for his work in 2019. He holds 
the Leslie Hill Chair in Plant Conservation in the Department of Biological Sciences at UCT. Prof Hoffman 
has an interest in how southern African environments have changed over time in response to land use 
and climate. He has a special interest in the arid parts of southern Africa and uses repeat photography to 
understand the nature of long-term vegetation change.

Annual ASSAf Science-Business Leadership Forum

ASSAf created a platform, the ASSAf Science-Business Leadership Forum (SBLF) initiative, where leading 
experts from the private sector could engage with prominent scientists from the Academy to deliberate 
on critical issues affecting both science and the business community. Hosted by the ASSAf President, the 
SBLF colloquium is hosted annually. The SBLF initiative forms part of the Academy’s strategy to enhance 
dialogue and cooperation between science, business and society.

The Academy hosted its 3rd Annual ASSAf SBLF on 26 November 2020. Speakers, Dr Kenneth Creamer, 
Senior Lecturer from Wits and Dr Thabi Leoka, Economist from Statistics South Africa (Stats SA) Council, de-
liberated on South Africa’s Economic Recovery Post COVID-19.

Other webinars

In addition to the Special Public Lectures hosted by ASSAf to stimulate wider public engagement of sci-
ence,	ASSAf	and	SAYAS	have	engaged	with	the	scientific	community	by	hosting	several	webinars	on	im-
portant topics, particularly those related to the COVID-19 pandemic and its implications for society. 

Details of these activities are presented below (also see Annexure A):
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How Can Journals Promote Science Engagement

How Can Journals Promote Science Engagement was presented by Prof Jane Carruthers, Editor-in-Chief 
of the SAJS, on 23 April 2020.

Recognising Collaborative Research

Recognising Collaborative Research was presented by Prof David Walwyn, Professor in the Graduate 
School of Technology Management at UP, on 27 May 2020. The webinar covered the results of a multi-dis-
ciplinary study which was undertaken by an ASSAf Expert Panel on how collaborative research could be 
appropriately recognised and rewarded in South Africa. The study,	launched	in	the	previous	financial	year	
(March 2020) was motivated by the increasing participation of individual academics and researchers in 
large	national	and	international	collaborations,	and	reports	from	these	team	members	that	their	specific	
contribution was generally under-recognised by the existing performance appraisal systems within public 
research institutions.

SAJS: Author Questions and Answers session

South African Journal of Science, Author Questions and Answers on Marine Plastic Debris in South Africa (4 
June 2020), based on the May/June issue of the SAJS that focused on marine plastic debris.

Harnessing health Innovations in Africa to tackle COVID-19 and beyond

Hosted by SAYAS on 18 June 2020, this webinar explored gaps between service delivery and health sys-
tems and the need for innovation in healthcare. 

Lindau 2020 Nobel Laureate Online Meeting

ASSAf, as one of the Lindau 2020 Nobel Laureate academic partners, engaged in an Expo on 30 June 
2020, during the online Lindau meeting (with the physical meeting postponed to 2021). A video – inte-
grating video clips and photos from previous Lindau meetings – was compiled and projected online for 
two consecutive days. The video can be accessed at https://animoto.com/play/Q5zJ1AF6PRmfCjKl5FUF-
gw 

The Hidden Crisis: Mental Health in Times of COVID-19 

On 28 September 2020, ASSAf with the German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina hosted a we-
binar titled The Hidden Crisis: Mental Health in Times of COVID-19. The aim of the panel discussion was to 
assess human mental health during the times of COVID-19 and provide country perspectives (South Africa, 
Nigeria, Spain, and Germany). The webinar was attended by some 193 participants from ten countries 
(Belgium, Cameroon, Germany, Iraq, Nigeria, Portugal, South Africa, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United 
Kingdom). A proceedings report has been produced for this event (Table 1).

Neonicotinoid Insecticides: Use and Effects in African Agriculture. A Review and Recommendations to 
Policymakers

ASSAf, in collaboration with the German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina and NASAC complet-
ed a project exploring the use and effects of neonicotinoids in African agriculture. A virtual event held on 
18	November	2020	served	to	introduce	the	resultant	report,	including	an	update	on	recent	scientific	and	
policy developments regarding neonicotinoids in Africa, and to discuss its implications with a wide range 
of stakeholders, with the aim of stimulating policy and research action. A proceedings report titled Neon-
icotinoids and Their Impact on Ecosystem Services for Agriculture and Biodiversity in Africa: A Review and 
Recommendations to Policymakers was published following the event (Table 1).

COVID-19 and Multimorbidity: How to Deal with Multiple Infectious Diseases in Parallel?

ASSAf collaborated with the Ethiopian Academy of Sciences, the Senegal Academy of Science and Tech-
nology, the UK Academy of Sciences and the German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina to host 
this panel discussion. Renowned experts from South Africa (Prof Quarraisha Abdool Karim), Ethiopia (Prof 
Wondwossen Amogne), Senegal (Prof Papa Salif Sow), Germany (Prof Stefan Kaufmann) and the UK (Prof 
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Peter Calverley) discussed challenges pertaining to multimorbidity in the era of COVID-19. The event took 
place on 26 November 2020.

SAYAS Webinar on Modelling and Simulation in Medicine: Public Trust in Numbers and COVID-19

On 27 November 2020, SAYAS hosted a webinar on Modelling and Simulation in Medicine: Public Trust in 
Numbers and COVID-19. 

The discussions explored the contribution that mathematicians could make to the COVID-19 calculus in 
terms of accurate real-time data on the pandemic’s progress and informing intervention strategies.

COVID-19 and Human Rights: Perspectives on Socio-economic Rights and Violence

Held on 7 December 2020, this panel discussion formed part of a larger virtual event jointly coordinated 
by the International Human Rights Network of Academies and Scholarly Societies (IHRN) and ASSAf that 
highlighted key rights-related challenges associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The panellists explored the impact of COVID-19 on socio-economic human rights and violence faced by 
citizens. The event was attended by participants from countries such as South Africa, Cameroon, Australia, 
Germany, United States of America, Taiwan, Japan, Finland, Tanzania, United Kingdom and Uganda. This 
event included a recorded message by the ASSAf President, Prof Jonathan Jansen.

Challenges lying ahead with COVID-19 Vaccines in South Africa

To engage the voice of science on the many issues circulating regarding the COVID-19 vaccines, Prof 
Shabir Madhi was invited to give a talk on COVID-19 vaccines ahead of the roll-out thereof in South Africa. 

A Member of ASSAf, Prof Madhi is the Dean: Faculty of Health Sciences at the University of the Witwa-
tersrand (Wits), Executive Director of the Vaccines and Infectious Diseases Analytics Research Unit (VIDA) 
also at Wits, and the principal investigator in the Novavax COVID-19 vaccine trial in South Africa. 

Prof Madhi’s very topical presentation highlighted the current vaccine development landscape and fur-
thermore	addressed	the	matter	around	vaccine	efficacy	and	what	we	have	experienced	in	South	Africa.	
Prof Wolfgang Preiser participated as the respondent to the talk to provide his analysis. Also a Member of 
the Academy, Prof Preiser is a medical virologist and is the current Head of the Division of Medical Virology 
at SU and NHLS Tygerberg.

The webinar that took place on 15 February 2021 was moderated by the Chair of the ASSAf Standing 
Committee on Health, Prof Mosa Moshabela, and attracted a diverse audience of some 170 attendees.

The discussions underlined the rapid development and licensing of effective vaccines as a remarkable 
scientific	success.

Science for Society Week

ASSAf hosted a Science for Society week, from 15 to 18 March 2021. The aim of the week was to ignite 
conversations around policy, projects and activities that shape science engagement. It looked at roles 
played by different stakeholders in the national project of promoting science and supporting education 
in general.

The four days were dedicated to discussions under the following themes: Space science and astronomy 
in	 science	engagement;	 the	benefits	of	engaging	different	publics	 in	 science	 festivals;	 leadership	and	
management in science engagement; and science communication. Role players were the SANSA, South 
African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement (SAASTA), DSI, South African Radio Astronomy 
Observatory (SARAO) and Eding International Science Festival. There was a strong sense that the initiative 
be extended and continued to tackle problematic issues in science engagement. One community radio 
interview took place.
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2020 Open Access Week

From 20 to 24 October 2020, ASSAf hosted a series of webinars in partnership with other stakeholders as 
part of 2020 Open Access (OA) Week. OA Week, a global event that provides an opportunity for the ac-
ademic	and	research	community	to	learn	about	the	potential	benefits	of	Open	Access,	was	held	from	
19 to 25 October 2020 under the theme “Open with Purpose: Taking Action to Build Structural Equity and 
Inclusion”.

	y  20 October 2020: Prof Cameron Neylon from Curtin University, Australia, provided a regional perspec-
tive through his presentation on Global Open Access to Scholarly Literature: Progress and Evidence of 
African Leadership. 

	y  22 October 2020: South African Protection of Personal Information (POPI) Act,  chaired by ASSAf Exec-
utive	Officer,	Prof	Himla	Soodyall,	on	the	topic	The POPI Act (POPIA) - The need for a single Code of 
Conduct for Research and a discussion of key issues to be addressed in the Code. 

	y  23 October 2020: Prof Ahmed Bawa from Universities South Africa (USAf) presented on The Open Sci-
ence Agenda and Framework for South Africa/South African Open Science Adventures. 

	y  24 October 2020: Overview of the African Scientists Directory, presented by Dr Richard Glover (ISC ROA) 
and Ina Smith (ASSAf). An article by University World News: Africa Edition, for an account of the webinar 
can be accessed here: African Scientists Directory fosters collaboration, counters populism. 

The four ASSAf OA Week 2020 webinars were collectively attended by more than 600 participants.

Science Forum South Africa 2020 (9 - 11 December 2020)

ASSAf continues to be a proud partner of the Science Forum South Africa (SFSA). Through its Members, its 
Executive	Officer,	its	Scholarly	Publishing,	Liaison	and	Science	Advisory	Programmes,	the	Academy	hosted	
and/or participated in the following sessions at the 2020 SFSA: 

	y The Presidential Employment Stimulus: Research Opportunities (10 December 2020)
	 		The	keynote	speaker	was	Dr	Kate	Philip,	who	is	currently	supporting	the	Project	Management	Office	

(PMO)	in	the	Private	Office	of	the	President,	in	the	design	and	coordination	of	the	Presidential	Employ-
ment Stimulus, launched in October 2020 as part of government’s Economic Recovery Strategy. The 
session set out the elements of the stimulus and their rationale and research that had already taken 
place was presented. 

	y  The Protection of Personal Information Act No 4 of 2013: A Code of Conduct for Research (10 December 
2020)

  Moderated by Prof Michèle Ramsay, this panel discussion addressed the need for a single Code of 
Conduct for Research and discussion of key issues to be addressed in the Code. This session follows on 
the virtual forum meeting held by ASSAf on 21 October 2020 during the Open Access Week. At the Oc-
tober meeting it was proposed that ASSAf facilitate the development of the Code by engaging a wide 
spectrum of stakeholders including researchers, ethicists, and legally trained people to ensure inclusivity 
with multiple stakeholders prior to the submission of the Code to the Information Regulator for approval.

yy Discourses of Race (10 December 2020)
   This panel discussion was hosted by ASSAf and the HSRC and moderated by Prof Himla Soodyall (Execu-

tive	Officer)	in	dialogue	with	Prof	Crain	Soudien	(HSRC),	Prof	Cathy	Burns	(Wits)	and	Prof	Collet	Dandara	
(UCT). Given the year that featured “Black Lives Matter”, the panel discussed how race and racism has 
played out in South Africa in various scenarios.

	y The Policy & Practice of Drug, Alcohol & Tobacco Use During COVID-19 (10 December 2020)
  This session was organised by Dr Aiden Gilligan (CEO, Sci-COMM – Making Sense of Science) and 

moderated	by	Prof	Himla	Soodyall	 (Executive	Officer).	 The	discussion	 focussed	on	weighing-up	how	
law-makers navigate between the rights and responsibilities of individuals to look after themselves and 
the rights and responsibilities of States to look after their citizens, provide security and a milieu in which to 
live	a	satisfying	life.	The	panel	provided	lively	discussion	on	the	nexus	of	scientific	and	decision-making	
power operates based on how South Africa responded during a COVID-19 crisis. Recommendations 
were provided on how things could have been done better in getting the balance right. 
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	y Integrating Gender across SDG Research in South Africa (10 December 2020)
  ASSAf President, Prof Jonathan Jansen, participated as a speaker in this panel discussion that focussed 

on South Africa’s strong contribution to SDG research and offered different perspectives on integrating 
sex and gender strategies for raising awareness, benchmarking, and stimulating more societally im-
pactful research across the board. 

	y Open Science: Future of Science, Science of the Future (10 December 2020)
  ASSAf Director of Scholarly Publishing Unit, Mrs Susan Veldsman participated as a panellist in this session 

that provided an opportunity for panellists to share experiences in South Africa and in participating Eu-
ropean countries regarding the importance and the impact of open science and the Open Science 
Agenda and its key areas. The session also provided an opportunity to showcase expertise and tools.

	y Science Diplomacy: Considering the Health Diplomacy response to COVID-19 (11 December 2020)
  Coordinated by Mr Stanley Maphosa (International and National Liaison Manager, ASSAf) in collab-

oration with the DSI, this session covered two topics: (1) Debunking science and health diplomacy in 
a pandemic – practices and challenges with participation, and (2) A multi-stakeholder approach to 
science diplomacy in Africa: the relationship between governments and non-state actors in the imple-
mentation of foreign policies. Various perspectives on how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected the 
public across the continent and how collaboration through science diplomacy could lead to better 
outcomes were discussed.

	y Research Excellence, Peer Review and Epistemic Justice (11 December 2020)
  Organised by UCT and ISC-ROA, this roundtable session was moderated by Editor-in-Chief: SAJS, Prof 

Jane Carruthers. This session discussed and explored questions around the meaning, validity and prac-
ticalities of peer review and research excellence in a post-colonial context.

Workshops

Good Peer Review Practices

Peer review serves as one of the most important mechanisms for validating the information contained in 
scholarly journals. ASSAf being a leader in terms of best practices in scholarly publishing, hosted a panel 
discussion webinar on Good Peer Review Practices on 31 July 2020, focussing on a few key issues in the 
peer review processes for scholarly journals, including: the importance and value of originality in scholarly 
publishing; the critical role of mentorship, scholarship development and passing the torch to the next gen-
eration;	peer	review	practices	and	processes	in	scientific	journals	and	scholarship	development	in	South	
Africa from a peer reviewer perspective; and the perceptions of the contested role of the peer reviewer. 
The webinar was attended by some 173 participants.  

Research Organization Registry webinar: Let’s ROR Together: An Introduction to the Research Organization 
Registry

Research Organization Registry (ROR) is a community-led project to develop an open, sustainable, usable, 
and	unique	 identifier	 for	every	 research	organisation	 in	 the	world.	During	August	2020,	ASSAf	hosted	a	
webinar	that	provided	an	overview	of	the	ROR	registry,	demonstrated	how	ROR	identifiers	are	being	used	
and integrated, and discussed upcoming milestones for the project. The webinar was presented by Maria 
Gould, Product Manager and Research Data Specialist at California Digital Library at the University of Cal-
ifornia, where she leads a portfolio of innovative projects and initiatives. 

South Africa (BRICS) Young Scientists Forum 

The	DSI	and	ASSAf	participated	at	the	fifth	Brazil,	Russia,	India,	China,	and	South	Africa	(BRICS)	Young	Sci-
entists Forum from 21 to 25 September. The 2020 Forum was virtually hosted at South Ural State University 
in Russia under the theme “BRICS partnership of young scientists and innovators for science progress and 
innovative growth”. South Africa was represented by 17 young scientists as active participants in the forum 
and	South	African	innovator,	Mr	Gift	Lubele,	received	the	first	prize	in	the	2020	BRICS	Young	Innovator	com-
petition	–	the	prize	promotes	quality	research	and	innovation,	including	the	use	of	artificial	intelligence,	in	
environmental protection and materials science. 
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COVID-19 Vaccine Policy Dialogue 2020

On 20 November 2020, the Africa Institute of South Africa within the HSRC and Nabio Consulting in part-
nership	with	DSI,	 TWAS-SAREP,	ASPEN	and	Pfizer	Pharmaceutical	company	hosted	a	webinar	on	policy	
dialogue on COVID-19. The webinar explored the possible challenges and constraints towards COVID-19 
bio-inventions and vaccination as well as the bottlenecks in regulatory framework for COVID-19 vaccine 
research and development in the country. The webinar included participants from industry, government, 
non-state actors and academia.

TWAS-SAREP-TYAN Workshop 2020

TWAS-SAREP	in	partnership	with	the	TWAS	Young	Affiliates	Network	(TYAN)	hosted	a	workshop	on	Enhanc-
ing Digital platforms for Capacity Development and Career Advancement in Times of Pandemics. The 
workshop sought to increase the knowledge of young researchers in Africa and in so doing, building their 
capacity, and advancing their careers amid the challenges that the COVID-19 pandemic presents to the 
world. Furthermore, the workshop aimed to equip participants with the knowledge and skills required to 
adjust to the challenges that the COVID-19 pandemic presents to teaching, research, and collaboration, 
as well as to address other capacity development needs of young researchers in response to COVID-19.

TWAS-SAREP and TYAN Symposium and Workshop 

The 2nd African Symposium and 3rd TYAN International Thematic Virtual Workshop on Big Data, Analytics 
and Machine Intelligence was hosted from 3 to 4 December 2020 under the theme Data Science for Solu-
tion-driven and Sustainable Response to Current Developing World Challenges.

The symposium and workshop were conducted by TYAN in partnership with TWAS-SAREP, TWAS-Latin Amer-
ica, the Caribbean Regional Partner (LACREP) and the TWAS-Arab Regional Partner (AREP). The main goal 
of the symposium was to identify the work that scientists have done with data science as they address 
the current developing world challenges, especially in relation to COVID-19, other health solutions, and at 
addressing issues that limit sustainability in our developing societies. 

Academic Science in the Fight against COVID-19: Economic, Sociological and Other Aspects of the Post-
COVID World 

Held annually by the BRICS Academies of Sciences, this event was the third meeting of the BRICS Acad-
emies and took place from 14 to 15 December 2020.  The 2020 edition was hosted by the Russian Acad-
emy of Sciences. The theme acknowledged the need for joint action of researchers from various scientif-
ic	backgrounds	and	со-орегаtiоп	with	political	decision-makers	to	effectively	respond	to	the	COVID-19	
pandemic.

The President of ASSAf participated in the event by giving welcoming remarks. In addition, South African 
experts participated by giving talks in three sessions and moderation of a session.

No Paraffin! Campaign

Based	on	an	increasing	accumulation	of	evidence	of	the	impact	of	paraffin,	the	ASSAf,	in	collaboration	
with the University of South Africa (Unisa) Institute for Social and Health Sciences, the SAMRC and NWU 
launched the No Paraffin! Campaign, through a three-part series of national roundtable discussions that 
were held on 18, 25 February and 4 March 2021.

Webinar	1:		South	Africa’s	Inequalities	in	Risk:	The	Case	for	the	No	Paraffin!	Campaign
Webinar 2:  Lessons for South Africa: Successful Campaigns for Energy Migration
Webinar 3:  Institutional Arrangements, Evidence and Policy Pathways to Safe Domestic Energy
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Outreach activities

SAYAS campaign for study guides

During May and June 2020, SAYAS ran an online campaign seeking support in enabling the provision of 
Study Guides for young learners during lockdown who do not have online access. This is through a STEM 
NPO called AmaQawe ngeMfundo that SAYAS supports in Khayelitsha, Cape Town.

Orientation session with new ASSAf Members (2020)

An orientation session was held virtually for newly elected ASSAf Members as well as with the newly ap-
pointed Honorary Foreign Associates on 15 October 2020 and 2 February 2021, respectively. Led by the 
ASSAf	Executive	Officer,	the	purpose	of	these	engagements	was	to	provide	the	newly	elected	Members	
and Foreign Associates with an overview of the Academy and its activities. The session provided the Mem-
bers with a platform to raise any questions and to engage with other new Members. 

Others

Ikusasa-Lethu partnered with ASSAf to reach 700 science learners in the Northern KwaZulu-Natal Schools, 
in the Ngwanase circuit in Mhlabuyalingana, 7 to 11 September, with 1500 copies of the Quest magazine 
distributed. 

Zodwa Khoza Foundation hosted a women and children day on 19 August 2020 and 100 Quest copies 
were sponsored for learners who attended the event. 

Zodwa Khoza Foundation partnered with ASSAf to reach 120 science learners in Diepkloof, Soweto, during 
Heritage Day, 24 September 2020, with 100 Quest magazine copies distributed and engaged the youth on 
science as a national heritage. ASSAf also invited SANSA to co-participate in this event.

ASSAf’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic

The Academy’s Members have played a crucial role in responding to the pandemic. Members have 
authored or co-authored articles, engaged with the media – print, radio, and television - and used their 
profiles	to	alleviate	fear	and	provide	the	public	with	evidence-based	information.	Members	have	featured	
prominently in the Ministerial Advisory Committee on COVID-19 and on the Presidential Economic Advisory 
Council which has been consulted widely by Government for information and recommendations.

The ASSAf secretariat has been tracking these contributions on the ASSAf website. ASSAf Members’ re-
sponses to the pandemic (including research articles, letters, media interviews, public webinars), are also 
shared with the public through ASSAf’s social media platforms. 

The responses by SAYAS members have also been collated monthly and are uploaded on the SAYAS 
website.

3.3.3 OUTCOME 3: Mobilising Knowledge

Objective: Strengthen interaction and access to ASSAf knowledge resources.

Publication of the South African Journal of Science (SAJS)

The year 2020 marked the 116th year of publication of the Journal. Seven issues were published in 2020/21, 
including a special issue on “Intellectual and Social Critique” to accommodate formal responses to a 
Commentary by Nicoli Nattrass published in the May/June 2020 issue. The Journal also issued a Statement 
regarding the response to publication of this Commentary. Other themes published in 2020/21 included 
Marine Plastics Debris, Perspectives on COVID-19, Peer Review, and the International Year of Plant Health. 
A total of 440 submissions was received in 2020/21 and about 40% of submitting authors were based in 
South Africa. The rejection rate was 90%, and 165 articles (75 peer-reviewed articles) were published in 
2020/21. The disciplinary spread of the published articles, as well as the number of articles pertaining to the 
Sustainable	Development	Goals,	are	shown	in	the	figures	below.
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Clarivate Analytics released the 2020 Web of Science Journal Citation Reports on 29 June 2020. The num-
ber of citations to SAJS articles increased to 2631 in 2020, and the journal impact factor increased from 
1.35 in 2019 to 1.87 in 2020. The Journal is now ranked 3rd of 54 South African journals and 36th of 71 multidis-
ciplinary journals on the Web of Science database. 

Impact factor
1.866

Number of
citations

2631

south African
journals rank

3/54

Multidisciplinary
journals rank

36/71

source: Journal Citation Reports© released in 2020

There were 130 news reports in mainstream media on SAJS articles in 2020/21. The advertising value equiv-
alent (i.e. what it would cost to place an equivalent ‘sized’ advertisement) based on this coverage of SAJS 
articles	was	R11	million.	Increased	traffic	to	the	SAJS website to view the articles reported on in the media 
was consistently observed. In total, there were 99 700 views of the SAJS website in 2020/21. 
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In addition to media releases and social media activity for each issue, science engagement activities 
included a webinar hosted by the Journal in June 2020 to market the Marine Plastics Debris themed issue. 
The webinar, which was presented by the authors, was well received with over 80 registrants. The recording 
is available on the SAJS YouTube channel. The Journal also co-hosted a panel session on ‘Research Excel-
lence, Peer Review and Epistemic Justice’ at the 2020 SFSA with the HSRC. This panel session formed part 
of the Radical Reason series of HSRC, and presentations therein will constitute a special issue on Radical 
Reason to be published in December 2021.

Prof Leslie Swartz succeeded Prof Jane Carruthers as Editor-in-Chief from January 2021. Prof Carruthers 
served as Editor-in-Chief from April 2019 to January 2021.

In May 2020, ASSAf Council approved amendments to the Terms of Reference of the Editorial Advisory 
Board, which included expansion of the composition of the Board to include four international members 
and	an	additional	three	local	members.	The	candidates	ratified	by	Council	were	appointed	with	effect	
from 1 July 2020. The newly constituted Board met on 21 September 2020. Prof Stephanie Burton was ap-
pointed by Council to succeed Prof Johann Mouton as Chair of the Board in October 2020. The new com-
position of the Board is shown in the table below.

Member Role Institution

stephanie Burton Member of Council  (Chair) UP

Himla soodyall EO of ASSAf (ex officio) AssAf

Leslie swartz Editor-in-Chief (ex officio) AssAf

Lungiswa Nkonki sAYAs member sU

Felix Dakora Appointed – local TUT

Pumla Gobodo- Madikizela Appointed – local sU

Robert Morrell Appointed – local UCT

Hassina Mouri Appointed – local UJ

Lyn Wadley Appointed – local Wits

Cherryl Walker Appointed – local sU

saul Dubow Appointed – international Cambridge, Uk

Catherine Ngila Appointed – international Riara University, Nairobi, kenya

Brigitte senut Appointed – international Natural History Museum,  Paris, France

Benjamin smith Appointed – international UWA, Perth, Australia

The annual Editorial Advisory Board Meeting was held on 2 March 2021 and the annual Associate Editors’ 
Meeting was held on 5 March 2021. 

Two	Associate	Editor	Mentees	were	appointed	in	June	2020	in	the	fields	of	Organismal	Biology	and	Cell,	
Molecular & Health Sciences, bringing the total number of Mentees in the Programme to six.
 
Year Portfolio Mentee Affiliation

2018 social sciences & Education Maitumeleng Nthontho UP

2018 Earth & Environmental sciences Yali Woyessa CUT

2019 Agriculture & Forestry salmina Mokhele ARC

2019 Engineering & Technology Ntombizodwa Mathe CsIR

2020 Cell, Molecular & Health sciences sandiswa Mbewana UCT

2020 Organismal Biology sydney Moyo RU
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May/Jun 2020 Jul/Aug 2020 Special issue July 2020 Sep/Oct 2020

Cover

Description of 
issue

The May/Jun 2020 issue 
was published on 

27 May 2020. The theme 
of the issue was marine 
plastic debris. A series 
of review articles in this  
issue provides the latest 

information on the 
sources, pathways, 

impacts and monitoring 
of marine plastic debris 

in South Africa.

The Jul/Aug 2020 issue 
published on 29 July 

2020 included a series 
of Invited Commentaries 

entitled ‘More eyes on 
COVID-19’ intended to 
provide ‘more eyes’ on 
the COVID-19 pandemic 
by drawing in perspec-
tives from experts in 

the social sciences and 
humanities.

This special issue pub-
lished on 10 July 2020, 
entitled ‘Intellectual and 
social critique: The role 

of the South African 
Journal of Science’, is a 
compilation of respons-

es to a Commentary 
published in the previ-

ous issue which elicited 
fervent debate. This is-

sue serves an important 
and useful educational 
functioning universities 
as well as in our broader 

society.

The Sep/Oct 2020 
issue published on 
29 September 2020 
included a series of 

articles on peer review 
in commemoration 

of international Peer 
Review Week (21-25 

September 2020).

Monthly 
website visits 7 035 9 550 19 320 7 840

PDF views on 
website* 430 930 770** 265

Article views* 19 265 6 400 5 260** 5 870

Article 
downloads* 12 700 3 770 3 360** 3 530

Highest 
Altmetric score*

168
(in the top 5% of all 

research outputs scored 
by Altmetric)

58
(in the top 5% of all 

research outputs scored 
by Altmetric)

5**
(in the top 25% of all 

research outputs scored 
by Altmetric)

11
(in the top 25% of all 

research outputs scored 
by Altmetric)

Facebook 
Potential reach* 11 350 13 860 100** 4 925

Twitter 
Impressions* 9 505 11 370 820** 9 030

Media 
mentions 50 6 3 18

Total opens from 
email alert 4 800 4 255 8 670 4 195

*Two weeks post-publication     **One week post-publication      †SAJS website was down for the first week post-publication
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Nov/Dec 2020 Jan/Feb 2021 Mar/Apr 2021

Cover

Description of 
issue

The Nov/Dec 2020 issue is a 
special issue that commemorates 

the International Year of Plant 
Health 2020 and serves as 
an excellent source of the 

latest research, reviews and 
commentaries from leading plant 
pathologists and entomologists 
in South Africa. It informs not 

only plant pathologists and food 
growers, but also policymakers 
and the public of the importance 

of plant health.

As we enter the UN Decade of 
Ecosystem Restoration (2021–
2031) with the goal “to prevent, 

halt and reverse the degradation 
of ecosystems on every continent 

and in every ocean”, several 
articles in the Jan/Feb 2021 

issue report on the need for or 
efforts towards monitoring and 
conservation of terrestrial and 
marine ecosystems in South 

Africa.

The Mar/Apr 2021 issue 
introduces a Discussion Series 
on POPIA, includes a number of 
articles relating to COVID-19 and 
features articles on production 
and consumption of moringa, 
dental caries in South African 

fossil hominins, severe weather 
warnings from the South 

African Weather Service, and 
investigation of a meteorite fall 

over Madagascar.

Monthly 
website visits 7 185† 6 250 8 410

PDF views on 
website* 270† 260 250

Article views* 3 270† 5 390 4 490

Article 
downloads* 2 440† 3 250 2 130

Highest 
Altmetric score*

7
(in the top 25% of all 

research outputs scored by 
Altmetric)

29
(in the top 5% of all 

research outputs scored by 
Altmetric)

11
(in the top 25% of all 

research outputs scored by 
Altmetric)

Facebook 
Potential reach* 2 350 5 600 3 880

Twitter 
Impressions* 14 600 26 400 19 060

Media 
mentions 25 13 2

Total opens from 
email alert 4 530 3 660 3 780
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Publication of the Quest: Science for South Africa magazine

The visibility and accessibility of the Quest magazine - supported by social media and the Quest mailing list 
- continued to grow since the inception of the Quest website (https://questonline.org.za/). The website is 
used for marketing purposes and for the sharing of popular science news, in addition to articles published. 
A website translator application has been added to the website, so that content can be translated to 
South African home languages.

Full-text Quest issues are accessible via the Quest website or the ASSAf Research Repository. When access-
ing Quest via the website, it links through to the ASSAf Research Repository which – in addition to providing 
open access to the full text – also serves as a preservation platform for all Quest issues. 20 issues have been 
uploaded to the ASSAf Research Repository to date (from Vol 12 No 1 to Vol 16 No 4).

The Quest mailing list currently has 1 633 members, of which most are individuals. The mailing list is mainly 
used to announce a new issue being published online.

The publication has entered the world of online marketing, through trialing three different advertisements 
on its website at https://questonline.org.za/. A rate card was developed, and it is expected that this ini-
tiative will generate additional income for the magazine. The Quest website continues to be supported 
in-house. 

Editorial Board

The 2019/2020 Editorial Advisory Board was convened on 29 July 2020 due to COVID-19. The 2020/21 Edito-
rial Advisory Board was convened on the 24 February 2021.

Vol. 16.2 Vol. 16.3 Vol. 16.4 Vol. 17.1

Cover

QUESTONLINE.ORG.ZA  Quest Vol. 16 No. 2 | 2020     1

SCIENCE FOR SOUTH AFRICA

VOLUME 16  |  NUMBER 2  |  2020
ISSN 1729 -  830X

ACADEMY OF SCIENCE OF SOUTH AFRICA

Early warning 
systems

COVID-19 
and zoonosis

SuperDARN –
radar for space weather

QUESTONLINE.ORG.ZA  Quest Vol. 16 No. 3 | 2020     1ACADEMY OF SCIENCE OF SOUTH AFRICA

Biobank for wildlife
research and conservation

FROZEN

VOLUME 16  |  NUMBER 3  |  2020
ISSN 1729 -  830X

SCIENCE FOR SOUTH AFRICA

Journey to 
the sea ice

Terrestrial microbes 
of Antarctica 

QUESTONLINE.ORG.ZA  Quest Vol. 16 No. 4 | 2020     1

Scanning the 
‘New Jerusalem’

VOLUME 16  |  NUMBER 4  |  2020
ISSN 1729 -  830X

SCIENCE FOR SOUTH AFRICA

Capturing 
Kruger in 3D

Shedding light on 
marine migration

ACADEMY OF SCIENCE OF SOUTH AFRICA

LIDAR
Light Detection and Ranging

QUESTONLINE.ORG.ZA  Quest Vol. 17 No. 1 | 2021     1

Deep-sea drumming

Listening to the seafloor

Tracking inshore fish

Whistlers of the waves

Sound in the sea

ACADEMY OF SCIENCE OF SOUTH AFRICA

VOLUME 17  |  NUMBER 1 |  2021
ISSN 1729 -  830X

SCIENCE FOR SOUTH AFRICA

Description of issue

Theme: 
Early Warning Systems

The issue focuses 
on the Early Warning 
Systems in disaster 

management. It has six 
themed articles, four 
feature stories, four 

news articles and five 
adverts. Two articles 

are translated into 
IsiZulu and two have a 

curriculum corner.

Theme: 
Frozen

The issue focuses 
on Freezing   

temperatures and 
how they are used 

in science and 
technology. The 

publication has six 
themed articles, 

six feature stories, 
three news articles 
and three adverts. 

There is a summary 
translated into IsiZulu 

and two articles have a 
curriculum corner.

Theme: 
LIDAR

The issue focuses on 
LIDAR (Light Detection 

and Ranging). It has 
eight themed articles, 

six features, five 
news articles and one 

advertorial. 

Theme: 
Sound in the Sea

The issue focuses on 
Sound in the Sea.

Views 1 272 508 434 498

Downloads 589 443 343 290

Handle http://hdl.handle.
net/20.500.11911/150

http://hdl.handle.
net/20.500.11911/154 

http://hdl.handle.
net/20.500.11911/169 

http://hdl.handle.
net/20.500.11911/180 
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General Quest website statistics:

Item Count

Webpages (01/04/2020 – 31/03/2021) 20

Posts (01/04/2020 – 31/03/2021) 147

Pageviews (01/04/2020 – 31/03/2021) 18 136

Users (01/04/2020 – 31/03/2021) 2119

Source: Google Analytics (10/05/2021)

User demography:

1,119
% of Total

2,112
% of Total

3,086
% of Total

1. south Africa 999 (47,06%) 992 (46,97%) 1,187 (60,89%)

2. United states 319 (15.03%) 318 (15,06%) 330 (10,69%)

3. India 90 (4.24%) 90 (4,26%) 120 (3,8%)

4. United kingdom 62 (2,92%) 61(2,8%) 64 (2,07%)

5. Canada 50 (2,36%) 50 (2,37%) 51 (1,65%) 

6. China 44 (2,07%) 44 (2,08%) 44 (1,43%)

7. United Arab Emirates 36 (1,70%) 36 (1,70%) 37 (1,20%)

8. Philippines 32 (1,51%) 32 (1,52%) 33 (1,07%)

9. France 26 (1,22%) 26 (1,23%) 28 (0,91%)

10. Australia 22 (1,04%) 22 (1,04%) 23 (0,75%)

Source: Google Analytics (10/05/2021)

Top five PDF downloaded articles:

Volume 16.2 Volume 16.3 Volume 16.4 Volume 17.1

Complete issue 589 Paleontology 316 Complete issue 4348 Complete issue 498

Predicting drought 317 Complete issue 443 Books 468 Editor’s note 81

COVID-19 226 Coding 271 LIDAR 204 Math Prof 78

Harmful algal blooms 213 Iks 283 Citizen science 204 Whistlers of waves 65

Zoonosis 190 Antarctica 221 Capturing kruger in 3D 166 sound science 61

Quest on Social Media (Twitter & Facebook):
     

Twitter Facebook

Number of posts 22 Number of posts 32

Number of followers 1767 Number of followers 2295

Number of pages following 1610 Page followers 2314

Number of impressions 681 Number of engagements 44

Engagements 136 Page views 23

Page reactions 654

source: Facebook (7/05/2021)

Source: Twitter (7/05/2021)
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Electronic catalogues of ASSAf’s publications archived for public use (Research repository)

The ASSAf Research Repository (ASSAf RR) is an important record-keeping mechanism, monitoring the 
usage	and	impact	of	research	outputs	specified	by	the	ASSAf	Strategic	Plan	for	2020/21-2024/25	and	it	
can contribute to the academic discourse and be used in the advancement of science and discussions/
decisions around science.

All statistics provided below are based on the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

Views and downloads received during the past year were as follows:

Views 36 945

Downloads 32 385

The accumulative number of views and downloads increased exponentially over the past year:

 Apr 2020 Mar 2021 % Increase 

Views 65 724 102 669 56

Downloads 57 111 89 496 57

The top-ten downloaded ASSAf publications during the past year were as follows:
March 2018

 Publication title Downloads 

1 Twelve Years Later: second AssAf Report on Research Publishing In and From south Africa 5 668

2 state of Biosafety and Biosecurity in south Africa 3 106

3 Reconceptualising Health Professions Education in south Africa 2 644

4 Neonicotinoids and their Impact on Ecosystem services for Agriculture and Biodiversity in Africa 1 459

5 Legends of south African science 1 308

6 Towards a Low Carbon City: Focus on Durban 1 189

7 Report on Grouped Peer Review of scholarly Journals in Education 1 177

8 Legends of south African science II 733

9 Quest Volume 16 Number 2 2020 568

10 south Africa’s Technical Readiness to support the shale Gas Industry 563

source: Dspace analytics

The top-ten visiting countries to the repository during the past year* were as follows:

Country Users

1 United states 28 168

2 Location not set 25 027

3 south Africa 11 223

4 France 8 842

5 Germany 3 913

6 Ukraine 2 829

7 Netherlands 2 614

8 Russia 2 543

9 United kingdom 1 441

10 Hong kong 1 270

source: Google analytics (*17 July 2020 – 31 March 2021)
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Visibility, accessibility and searchability of SA research outputs (SciELO SA, Khulisa journals)

SciELO SA: Open Access Platform

Growth and usage

The SciELO SA collection (www.scielo.org.za)	is	the	first	fully	open	access	(OA)	platform	for	scholarly	pub-
lishing in South Africa and on the African continent. The SciELO SA Collection is a full-text searchable data-
base of selected, high-quality open access South African scholarly journals. The purpose of the collection 
is to raise global visibility and the indexability of South African research. 

Since its inception in 2009 the collection has grown to 82 titles with 34 474 articles and 2 138 issues. During 
the last 12 months, four new titles were added to the collection and one title was removed (*). 

Date Articles Issues Titles

1 April 2020 31 176 1 936 79

1 April 2021 34 474 2 138 82 (*)

Percentage Collection Increase: ± 9.5%

The usage of the articles in the platform attests to the value this OA platform offers. Comparative statistics 
show a 22% increase in total views from January 2009 to March 2021, compared to the total views from 
January 2009 to March 2020. (Source: Google Analytics). 

12-month comparison Page visits over 12 months Comparison of total views since 2009

1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 6 216 785 23 million (after ± 10 years)

1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 6 440 113 29.4 million (after ± 11 years)

The usage of the articles in the platform attests to the value this OA platform offers. Since its inception in 
2009 the total number of views of South African open access research via SciELO SA totals almost 23 million 
up from 16,7 million at the end of March 2021. 

The following graph indicates the monthly page views via the platform since 2009. 

Source: Google Analytics

All SciELO journals are included in the Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), https://doaj.org/. The 
DOAJ evaluates open access journals for peer-review practices and ensures that no predatory journals 
are included. 

At the end of 2020, the bi-annual evaluation by the SciELO Network took place to assess whether the 
SciELO SA collection was adhering to the strict publishing best-practice and that all the titles adhere to 
the SciELO Citation Index (which forms part of the Web of Knowledge (WoK) search portal) criteria about 
publishing according to the stated periodicity. The collection was awarded a score of 95%. The next as-
sessment will be at the end of May 2021. 
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The continent and country metrics for accesses to articles and texts via SciELO SA for the period April 2020 
to March 2021 are as follows:

Continents % of all the usage during this period Top 10 Countries % of all the usage during this period

Africa 53% south Africa      35% 

North America 15% United states      16%

Asia 14% India       5%

Europe 11% Philippines      4%

Oceania 4% United kingdom      4%

south America 3% Nigeria      3.2%

Australia      2.4%

kenya      2.1%

Canada      2%

Zimbabwe      1.5%

Role in improving the implementation of international publishing best-practice.

Following the new best-practice criteria introduced by the SciELO Network, the SciELO SA team has been 
focusing on enabling SciELO SA journals to implement this new criteria.  To this effect the SPP’s Scholarly 
Publishing Resources webpage was populated with entries on FAQs: https://sites.google.com/view/as-
saf-scholarly-pub-resources/scielo-sa?authuser=0.

The regular interaction with the DHET University Research Policy and Support staff is contributing towards 
more cooperation and a more aligned strategy concerning quality scholarly publishing. 

ASSAf Khulisa Journals

The Khulisa Journals platform currently hosts 11 scholarly journals. An ASSAf Khulisa Journals Working Group 
was established to provide more structure and direction in terms of how the platform is managed and 
maintained, supported by a Terms of Reference, policies, and procedures. 

The agreement with KnowledgeArc as a service provider came to an end and where the Khulisa Journals 
Platform was previously hosted on an Amazon Web Services server, it is now managed and hosted on an 
ASSAf managed Xneelo server.

The annual Khulisa Journal Editors’ meeting took place on 22 July 2020. 

Khulisa Journals can be accessed at https://journals.assaf.org.za/

3.3.4 OUTCOME 4: Facilitating Partnerships

Objective: Strengthen national, regional and international partnerships and create new ones.

ASSAf activities among national, regional and international partners

Through partnership working, the Academy engaged in the following range of activities and projects with 
organisations in SA, on the continent and internationally.

Engagements as a member academy of the IAP

UNESCO Open Science Recommendation 

During the 40th UNESCO General Conference in November 2019, UNESCO’s 193 Member States requested 
that UNESCO lead a global consultation on Open Science to develop globally-agreed norms and stan-
dards in the form of a UNESCO Recommendation on Open Science. As part of the consultation process, 
UNESCO requested IAP and other science organisations to contribute input to inform the Recommenda-
tion. ASSAf was represented in the ad hoc international working group, compiling a response on behalf of 
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IAP. The published IAP response can be accessed at:
https://www.interacademies.org/publication/iap-input-unesco-open-sciencerecommendation 

Co-chair to IAP Predatory Journals project 

Launched in May 2020, this IAP study is gauging the extent and impact of predatory practices, identifying 
their root causes, and reviewing efforts to combat them. Recommendations will be made to key stake-
holder communities whose actions are imperative in combatting these practices, including the research 
community itself, open access and traditional publishers, research funders, administrators and policymak-
ers. ASSAf is represented by Mrs Susan Veldsman, Director of Scholarly Publishing Programme at the Acad-
emy.

IAP Urban Health Working Group 

Dr Kristy Langermann continued to represent ASSAf in this working group as it deliberates on COVID-19 
related activities. 

IAP Biosecurity Working Group 

Prof Iqbal Parker was nominated to IAP as the ASSAf representative. Prof Iqbal Parker, Chair of the Standing 
Committee	on	Biosafety	and	Biosecurity,	is	the	official	ASSAf	representative	in	the	IAP	Biosecurity	Working	
Group (BWG). The BWG’s terms of reference are aligned with some of the Standing Committee’s objec-
tives and we look forward to meaningful and fruitful engagements.

Strengthening partnerships with other academies

Operationalisation of the Kingdom of Eswatini Academy of Sciences (KEAS) 

ASSAf	participated	in	a	meeting	during	July	2020	led	by	officials	from	the	National	Academy	of	Science	in	
Eswatini and the founding members. The meeting was a brain storming session to enable KEAS to kick start 
various activities that would enable its visibility to be raised in the country, raise funding, and identify new 
members.

Botswana Academy of Sciences Grant Application 

ASSAf endorsed and supported a successful grant application from the Botswana Academy of Sciences 
(BAS) in response to the call for applications under the NASAC-IAP capacity building grant scheme. The 
grant application which was submitted to NASAC at the end of August 2020 proposed a project titled Ad-
vancing women’s participation in science communication which will be implemented by BAS in partner-
ship with the OWSD Botswana Chapter with the aim of taking a data-driven approach to track women’s 
participation in various platforms. An online survey will be conducted wherein the challenges in science 
communication faced by women will be investigated. Following the online survey, webinars that build 
capacity in science communication will be conducted in collaboration with ASSAf. 

Survey: National Academies of Science in the SADC Region: Responses to COVID-19 

ASSAf conducted a survey in July 2020 among the national academies of science in the SADC region. 
The survey sought to document and report on academy capacity and undertaking of activities related 
to COVID-19 to prove the value-add of academies to their respective countries in dealing with matters of 
national and global importance. The survey was disseminated to the national academies of science in 
Botswana, eSwatini, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mozambique, Tanzania, Zambia, Zimbabwe and the national 
young academies in South Africa, Tanzania, and Zimbabwe. Responses to the survey were received from 
all academies except Madagascar and Mauritius. 

Webinar on COVID-19 Public Health and Social Measures (PHSM) Implementation: A SADC Region Per-
spective

ASSAf in collaboration with the US NAS undertook a SADC-wide project to disseminate policy briefs that 
were published by Resolve to Save Lives (RTSL), which is a member organisation of Partnership for Evi-
dence-Based Response to COVID-19 (PERC). 
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The	policy	briefs	sought	to	profile	the	regional	and	country-specific	non-pharmaceutical	COVID-19	inter-
ventions aimed at curbing the scourge of the COVID-19 pandemic in Africa. As part of the larger project, 
ASSAf hosted a webinar on 1 October 2020 whose discussions were founded on the policy brief titled 
Public Health and Social Measures Implementation in Africa and it focused on localising the policy brief to 
the context of the SADC region. The webinar was hosted in partnership with academies of science in Bo-
tswana, Eswatini, Mauritius, Zambia and Zimbabwe which also implemented activities as part of the larger 
project. A total of 80 participants mainly from the SADC region participated in the webinar.

NASAC webinar on the response of African science academies to the COVID-19 pandemic 

ASSAf participated in a webinar organised by NASAC on the response of national academies of science 
in Africa to the COVID-19 pandemic. During the webinar held on 22 July 2020, Prof Soodyall represented 
ASSAf and presented on global/regional collaborations to combat COVID-19. 

UK Academy of Medical Sciences

The UK Academy of Medical Sciences (UK AMS) conducted an evaluation of the work they have been 
doing with ASSAf. Since 2016, ASSAf has partnered with the UK Academy of Medical Sciences (UK AMS) in 
policy workshops, funded through the UK’s Global Challenges Research Fund (GCRF).  The UK AMS’ GCRF 
policy workshop project is coming to its conclusion and UK AMS is developing materials and outputs that 
will help bring the project together as a whole. ASSAf, as a valued partner for their workshops in the past, 
will	continue	to	participate	in	this	process	that	deals	with	topics	of	mutual	benefit	to	the	two	academies.

During September 2020, the UK AMS released the summary report from the virtual meetings on Addressing 
the challenge of COVID-19 in low and-middle-income countries (LMICs). South Africa was one of the nine 
participating LMICs with ASSAf being represented by Profs Heidi van Rooyen, Karen Hofman, Quarraisha 
Abdool Karim, Julian May, Priscilla Reddy and Michael Pepper. 

Launch of Lesotho Academy of Science and Technology

On 15 March 2021, Lesotho launched the Lesotho Academy of Science and Technology (LAST) which was 
hosted by the Ministry of Communications, Science and Technology. ASSAf demonstrated its support to 
LAST	through	the	participation	of	its	Executive	Officer,	who	confirmed	her	support	during	the	proceedings.	
Scientists from the Higher Learning Institutions, The National University of Lesotho (NUL), Botho University, 
Lerotholi Polytechnic, and those from the diaspora came together for this landmark event. The academy 
development initiative is supported by   the UN Technology Bank for the Least Developed Countries (UN-
TBLDC) in partnership with the Network of African Science Academies (NASAC).

TWAS-SAREP 

TWAS-SAREP nominated two TWAS Fellows for the 2020 TWAS-CNR Rao Award. The award is targeted at 
TWAS	Fellows	from	the	world’s	Least	Developed	Countries	(LDCs)	who	have	made	significant	contributions	
to global science. TWAS-SAREP has nominated Prof Sabiiti Elly from Uganda and Prof Raoelina Andriamb-
ololona from Madagascar. 

Lindau Nobel Laureate Meetings 

The Lindau Nobel Laureate Meeting is held annually in Lindau, Germany. This year’s meetings had to be 
postponed to 2021 due to the current COVID-19 pandemic. Ten South African young scientists had been 
accepted to attend the interdisciplinary meeting and nine for the economics meeting. For 2020 howev-
er, there was an adapted online programme which combined the topics of the interdisciplinary and the 
economics meetings and gave the young scientists ample opportunities to interact with the other partici-
pants. This online meeting was held from 28 June to 1 July 2020. Similarly, academic partners like ASSAf had 
a chance to interact with the participants through an Expo day organised for 30 June. DSI provides the 
funding for the young scientists to attend this meeting.

Science 20 (S20) Summit hosted by Saudi Arabia 

Prof Himla Soodyall represented the ASSAf President at the virtually held S20 Summit on 26 September 2020. 
The overall theme for this year’s S20 is Foresight: Science for Navigating Critical Transitions, with the intent 
to underline how science can be used as a tool to guide humanity through critical global transitions. The 
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theme was organised in four working streams, namely Future of Health, Circular Economy, Digital Revolu-
tion and Joining the Dots	with	five	ASSAf	Members	participating	in	the	related	working	groups:

Future Health Circular Economy Digital Revolution Connecting the Dots

Prof sabiha Essack (UkZN)
Prof karen Hofman (Wits) Prof Lise korsten (UP) Prof Qing-Guo Wang (UJ) Prof Anastassios Pouris (UP)

ASSAf Scholarly Publishing Programme

The ASSAf Scholarly Publishing Programme continued to engage with international stakeholders through 
membership, serving on committees, various meetings attended, dialogues and more. The international 
networks are key in aligning with international best practice and keeping South Africa and Africa on par 
with scholarly initiatives globally, at the same time representing Africa. Selected international engage-
ments during the past three months included: Crossref; Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ); Invest 
in Open Infrastructure (IOI); Research Organization Registry Community (ROR); and Agence Française de 
Développement (AFD).

Two chapters were co-authored and are to be published as part of the following UNESCO publication:

Book title: Socially Responsible Higher Education: International Perspectives on Knowledge Democracy
2 Chapters:
Saying No to Rankings and Metrics: Scholarly Communication and Knowledge Democracy
Solving Inequity in Scholarly Communication: 4 case studies

COVID-19 Africa Rapid Grant Fund 

The ASSAf secretariat participated in the screening and review processes of the National Research Foun-
dation (NRF) facilitated COVID-19 Africa Rapid Grant Fund applications. The Fund (launched In May 2020) 
was established to address research questions and implement science engagement activities associated 
with the COVID-19 pandemic. 

World Health Organization Dialogue Series 

Prof Keymanthri Moodley (SU) represented ASSAf in the World Health Organization’s (WHO) Dual use life 
sciences research of concern (DUR/C) Dialogue with Academies and Councils. Prof Moodley participated 
in	the	first	of	the	Dialogue	series	which	took	place	on	6	July	2020.		

Memorandum of Understanding signed by ASSAf and the South African National Space Agency (SANSA)

ASSAf and SANSA signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) on 7 October 2020 to establish joint col-
laboration	activities	that	ensure	policy	formulation	is	scientific	and	evidence-based,	and	that	science	en-
gagement is advanced to increased science awareness in our communities. This collaboration is a result 
of both DSI entities endeavouring to increase the reach and impact of their respective work in the country. 

Committee of Heads of Organisations for Research and Technology (COHORT)

ASSAf continued to provide secretariat services to COHORT, which includes hosting meetings and work-
shops as directed by the Executive Committee (EXCO) of COHORT. During the reporting period, the CO-
HORT EXCO met once, and one plenary meeting was held.  A DSI-COHORT Bilateral meeting, convened 
by the Director-General, Dr Phil Mjwara, was held during which COHORT members provided input on the 
DSI Decadal Plan priorities and intervention as a stakeholder within the NSI.

DSI Entities District Development Model Coordinating Committee meeting

ASSAf drafted an addendum to the current IID contract with DSI to extend the scope of work to include, 
the District Development Model (DDM) project, Smart Cities project and Sector Policy research. 
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The DDM Coordinating Committee held two meetings during the period under review (14 December 2020 
and a follow-up meeting on 22 January 2021). ASSAf is the secretariat for the DSI Entities DDM Coordinating 
Committee, a Committee created to coordinate the reporting of DDM projects conducted by DSI Enti-
ties in districts or municipalities. The DSI Minister will use the report to feedback on the activities to national 
stakeholders and Parliament and how they feed to the DDM One Plan and One Budget.

Civil Society Organisations in Conversation with Science: Synergies aimed at addressing developmental 
challenges for the societies we serve

Jointly hosted by ASSAf and the DSI on 15 March 2021, the objective of this stakeholder engagement we-
binar was to establish and enhance engagements between civil society organisations (CSOs) and ASSAf 
with the aim of identifying avenues to address the various challenges that South African societies face 
daily.
The strong links that CSOs have with the communities at grassroots level and the access that the Academy 
has to the country’s best scientists and evidence-based information, demonstrates that ASSAf and CSOs 
can	work	together	for	mutual	benefit	and	most	importantly	for	the	benefit	of	the	South	African	population.

SALGA-ASSAf Seminar: Building cohesion on the shared values and Local Government Research Agenda

On 31 March 2021, ASSAf hosted a meeting with representatives from the South African Local Govern-
ment	Association	(SALGA).	All	parties	committed	to	continue	a	bilateral	partnership	to	1)	refine	ASSAf’s	
policy brief on managing multiple forms of crises by local government and 2) assist SALGA in raising 
awareness of the challenges faced by municipalities. 
                    
3.3.5 OUTCOME 5: Scholarship Support

Objective: To promote human capital development investment focusing on women scientists and young 
scientists.

Collaborations with and strengthening of African science academies

African Scientists Directory 

This database consists of biographical details of African scientists working in science, technology, innova-
tion, and more, across all disciplines (https://africanscientists.africa/). Launched on 25 May 2020 during 
Africa	Day,	it	was	developed	in	partnership	with	ISC	ROA	and	funded	by	the	DSI.	 It	aims	to	benefit	the	
continent as a whole, at the same time advancing collaboration with countries and scientists globally. 

The purpose of the African Scientists Directory (ASD) is to identify and mobilise African scientists in the 
natural and social sciences, humanities, engineering, and mathematics as well as technology; and to 
advance the sustainable and socio-economic development of individual African countries and the con-
tinent at large. 

Currently	4,742	individuals	globally	subscribe	to	the	repository,	and	1,527	African	scientists’	profiles	were	
reviewed	and	successfully	published	this	far.	270	new	profiles	are	pending	review.	The	profiles	of	scientists	
indicate that the majority (486) are aged between 41-50. The vast majority hold PhDs (817), of which 658 
are	Professors.	 The	majority	of	 scientists	with	profiles	are	 from	Southern	Africa,	 followed	by	West	Africa.	
Scientists from 39 African countries are registered on the directory, with the top countries, South Africa 
followed by Nigeria.

Breakdown of subscriptions according to sciences:

Life Sciences & Biomedicine (866 scientists)
Technology (396)
Social Sciences (387)
Physical Sciences (378)
Arts & Humanities (90)
 



   ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  57

Development of young scientists

Book Launch: Lindau Nobel Laureate Meetings - Narratives from South Africa

In partnership with DSI, the Academy launched the Lindau Nobel Laureate Meetings Book - South African 
Alumni Narratives, a publication that records the narratives by South African young scientists who have 
participated at the prestigious Lindau Nobel Laureate meetings. Speakers from the DSI, ASSAf and alumni 
of the Lindau meetings, emphasised the vitality of this collaborative project and the opportunities it pro-
vides for South African young scientists with a target to reach more women and more black scientists from 
historically disadvantaged institutions. The event also celebrated the milestones achieved by this collabo-
rative project and showcased the future prospects thereof.

Rewarding excellence of scholars

Science-for-Society Gold Medal Awards 2020

ASSAf’s prestigious Science-for-Society Gold Medal awards were instituted to recognise outstanding sci-
entific	achievements	in	the	service	of	society.	Each	year	up	to	two	Science-for-Society	Gold	Medals	are	
awarded. Provision is made for awarding, on an irregular basis, a Gold Medal for Outstanding Meritorious 
Service, of which only two have been awarded to date.

This year the awards were presented to Prof Tshilidzi Marwala, Vice-Chancellor: UJ and Prof Leila Patel, the 
DSI/NRF South African Research Chair in Welfare and Social Policy, and Professor of Social Work, UJ. The 
awardees were presented their awards at ASSAf’s virtual Annual Awards Ceremony held on 14 October 
2020. 

TWAS Regional Award 2020

The successful candidate for the 2020 award is Dr Segnet Kelemu (Ethiopian, currently based in Kenya) 
who	fulfilled	all	the	specified	eligibility	criteria.	The	award	seeks	to	honour	an	outstanding	scientist/candi-
date	who	has	played	key	roles	in	the	establishment	of	lively	scientific	institutions	and	who	has	significantly	
expanded the activities of established institution(s) in the developing world. 
 
SAYAS Blogging Competition 2021

Led by former SAYAS Co-chair, Prof Roula Inglesi-Lotz, SAYAS disseminated a call for the 2021 Blogging 
Competition,	open	to	postgraduate/doctorate	students	from	any	research	field	 in	or	from	South	Africa	
who	are	enthusiastic	about	expressing	themselves	and	sharing	their	 thoughts	on	scientific	occurrences	
and	opinions	on	topical	issues	through	writing	on	a	scientific	blog.	77	were	received,	a	significant	increase	
(108%) from the previous competition round. The following candidates were elected as the 2021 SAYAS 
bloggers:

APPLICANT INSTITUTION FIELD GENDER QUALIFICATION

keith Ncube                           UP Pharmacology Male PhD – in progress

Devina Junck                         UCT social Anthropology Female PhD – in progress

Mauro Lourenco                    Wits Geography & Environmental studies Male PhD – in progress

Ditshego Masete                   University of Venda (UNIVEN) Media studies Male PhD – in progress

Nominations of SAYAS members to Letten Prize Board

SAYAS nominated two of its members, Prof Sudesh Sivarasu (SAYAS EXCO) and Prof Jennifer Fitchett for 
consideration as new members for the Letten Prize Board. 

Prof Jennifer Fitchett was successfully appointed by the Letten Foundation and the Young Academy of 
Norway as a Letten Prize Committee Member for 2021. She will be working together with other committee 
members from Canada, Ethiopia, India, Norway and South Korea who are recognised experts within the 
fields	of	health,	development,	environment	and/or	equality	in	all	aspects	of	human	life.	
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The Letten Prize is a collaboration between the Letten Foundation, The Young Academy of Norway and 
the Centre for Development and the Environment (University of Oslo) and the purpose of the prize ‘is to rec-
ognise	younger	researchers’	contributions	in	the	fields	of	health,	development,	environment	and	equality	
in all aspects of human life’. The appointment of Prof Fitchett offers the opportunity for a new strategic and 
collaborative project worth SAYAS’ interest in the quest for working with more young academies globally.

Nomination of TWAS Young Affiliates to TWAS-SAREP Workshop

TWAS-SAREP	selected	five	young	scientists	from	the	TWAS	Young	Affiliates	programme	from	Science	and	
Technology Lagging Countries to participate in the TWAS-Arab Regional Partner (AREP) Young Scientists 
Training Programme: Challenges and Opportunities facing Researchers in the Age of Pandemic workshop, 
that took place virtually on 8 and 9 December 2020.

ASSAf Humanities Book Award 

Prof Charles van Onselen was awarded the 2020 ASSAf Humanities Book Award for his book titled The Night 
Trains: Moving Mozambican Miners to and from South Africa, circa 1902-1955.

The Awards Committee found the book to be an outstanding example of humanist scholarship:  engaged, 
humane and displaying all the qualities of sharpness, insight and balance that embodies the work of criti-
cal and engaged academic thinking at its best.

ASSAf awards this prize bi-annually to a scholarly publication that made a noteworthy contribution to de-
veloping a new understanding and insight of a topic in the Humanities, Social Sciences, or the Performing 
Arts. This year ASSAf received 35 nominations with the publication dates limited to 2017, 2018 and 2019. 

2020 TWAS-SAREP Regional Young Scientists Award

The successful candidate for the 2020 award is Associate Professor BA Birindwa from the Democratic Re-
public	of	Congo	(DRC)	who	fulfilled	all	the	specified	eligibility	criteria.

The	award	recognises	outstanding	scientists/candidates	who	have	played	key	roles	and	made	significant	
contributions	to	providing	scientific	advice	to	government	on	the	best	practices	to	deal	with	disasters/
pandemics etc in the developing world.

Member engagement and Member profiling

In recognition for excellence, the achievements, and accolades of the ASSAf Members are recognised 
and	profiled	on	the	Academy’s	website	and	social	media	platforms.

3.3.6 OUTCOME 6: Supporting Transformation

Objective: Ensuring organisational and Membership transformation with respect to inclusion across gen-
der, race, disciplines, and institutions.

Transforming the Membership of the Academy

ASSAf Membership Elections 2020

Thirty-one new ASSAf Members were elected and inaugurated in October 2020:  

•	  Prof Lucy Allais is Professor of Philosophy at Wits; Director: Wits Centre for Ethics and Henry Allison Chair 
of the History of Philosophy, University of California.

•	  Prof Roumen Anguelov is the Head of the Department of Mathematics and Applied Mathematics at UP.
•	  Prof Linda-Gail Bekker is a physician-scientist who, as Deputy Director, co- leads the Desmond Tutu HIV 

Centre	at	UCT	and	is	also	the	Chief	Operations	Officer	and	Director	of	the	Desmond	Tutu	HIV	Founda-
tion.

•	  Prof David Bilchitz is full Professor of Human Rights and Constitutional Law at UJ and Director of The South 
African Institute for Advanced Constitutional, Public, Human Rights and International Law (SAIFAC) at 
the same university.

•	 Prof Petra Brysiewicz is full Professor, School of Nursing and Public Health at UKZN.
•	 Prof Linda Chisholm is Professor in the Centre for Education Rights and Transformation at UJ.
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•	 Prof Alan Cornell is Professor of Physics at UJ.
•	  Prof Shakila Dada is Professor and Director: Centre for Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 

UP.
•	  Prof Collet Dandara is Professor: Division of Human Genetics, Department of Pathology & Institute of 

Infectious Diseases and Molecular Medicine, UCT.
•	  Prof Amaboo (Ames) Dhai is Visiting Professor of Bioethics and Health Law at the School of Clinical Med-

icine, Wits.
•	  Prof Anthony Figaji is a full Professor of Neurosurgery at UCT and holds the only DST/NRF SARChI Chair 

currently occupied by a surgeon.
•	  Prof André Ganswindt is a behavioural endocrinologist, Professor and Director, Mammal Research Insti-

tute, UP.
•	  Prof Thirumala Govender is Head: NanoHealth Pillar, UKZN and Specialist Evaluator at the South African 

Health Products Regulatory Authority (SAHPRA).
•	  Prof Sheryl Hendriks is Head of Department for Agricultural Economics, Extension and Rural Develop-

ment, UP.
•	 Prof George Janelidze is Professor of Mathematics at UCT.
•	  Prof Tien-Chien Jen is Professor and Head of Department: Mechanical Engineering Science at UJ. He is 

also Director: UJ-Nanjing Tech Joint Research Centre.
•	  Prof Lizette Koekemoer is Co-Director: Wits Research Institute for Malaria and Research Professor at the 

same university.
•	  Prof Janice Limson is Professor in Biotechnology at Rhodes University and holds the DSI/NRF South African 

Research Chair (Biotechnology Innovation & Engagement).
•	 Prof Marlize Lombard is Professor and Chair of Archaeology at the UJ Palaeo-Research Institute.
•	  Prof Johnny Mahlangu is Head of the School of Pathology at Wits as well as Clinical Haematologist at 

the Charlotte Maxeke Academic Johannesburg Hospital and NHLS.
•	 Prof Felix Maringe is full Professor in Higher Education and Head of the School of Education at Wits.
•	  Prof Johannes Meyer is Senior Professor and Head of the Department of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 

UFS.
•	 Prof Kavilan Moodley is Full Professor and Director: Astrophysics Research Centre at UKZN.
•	  Prof Caroline Ncube holds a SARChI Chair in Intellectual Property (IP), Innovation and Development, 

UCT.
•	  Prof Mpiko Ntsekhe is the Helen and Morris Mauerberger Professor and Chair of Cardiology at UCT and 

Head of the Cardiac Clinic at Groote Schuur Hospital.
•	 Prof Innocent Pikirayi is Deputy Dean for Postgraduate Studies and Research Ethics, UP.
•	 Prof Christa Rautenbach is full Professor in the Faculty of Law, NWU.
•	  Prof Guy Richards is Emeritus Professor Departments of Critical Care and Pulmonology, Charlotte Max-

eke Johannesburg Academic Hospital and Wits.
•	 Prof Hussein Solomon is Senior Professor in the Department of Political Studies and Governance, UFS.
•	  Prof Linda Theron is an educational psychologist by training and is full Professor in the Department of 

Educational Psychology, Faculty of Education, UP and an Extraordinary Professor in Optentia Research 
Focus Area, NWU.

•	  Prof Ambroise Wonkam is a Professor of Medical Genetics, Director of GeneMAP (Genetic Medicine of 
African Populations), and Deputy Dean Research at the Faculty of Health Sciences, UCT.

Appointment of Honorary Foreign Associates

The appointment of three Honorary Foreign Associates in terms of ASSAf Regulation 11, brings the total 
Membership of ASSAf to 594. 

The newly elected Foreign Associates are:

•	  Prof James Gibson, Sidney W. Souers Professor of Government, Washington University (St. Louis, US) 
and Extraordinary Professor, Stellenbosch University

•	  Prof Mahouton Norbert Hounkonnou, Full Professor of Mathematics and Physics at the University of Abom-
ey-Calavi, Republic of Benin and President of Benin National Academy of Sciences, Arts and Letters

•	  Prof Lehana Thabane, Interim Chair: Department of Health Research, Evidence & Impact, McMaster 
University (Ontario, Canada)

The percentage of black Members has improved by 2%, from 31% in the previous reporting period to 33% 
and the percentage of women Members has improved by 1%, from 27% to 28%. The Academy will con-
tinue to improve on its Membership transformation efforts with respect to inclusion across gender, race, 
disciplines, and institutions.
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72%

28%

ASSAf Members by Gender

Male
Female

ASSAf Members by Race

33%

67%

White
Black

The apportionment of Membership by discipline is shown below.
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The full list of ASSAf Members is available on www.assaf.org.za.  

The apportionment of Membership by institution is shown below. ASSAf Members by Institutions (n: 594)
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New SAYAS members and new Executive Committee 2020

SAYAS hosted its annual on-boarding ceremony of SAYAS members on 13 October 2020. The on-boarding 
meeting is an introductory meeting for new members and the Executive Committee and also serves as an 
induction for new members. The keynote address was given by SAYAS Alumnus, Prof Aliza le Roux.

The newly elected SAYAS members were formally inaugurated at the ASSAf Award Ceremony on 14 Oc-
tober 2020:

	y Prof Aletta Millen is Associate Professor in the School of Physiology, Wits.
	y  A/Prof Dustin van der Haar is Associate Professor at the UJ’s Academy of Computer Science and Soft-

ware Engineering.
	y  Prof Emma C Lubaale is Associate Professor in the Faculty of Law at RU and holds an NRF Y2 Rating.
	y  Dr Hlumani Ndlovu is a Senior Lecturer in the Division of Chemical & Systems Biology, Faculty of Health 

Sciences, UCT and holds an NRF Y Rating.
	y  Prof Jennifer Fitchett is Associate Professor of Physical Geography, School of Geography, Archaeology 

and Environmental Studies at the Wits and holds an NRF Y1 Rating.
	y  Dr Lembe Magwaza is Associate Professor, School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences,  

UKZN and holds an NRF Y2 Rating.
	y  A/Prof Mmaki E. Jantjies is Associate Professor in the Department of Information Systems, UWC.
	y  Dr Olanrewaju Oladimeji is Senior Lecturer/Epidemiologist, Department of Public Health, Faculty of 

Health Sciences at WSU.
	y  Prof Sarah Skeen is Co-Director and Associate Professor, Institute for Life Course Health Research, De-

partment of Global Health, SU.
	y  Dr Vhahangwele Masindi is Research Scientist at Magalies Water, Research Fellow at Unisa and a part-

time Lecturer at the UNIVEN.

The	new	SAYAS	Executive	Committee	was	confirmed	during	the	Annual	General	Assembly,	hosted	virtually	
on 14 October 2020. The 2020 SAYAS Executive Committee Members and New Co-Chairs are: SAYAS Co-
Chairs, Prof Willie Chinyamurindi and Dr Marizvikuru Manjoro, and the other three exco members are Prof 
Sudesh Sivarasu; Dr Keagan Pokpas and Prof Nhlanhla Mpofu.

Promoting women and gender in science

International Development Research Centre (IDRC) project on Eliminating Barriers to Women’s Participa-
tion in Science: A Study of the African Research Universities Alliance 

ASSAf participated in a session led by the IDRC on consideration of intersectionality in research projects. 
The session was facilitated by Prof Susan Spronk from the School of International Development and Global 
Studies at the University of Ottawa. 

In addition, ASSAf applied for ethical clearance from all the six South African universities that will be stud-
ied as part of the project and which was granted from UCT and RU. Country clearance to undertake the 
project was also applied for from Ethiopia, Kenya, and Tanzania and follow ups are still ongoing for the 
application procedure that needs to be followed for Rwanda. 

GenderInSITE Africa Regional Focal Point 

GenderInSITE Africa regional focal point has launched a short video of the Gendered Innovations: Case 
Studies from Africa (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vLm2hbIr-yo&feature=youtu.be). 

To promote the importance of gendered innovation, this case studies project aimed to identify and show-
case case studies from the African continent that demonstrate either the positive impacts of gendered in-
novation or the negative consequences when gender is not considered. The case study featured, promot-
ing the consumption of Amaranth (African Leafy Vegetable) in a selected community of the North-west 
province of South Africa focuses on raising awareness of the nutrition it provides as a food to communities 
and how women and girls can be empowered through and generation of an income from the farming 
activities.
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OWSD SA Membership 

The OWSD SA Membership has increased from 350 members at the end of June 2020 to 361 members. 

OWSD SA Members celebration – Women’s Day 

OWSD SA celebrated its members for Women’s Day by designing a poster showcasing twelve members 
along with quotes of what inspires them as women. This poster was shared via the OWSD SA Facebook 
page on 10 August 2020. 

ASSAf Women Celebration – Celebrating the ASSAf secretariat 

ASSAf celebrated its women secretariat staff members for Women’s Month by designing a poster show-
casing twelve staff members along with quotes of what inspires them as women. This poster was shared via 
the ASSAf Facebook page as well as shared internally on 12 August 2020.

UP Women in Science Symposium 

The Vice-Chancellor and Principal of UP, Prof Tawana Kupe, hosted UP’s second annual Women in Sci-
ence Symposium on 19 August 2020. Prof Himla Soodyall participated as one of the speakers of the event 
addressing matters around the work of ASSAf and advancing women in science. 

South African Women in Science Awards (SAWiSA) Webinar Series 

DSI partnered with OWSD SA; Black Women in Science (BWIS) and Nka’Thuto EduPropeller to jointly host 
a webinar series that celebrated women’s achievements in science and engaged on challenges limiting 
the participation and success of women in science and research. The webinar series featured previous 
SAWiSA award winners, who talked about where they are now (“Ba Kae”) in their research work and en-
gaged	on	specific	topics	related	to	the	participation	and	experiences	of	women	in	science,	research	and	
innovation. 

The following two webinars were hosted on 26 August 2020 and 23 September 2020, respectively: Covid-19 
and its implications on women, and Modern mentoring in focus: supporting women’s science careers. 

South African Women in Science Webinar Series: Tackling Gender-based Violence: Towards an Enabling 
Science and Research Environment

Held on 21 October 2020, this webinar brought together a panel representing research leaders, policymak-
ers, and students to contribute to ongoing discussions on building an enabling environment in research 
and science where women, girls and gender non-binary people can thrive. It focused on experiences of 
postgraduate students with regard to gender-based violence at higher education institutions; research 
and research gaps regarding gender-based violence in the higher education and research environment; 
and policy measures in place to tackle gender-based violence at institutions.

South African Women in Science Awards Webinar Series and Women in Innovation and the launch of the 
Women in Science, Engineering and Technology Organisation – South African (WISETO-SA) chapter

The	Deputy	Minister	of	Higher	Education,	Science	and	Innovation,	Mr	Buti	Manamela,	opened	this	final	
South African Women in Science Awards (SAWiSA) webinar on 25 November 2020 under the theme, Wom-
en in Innovation as well as the Launch of the Women in Science, Engineering and Technology Organisa-
tion - South Africa (WISETO-SA).

The SAWiSA webinar focused on women’s contributions to innovation, their experiences, and the role that 
women technology entrepreneurs can play in local innovation ecosystems. The webinar also marked the 
launch of the Women in Science, Engineering and Technology Organisation - South African (WISETO-SA) 
chapter, which will coordinate all women in science activities in the national system of innovation. The 
Southern African Development Community (SADC) Charter on Women in Science, Engineering and Tech-
nology was signed in June 2018.  The Charter requires all SADC member states to establish national women 
in science, engineering and technology chapters.
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Science Communication Training Workshops

OWSD SA partnered with The Conversation Africa (TC Africa), to conduct two two-hour science commu-
nication	training	workshops.	The	workshops	specifically	 targeted	OWSD	SA	members	and	OWSD	Africa	
Chapters Executive Committee members and was designed to be interactive sessions. These workshops 
focused	on	how	researchers	could	best	communicate	research	findings	and	insights	to	non-academic	
audiences. The workshops equipped researchers with the skills of how to establish the key message when 
writing for non-academic audiences and how to successfully pitch and be published in The Conversation. 
These were hosted on 4 November 2020 and 2 December 2020, respectively.

Webinar on African Women in Science Leadership

The webinar on African Women in Science Leadership	was	held	on	29	October	2020,	the	first	in	the	series	
and was structured as an exploratory discussion based on GenderInSITE’s 2018 published report, Pathways 
to Success: Bringing a Gender Lens to the Scientific Leadership of Global Challenges.	The	report’s	findings	
and recommendations were presented by Prof Roseanne Diab, Director, GenderInSITE followed by discus-
sions in breakout groups of barriers and enablers that should be considered in supporting African women’s 
pathways	to	success	in	scientific	leadership.	Participants	were	drawn	from	various	African	and	overseas	
countries including Benin, Cameroon, Ghana, Kenya, Namibia, Nigeria, Senegal, South Africa, Sudan, Tan-
zania, Tunisia, Zimbabwe, Germany, Italy, and the USA.

Webinar on Crafting Solutions to Create Successful Pathways for African Women in Science

Following	on	from	the	first	webinar	which	identified	barriers	and	enablers	in	African	women’s	pathways	to	
success	in	scientific	leadership,	the	second	webinar	was	held	on	30	November	2020	by	GenderInSITE	in	
collaboration with START (supporting African women in leadership). This webinar was hosted as a session of 
the Gender Summit 18 which was organised by the African Institute of Mathematical Sciences and Portia. 
The event was structured as a discussion to explore mentorship as an overarching capacity building and 
strengthening	intervention	in	finding	solutions	to	the	challenges	or	amplifying	the	reach	and	influence	of	
enablers. Participants were drawn from Kenya, Cameroon, South Africa, USA, and Ghana.

3.4  Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

A summary of the ASSAf performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements for the 
2020/2021 reporting period for the different strategic objectives is presented in Table 2.

The Academy has managed to deliver on most of its annual targets across all six outcomes and in several 
instances ASSAf has performed above the projected target. Working virtually has afforded ASSAf the op-
portunity to host many more activities without having to cater for travel, hiring of venues and other hospi-
tality costs. ASSAf continues to address and respond to the many challenges the COVID-19 pandemic has 
spurned nationally and globally.

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance

Despite improving on and achieving the desired 2% increase of black Members, ASSAf did not achieve its 
target of increasing its percentage of women Members in Quarter 3. ASSAf will continue to improve on its 
transformation	efforts	to	attain	this	target.	Virtual	road	shows	are	planned	for	the	2021/2	financial	year	to	
improve	in	on	these	figures.

Linking performance with budgets

These are presented in the budget statements.
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Table 2: Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Outcome 1: Independent, authoritative and influential scientific advice

Indicator: Disseminated publications of consensus studies, reports and statements
Strategic objectives: Conduct effective evidence-based multidisciplinary science to inform policy and practice for the bet-
terment of society

Output indicator
Actual 
Performance 
2019/2020

Planned Target
2020/2021

Actual 
Performance 
2020/2021

Deviation from 
planned target to 
Actual Achievement 
for 2020/2021

Comment on deviations 
for 2020/2021

Number of consensus studies 2 2 2 0

Number of proceedings and 
other reports 3 3 8 +5

The virtual engagement 
due to the COVID-19 
pandemic facilitated 
meetings which were 
published as reports

Number of policy-makers 
booklets 1 As requested 0 -1

AssAf did not have any 
planned activity that 
would have resulted in a 
policy-makers booklet

Number of statements 2 2 7 +5

There were several 
national issues which 
encouraged AssAf to 
produce statements, 
including issues related 
to the COVID-19 
pandemic

Outcome 2: Science engagement

Indicator: Public interest and awareness of science and the value of evidence -based research
Strategic objectives: Promotion of public interest and awareness of science, science education and the value of evidence-
based information in growing the knowledge economy

Output indicator
Actual 
Performance 
2019/2020

Planned Target
2020/2021

Actual 
Performance 
2020/2021

Deviation from 
planned target to 
Actual Achievement 
for 2020/2021

Comment on deviations 
for 2020/2021

Number of public lectures 8 4 14 10 Working virtually has 
afforded ASSAf the 
opportunity to host many 
more activities without 
having to cater for travel, 
hiring of venues and 
other hospitality costs. 
As an Academy it is also 
imperative to respond to 
the COVID-19 national/
global crisis.

Number of workshops and 
conferences 2 1 31 +30

Number of newsletters 4 4 4 0

Number of media releases 4 4 23 +19

Outcome 3: Mobilising knowledge

Indicator: Strengthened interaction and access to ASSAf knowledge resources

Strategic objectives: Strengthen interaction and access to ASSAf knowledge resources

Output indicator
Actual 
Performance 
2019/2020

Planned Target
2020/2021

Actual 
Performance 
2020/2021

Deviation from 
planned target to 
Actual Achievement 
for 2020/2021

Comment on deviations 
for 2020/2021

Number of sAJs publications 6 6 7 +1

An unplanned special 
issue was published in 
July to accommodate 
both the volume and 
rapid publication 
of responses to a 
Commentary by Prof N 
Nattrass in the May/June 
issue.

Number of Quest publications 2 4 4 0



   ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  65

New journal titles on sciELO 
platform 9 2 4 +2

Due to a faster 
turnaround time by the 
sciELO Brazil team, the 
creation of information 
pages and upload to 
platform, was completed 
earlier than the planned 
time.

Institutional repository and 
website 4 Varied 19

All publications are 
uploaded on the 
repository; this is the 
result of additional activity 
due to AssAf’s response 
to the pandemic.

Outcome 4: Facilitating partnerships

Indicator: Strengthened and newly created national, Pan-African and international partnerships

Strategic objectives: Strengthen national, regional and international partnerships and create new ones
Output indicator Actual 

Performance 
2019/2020

Planned Target
2020/2021

Actual 
Performance 
2020/2021

Deviation from 
planned target to 
Actual Achievement 
for 2020/2021

Comment on deviations 
for 2020/2021

Number of new activities N/A 1 16 +15 Working virtually has 
afforded ASSAf the 
opportunity to host many 
more activities without 
having to cater for travel, 
hiring of venues and 
other hospitality costs.

Number of new MOU’s N/A 1 1 0

Outcome 5: Scholarship support

Indicator: Developed capacity and capacity amongst young scientists and women scientists

Strategic objectives: To promote human capital development investment focusing on women scientists, young scientists
Output indicator Actual 

Performance 
2019/2020

Planned Target
2020/2021

Actual 
Performance 
2020/2021

Deviation from 
planned target to 
Actual Achievement 
for 2020/2021

Comment on deviations 
for 2020/2021

Number of young scientist 
activities supported

2 2 10 +8 Working virtually has 
afforded ASSAf the 
opportunity to host many 
more activities without 
having to cater for travel, 
hiring of venues and 
other hospitality costs.

Number of activities supported 
for women

2 2 15 +13

Number of AssAf Gold Medals 
awarded

1 2 2 0

Biennial Humanities Book 
Award

0 1 1 0

Outcome 6: Supporting transformation

Indicator: Organisational and Membership transformation with respect to inclusion across gender, race, disciplines and 
institutions.
Strategic objectives: Strengthen national, regional and international partnerships and create new ones
Output indicator Actual 

Performance 
2019/2020

Planned Target
2020/2021

Actual 
Performance 
2020/2021

Deviation from 
planned target to 
Actual Achievement 
for 2020/2021

Comment on deviations 
for 2020/2021

Percentage of black Members N/A 2% of total p.a 2 0
Percentage of women N/A 2% of total p.a 1 -1 The percentage of 

women Members 
increased by 1% in 
Quarter 3. AssAf will 
continue to improve on its 
transformation efforts to 
attain this target.
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3.5 PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: SOUTH AFRICAN ACADEMY OF ENGINEERING (SAAE)

The South African Academy of Engineering (SAAE) provides access to the wealth of knowledge and ex-
perience	of	its	215	members	who	are	eminent	practitioners	from	all	engineering	disciplines.	For	the	benefit	
of all people of South Africa and for the technological welfare of the nation, SAAE offers independent, 
evidence-informed advice, while promoting excellence in the science and application of engineering. In 
this	endeavour	the	SAAE	collaborates	with	academic	and	scientific	institutions	which	have	a	similar	mission	
and maintains bilateral and multilateral relations with academies in SA and other countries.

3.5.1 Financial Management

SAAE	receives	financial	support	from	the	DSI	to	fund	its	membership	of	and	participation	in	the	activities	of	
the International Council of Academies of Engineering and Technological Sciences (CAETS) and collabo-
rates with Academies of Engineering in Africa and overseas. ASSAf administrates these funds and provides 
office	facilities	to	SAAE.	Other	activities	of	the	SAAE	and	its	administration	are	funded	by	annual	subscrip-
tion fees paid by its members and by ad hoc sponsorship of special events.

During the past year SAAE undertook the following activities in pursuit of these goals.

3.5.2 Governance

In	accordance	with	the	SAAE	Constitution,	a	new	Executive	Committee	had	to	take	office	after	the	2020	
AGM. On 2 April 2020 Fellows were invited to nominate candidates for the election. Twenty candidates 
were nominated and on 23 April 2020 Fellows were invited to take part in an electronic election which 
closed	on	7	May	2020.		Forty-five	per	cent	of	the	Fellows	took	part	in	the	election.	The	following	ten	persons	
were elected to the Executive Committee for the period 2020 to 2022:

•	 Prof Yunus Ballim, Professor in the School of Civil & Environmental Engineering, Wits
•	  Prof Ian Jandrell, Dean, Faculty of Engineering and the Built Environment, Wits 
•	 Prof Elsabe Kearsley, Professor, Department of Civil Engineering, UP
•	 Prof Alison Lewis, Dean, Faculty of Engineering and the Built Environment, UCT 
•	 Anita Loots, Head: Technical Units, PICC
•	 Dr Hylton Macdonald, Retired Construction Advisor Aveng Ltd and Director of HKM Consulting
•	  Mr Neil Macleod, Retired Head: Water and Sanitation in the eThekwini Municipality and now works as 

a specialist water and sanitation consultant and an Honorary Research Fellow at UKZN
•	 Mr Stanford Mkhacane, Director, Nyeleti Consulting (Pty) Ltd
•	  Dr Christine Render, Retired Executive Manager Engineering at Sasol Technology (Pty) Ltd and current-

ly Consulting Partner at OTC
•	 Prof Wikus van Niekerk, Dean, Faculty of Engineering, US

SAAE’s 104th Executive Meeting took place virtually on 26 May 2020 and the outgoing Executive Commit-
tee appointed Prof Elsabe Kearsley as President and Mr Neil Macleod as Vice President for the next term 
of	office	of	the	Committee.	

In terms of a decision taken at the 2015 Annual General Meeting the 22nd Annual General Meeting of the 
SAAE took place by electronic communication with all members on 25 June 2020. Thirty-six per cent of the 
Fellows took part in the electronic meeting. This was a considerable improvement compared with previous 
years.  

At this meeting, the Annual Report and the audited Financial Statements were accepted, and seven new 
members were elected as Fellows of the Academy. 

SAAE’s 105th Executive Meeting took place virtually on 25 August 2020. The outgoing members and the 
newly elected members of the Executive Committee participated in the meeting. The new Executive 
Committee decided to co-opt the following Fellows to the Committee:

•	 Mr Seetella Makhetha, Director of Makhetha Development Consultants
•	 Mr Hangwani Makwarela, Founder and CEO of Muteo Consulting cc
•	 Mr TC Madikane, Managing Director, Igoda Projects (Pty) Ltd 
•	 Mr Bob Pullen, Consultant and Former President and Treasurer of SAAE
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SAAE’s 106th Executive Meeting took place virtually on 24 November 2020.

SAAE’s 107th Executive Meeting took place virtually on 2 March 2021. 

3.5.3 Activities
 
International Council of Academies of Engineering and Technological Sciences (CAETS)

CAETS Convocation 2020

The 2020 CAETS Convocation was hosted by the National Academy of Engineering of Korea in Seoul from 
12 to 15 October 2020. In the week preceding the Convocation two CAETS Working Groups had meetings. 
On 5 October 2020 SAAE President Prof Elsabe Kearsley and past Exco member Dr Mike Shand attended 
an online meeting of the Communications Working Group and on 7 October 2020 Bob Pullen attended an 
online	meeting	of	the	Education	Working	Group.	The	CAETS	conference	was	presented	in	an	online/offline	
hybrid format which enabled foreign members to stream the meetings via Zoom or live on YouTube. On 
12 October 2020 Prof Yunus Ballim and Mr Seetella Makhetha attended the COVID-19 Special Committee 
meeting and Prof Wikus van Niekerk attended the CAETS Energy Committee Meeting. On 13 October 2020 
Prof Elsabe Kearsley and Mr Bob Pullen attended the Plenary Session. The open sessions which took place 
on 13 and 14 October 2020 and the topics of these sessions were Smart Energy Network, the Hyper-con-
nected Life, Education for Smart Society and Climate change. On 15 October 2020 Prof Kearsley attended 
the Council Meeting. 

CAETS Convocation 2021

The Academy of Engineering of Argentina, which will host the 2021 CAETS Convocation from September 
20 to 23, 2021 in Buenos Aires, has informed SAAE of its decision to carry out the meeting in virtual mode 
due to prolonged uncertainty regarding Covid19. SAAE was invited by the organising committee to pres-
ent proposals for topics.
The National Academy of Technologies of France, which will host the 2022 Convocation, has informed 
SAAE that the meeting was rescheduled from March 2022 to September 26 to 30, 2022.

Nomination of representative on the CAETS Board of Directors

In accordance with the CAETS Rotation Schedule, SAAE was invited to nominate a representative to serve 
a 2-year term (2022-2023) on the CAETS Board of Directors. 

New CAETS Communication Prize

The CAETS Communications Committee has established two annual CAETS Communications Prizes to assist 
member academies to improve the communication of policy, educational initiatives, and the importance 
of engineering and technological sciences in society. The prizes will recognise the best short videos from 
member	academies	in	the	categories	Engineering	Success	Stories	and	High	Potential	Innovations.	The	first	
category will be based on the work of established technological scientists and engineers who are fellows 
of the CAETS member academies, and the second category is open to university/tertiary students or junior 
scientists/engineers with less than 10 years’ work experience since obtaining their last degree. They do not 
need to be Fellows of an Academy, but submissions will need to be submitted via one of the member 
academies. The video should outline a problem, applied solution and successful outcome in terms of ei-
ther economic or public service. SAAE has invited Fellows and students and young scientists and engineers 
to take part and is currently awaiting entries for these prizes.

2020 Hendrik van der Bijl Lecture

The Hendrik van der Bijl Memorial Lecture, which is presented annually by SAAE in collaboration with the 
Faculty of Engineering, Built Environment and Information Technology, UP, was presented virtually on 29 
September	2020.	Mr	Chris	Griffith,	former	CEO	of	Anglo	Platinum,	was	the	speaker	and	the	topic	was	An 
economic recovery strategy for South Africa and the role we can play.



 68  ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  

Academy Lecture

On 24 February 2021 Dr Rob Adam, a Fellow of SAAE, presented the Academy Lecture virtually. The title of 
the lecture was Technology, policy, and politics: critical success factors in high-technology infrastructure 
projects. The lecture was attended by around two hundred people from around the world and was very 
well received.

Members’ discussion groups to formulate evidence-based advice

The SAAE Exco invited all the Fellows to join one or more discussion groups to identify issues or focus areas in 
their	field	that	are	a	priority	in	South	Africa.	The	objective	is	to	develop	evidence-based	material	on	these	
matters to be made available to Government and in the public domain. Five groups, respectively focusing 
on water, energy, transport, engineering education   and   the engineering profession, were formed and 
held virtual meetings. 

The	Water	Sector	Discussion	Group	had	five	meetings	 in	 the	 report	period	and	prepared	four	Advisory	
Notes.  On 27 May 2020 and on 22 June 2020 respectively SAAE sent a letter and Advisory Note 1: Building a 
Better post-COVID Water Sector - Prioritising strategic investments, and Advisory Note 2: The State of water 
services in South African Municipalities	to	the	office	of	President	Ramaphosa	copying	each	of	them	to	the	
relevant Ministers and Government Departments.  On 26 October 2020 a letter and SAAE Advisory Note 
3:  Building a better Post-Covid Water Sector: Municipal Water Losses, was sent to the President of SALGA 
with copies to the President and relevant Ministers and Government Departments.  On 15 February 2021 
Advisory Note 4: The foundation of our water security is eroding – why hydrological information is important 
was	sent	to	the	office	of	President	Ramaphosa	and	copied	to	the	relevant	Ministers	and	Government	De-
partments. These Advisory Notes were made available to the press. 

On 9 July 2020, the Engineering Education Discussion Group held a Mini Symposium on Engineers, Engineer-
ing and Development of the Public Sector in South Africa to address concerns about the declining role 
and	influence	of	engineers	and	engineering	sciences	in	the	public	sector	of	South	Africa.	The	symposium	
was attended by 47 people. 

The	first	meeting	of	the	Energy	Sector	Discussion	Group	took	place	on	31	July	2020.	On	19	March	2021	SAAE	
sent a letter regarding the implementation of the 2019 Integrated Resource Plan to President Ramaphosa.    
 
In reply to the request for comment on the Draft National Implementation Framework toward the Profes-
sionalisation of the Public Service, SAAE sent a letter entitled The Rightful role of the Professional Engineer in 
the Public Service to the Head of the National School of Government on 26 February 2021. This letter was 
prepared by the Engineering Profession Discussion Group. 

During the second virtual meeting of the Transport Sector Discussion Group on 2 November 2020, SAAE Fel-
low, Jack van der Merwe, made a presentation on the establishment of a Transport Authority for Gauteng 
and the impact of COVID-19. 

3.5.4 International Collaboration

Royal Academy of Engineering (RAE)

From 28 April 2019 to 1 May 2019 Mr Bob Pullen attended a meeting in Kigali, Rwanda as guest of the RAE. 
This meeting was convened by the RAE, on behalf of the GCRF in the United Kingdom, as Implementing 
Agent for their Africa Catalyst Initiative (ACI). The ACI is focused on establishing and developing sustain-
able institutions in the engineering professions in sub-Sahara countries. Participants in the meeting were 
representatives of teams who were responsible for projects completed in Phase 1 of the ACI and teams 
who were busy with projects in Phase 2. 

SAAE was also invited by the RAE to take part in a virtual roundtable on 27 July 2019 on International Engi-
neering Responses to COVID-19. National experts from around the world shared knowledge on national 
strategies and solutions for suppressing viral load in indoor spaces. SAAE furthermore took part in a ques-
tionnaire sent out by the RAE on engineering responses to COVID-19.
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Mexican Academy of Engineering

On 23 and 24 November 2020 the Mexican Academy of Engineering hosted an International Congress, 
Engineering and Public Policies. Dr Trueman Goba, SAAE’s past President, represented SAAE in this virtual 
congress.

3.6  PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: INTERNATIONAL SCIENCE COUNCIL REGIONAL OFFICE FOR AFRICA

3.6.1 Governance

The	International	Science	Council	(ISC)	Regional	Office	for	Africa	(ROA)	reports	directly	to	the	ISC	Head	
Office	in	Paris	and	was	hosted	by	ASSAf	until	the	hosting	agreement	ended	on	31	March	2021.	It	receives	
strategic guidance from the Regional Committee for Africa (RCA).

3.6.1.1 Personnel

The	office	was	manned	by	the	following	personnel:
 
 Dr Daniel Nyanganyura :  Regional Director
 Dr Richard LK Glover  :  Programme Specialist
 Ms Nomasomi Gasa  :  Project Coordinator
	 Mr	Bongani	Mahlalela	 :		 Communications	Officer
 Ms Lerato Mmatloa  :  Administrative Assistant (Passed away on 24 October 2020)
 Ms Sibusisiwe Matiya  :  Intern (Resigned September 2020)

3.6.2 Scientific Activities

3.6.2.1 Events organised

Rethinking Human Development: Voices from Sub-Saharan Africa

This webinar, which was held 10 November, was organised in collaboration with the ISC Communications 
team and it was one of the series of dialogues from other parts of the globe that complemented the Glob-
al Relay on Rethinking Human Development.

Science Forum South Africa 2020

The	Office,	 in	collaboration	with	 the	AUC,	 the	Development	and	Outreach,	 Inter-University	 Institute	 for	
Data Intensive Astronomy of the University of Western Cape (UWC) as well as other key actors in the Afri-
can science-policy landscape organised two sessions during the upcoming Science Forum South Africa 
2020. 
y	The	first	session	entitled	Building Capacity for an African Platform for Science Advisors presented the 

work done so far and the plans put in place in preparation for developing the continent’s science ad-
visors’ capacity (through a series of training courses). 

y The second session entitled African Platform for Science Advisors: Developing COVID-19 Policy Respons-
es provided feedback on an ongoing survey of science advisors, which complements two other sur-
veys conducted in 2020 by the International Network for Government Science Advice, Africa Regional 
Chapter [INGSA-Africa], namely the “2020 INGSA-Africa Consensus Study Report - The Evolving Science 
Advisory	Landscape	in	Africa”,	and	the	“2020	Research	Survey	Report	on	the	role	of	Scientific	Knowl-
edge in Policymaking: Scientist and Policymaker Perspectives”. The session also featured a discussion 
on the gap between science and science-informed advice and policy responses to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

African Future Earth Committee

The	Office	organised	(online)	the	6th AFEC meeting (30 April), which was attended by the  Committee 
members as well as representatives of the Global Future Earth Secretariat, Future	Earth	Regional	Office	for	
Southern Africa (FEROSA), and the Department of Science and Innovation. The meeting provided a platform 
for	the	Committee	members,	together	with	other	representatives,	to	finalize	the	regional	Future	Earth	strat-
egy as well as prepare a concrete action plan with short-, medium- and long-term objectives for imple-
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mentation.	This	meeting	also	identified	tasks	that	are	of	high	priority	for	the	Future	Earth	community	on	the	
continent and decide on how best the Committee can continue the working relationship with Future Earth 
Global Secretariat and FEROSA.

The	Office	organised	(online)	the	7th	AFEC	meeting	(13	July	2020),	which	was	attended	by	the	majority	of	
the	Committee	members.	The	meeting	provided	a	platform	for	the	Committee	members,	to	finalise	the	
regional Future Earth strategy as well as prepare a concrete action plan with short-, medium- and long-
term objectives for implementation. In particular, this meeting focused on identifying tasks that are of high 
priority for the Future Earth community in Africa and decided on how best the Committee could produce 
potential projects from the priority areas.

Due	to	the	impending	closure	of	the	Office,	the	Committee	is	currently	lobbying	for	the	potential	hosting	
of AFEC in another African country.

Leading Integrated Research for Agenda 2030 in Africa (LIRA2030) Programme

The	LIRA2030	programme	is	in	its	final	year	of	the	initial	five-year	period.	Since	its	inception,	the	programme	
has funded 28 projects of African early career researchers through funding from Swedish International De-
velopment Cooperation Agency.

A series consisting of three webinars that were held 19, 26 November and 3 December 2020 were held with 
the LIRA grantees.  The webinars, which were co-convened by NASAC and ISC HQ, gave an opportunity 
for grantees to showcase collaborative research projects led by early-career African scientists to advance 
sustainable development across cities in Africa. All projects shared grantees’ experiences in driving collab-
oration among scientists, policy actors, urban practitioners, the private sector, and communities towards 
addressing	specific	societal	challenges	across	African	cities.

3.6.2.2 Events attended

12th Meeting of the Governing Board of the International Science Council (9-10 March 2021)

The	Office	was	invited	to	participate	in	this	Board	meeting	and	gave	an	update	on	the	ISC	ROA	activities,	
the	handover	plan,	and	the	dossier.	The	Board	expressed	its	appreciation	on	the	work	done	by	the	Office.

5th Future Earth Regional Office for Southern Africa Steering Committee Meeting, 23 February 2021

The	Office	attended	 the	meeting	 in	an	ex-officio	capacity.	 The	objectives	of	 the	meeting	were:	 (i)	 to	
take stock of the progress made in the past calendar year and to chart a way forward for activities in the 
2021/2022	financial	year;	 (ii)	 to	provide	 inputs	 to	the	FEROSA	situational	analysis	of	 the	Research	Land-
scape	in	the	Southern	African	Region	and	finalise	the	Plans	for	the	FEROSA	Stakeholder	Platform;	and	(iii)	
to see how FEROSA can collaborate further with AFEC to strengthen Future Earth presence and activities. 

Seventh Session of the Africa Regional Forum on Sustainable Development (26 February – 4 March 2021)

The Forum sought to advance integrated implementation of the 2030 Agenda and Agenda 2063, which 
are mutually reinforcing. This Regional Forum provided a multi-stakeholder platform for follow-up and re-
view of progress and challenges in the implementation of the two agenda, while strengthening learning 
and advocating effective policy measures and actions. It made important contributions for bolstering 
multi-stakeholder engagement and synergies and promoting concerted efforts to implement and achieve 
the development objectives of the two Agendas. ISC ROA’s participation in this Forum included organising 
and being part of the panel of an STI session during the Preparatory and capacity development workshop 
for	Major	Groups	and	other	stakeholders	in	the	Africa	region.	The	Office	also	contributed	to	the	final	state-
ment	by	the	Major	Groups	for	the	seventh	session.	Furthermore,	the	Office	took	part	in	the	Forum	activities	
and contributed during the breakaway sessions.

Represent ISC in the STI Major Group

Office	participated	 (representing	 the	Science	and	Technology	UN	Major	Group)	 in	online	preparatory	
meetings of the Africa Regional Mechanism of the Major Groups and Other Stakeholders, meetings that 
seek to coordinate and facilitate the coherent engagement of Major Groups and consolidate the African 
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Major Groups statement prepared for the High-Level Political Forum (HLPF) held in online in June 2020. The 
Office	also	participated	during	the	HLPF	2020.

The	Office	continued	to	participate	(representing	the	Science	and	Technology	UN	Major	Group)	in	two	on-
line preparatory meetings of the Africa Regional Mechanism of the Major Groups and Other Stakeholders 
that	were	organised	by	the	United	Nations	Economic	Commission	for	Africa.	The	first	meeting	was	in	prepa-
ration	for	the	African	Major	Groups	to	the	High-Level	Political	Forum	held	7	to16	July	2020	–	the	Office	also	
participated	in	this	Forum.	Following	the	Forum,	the	Major	Groups	held	(with	the	Office	participating)	two	
further meetings to consolidate the African position on the implementation of the SDGs on the continent.

Online monthly meetings of the Africa Regional Mechanism of the Major Groups and other Stakeholders 
organised by UNECA, were attended. ISC was represented in the Science and Technology Major Groups. 
The aim of the meeting was to state the African position on the implementation of the SDGs on the conti-
nent and to prepare for participation during the next Africa Regional Forum on Sustainable Development, 
scheduled for early February 2021.

3.6.3 Publications

Book project

The ISC ROA book Climate Variability and Change in Africa: Perspectives, Experiences and Sustainability 
has been published and is on sale online by Springer. The book presents a comprehensive overview of cli-
mate variability and change in Africa and includes impact assessments and case studies from integration 
frameworks, with a particular focus on climate, agriculture and water resources. Richly illustrated, the book 
highlights case studies from western, eastern and southern African region, and explores related develop-
ment policies. Climate change adaptation research, prediction, and reanalysis are also addressed.

Green Synthesis in Nanomedicine and Human Health is an ISC ROA thirteen-chapter book that has been 
commissioned to be published by the CRC Press of Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, Florida, USA. The book 
chapters are under peer review and this process is at an advanced stage. The main objective of this book 
is to showcase green synthesis as an emerging method for deriving nanoparticles from natural plant parts 
to be used in Nanomedicine for promoting human health and wellbeing. The targeted readers are stu-
dents, scientists and practitioners of nanotechnology who might appreciate novel preparation methods 
and characterisation of nanoparticles from natural plant parts and their application towards combating 
communicable, non-communicable and vector-borne diseases as well as antimicrobial resistance. It will 
not only provide details on existing challenges but also attempt to provide steps towards addressing those 
challenges.

The publication of the ISC ROA book on Green Synthesis in Nanomedicine and Human Health by the CRC 
Press is far advanced in progress. The manuscript has been approved and is with the production editor for 
proofing.	It	is	due	to	come	out	of	press	by	March	2021.	

Another book on Food and Nutrition Security in	Africa	has	been	published.	The	Office	is	arranging	to	pur-
chase twenty copies, in addition to free copies under the contractual agreement.

The book on Green Synthesis in Nanomedicine and Human Health. Will be published by March 2021 as 
planned. Due to the slow pace of development of the manuscript for the book on Energy Technology and 
Utilization in Africa: Challenges and Successes, it was decided to terminate its publication.

3.6.4 Other

African Scientists Directory

The	Office	teamed	up	with	ASSAf	to	develop	an	African	scientists	database	into	an	online	platform	-	Afri-
can	Scientists	Directory.	This	platform,	which	is	a	legacy	project	of	the	Office,	aims	to	benefit	individual	sci-
entists, science organizations and more – on national, regional and global levels, and enable the science 
community on the continent to improve connectivity, foster collaboration, build trust and increase impact. 
The	African	Scientists	Directory	is	very	relevant	during	this	COVID-19	pandemic	and	future	crises	as	it	profiles	
a number of eminent virologists.
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The directory was successfully launched during the Africa Day Celebrations 2020 and has since attracted 
over 2000 scientists.

The African Scientists Directory (ASD) continues to grow in terms of enlistment and number of visits. Several 
organisations	and	institutions	have	expressed	an	interest	in	collaborating/partnering	with	the	Office	and	
ASSAf on the project which has become very useful during the COVID-19 pandemic and has attracted 
much attention locally and continentally. Discussions are ongoing to sign Memoranda of Understanding 
(MOUs) with some of the potential partners such as the International Centre for Genetic Engineering and 
Biotechnology	(ICGEB).	The	Office	supported	the	services	of	a	Data	Capturer	who	worked	with	the	ASD	
technical team (for three months ending mid-September).

With the resignation of Ms Sibusisiwe Matiya, the intern from ISC ROA who was assisting with this responsibil-
ity, arrangements have been put in place for Ms Bongiwe Zwane of ASSAf to step in as a data capturer.  
With the imminent closure of the ISC ROA, the project will be handed over to ASSAf but with an option for 
the new ISC Africa Branch/Champion to join (after its launch).

Capacity Development Initiatives

Establishment of a Platform and Training Course for Science Advisors to Ministers: This project seeks to set-
up a permanent platform of credible group of science advisors to Ministers of all or most of the 54 African 
nations, and build science advisors capacity to respond to socio-economic challenges and crises (such as 
the COVID-19 pandemic) through science, technology and innovation solutions. A concept note for this 
initiative has	been	developed	by	the	Office	and	was	accepted	by	the	main	partners	(the	University	of Western 
Cape and the Development in Africa with Radio Astronomy project led by the University of Leeds School of 
Physics) with no changes. We have embarked on creating a list/database of science advisors to Ministers 
in Africa.

Training Manual on Science Communication for Journalists in Africa: This is an initiative to develop a train-
ing manual on science communication to build the capacities of journalists on the communication of 
credible,	 legitimate	and	salient	 scientific	 facts.	 This	 is	a	collaborative	 initiative	between	the	Office	and	
UNESCO	Nairobi	Office	–	a	concept	note	has	been	developed	to	this	effect	and	we	are	exploring	suitable	
partner(s) to develop the course content.

Establishment of African Platform for Science Advisors and Capacity Building Programme: This project, 
which is a joint initiative of ISC ROA and the African Union Commission (AUC) seeks to set up a permanent 
platform of science advisors to STI Ministers of all or most of the 55 African nations, and build their capacity 
to respond to socio-economic challenges and crises (such as the COVID-19 pandemic) through science, 
technology	and	innovation	solutions.	The	Office	in	collaboration	with	the	AUC	organised	a	two-hour	vir-
tual Experts Meeting on African Platform for Science Advisors (17 August 2020), which brought together 
participants representing different organisations/institutions in the continent – the DSI gave a presentation 
highlighting science advice in practice with South Africa as a practical example.

Following the Experts Meeting, involving key actors in the science-policy sector on the continent such as 
INGSA-Africa, AUDA-NEPAD, AU-STRC, AOSTI, UNECA, AAS and NASAC, an Administrative Working Group 
(comprising ISC ROA, AUC, AAS, INGSA-Africa and AUDA-NEPAD) has been formed to oversee the project. 
A Capacity Building Programme Task Force has also been constituted comprising UWC and the Develop-
ment in Africa with Radio Astronomy project led by the University of Leeds School of Physics, the University 
of Manchester and the International Network for Advancing Science and Policy (INASP).

The launch of the African Platform for Science Advisors and Capacity Building Programme, which was 
planned for the SFSA2020 was postponed following a recommendation from the African Union Commis-
sion (AUC). To gain traction from Member States, it is planned for early 2021 during the AUC Science and 
Technology Committee.
Discussions on how/who will take over the implementing role of ISC ROA will soon commence involving the 
AUC, DSI and other key players in the initiative. 

INGSA Africa Chapter

The	Office	coordinated	the	development	of	an	INGSA	Africa	Chapter	project	proposal	titled	“Enhancing 
the capacity of Academies of Science in Africa to provide rapid science advice in emergencies such as 
the COVID-19 pandemic and other emerging infectious diseases” submitted in response to the COVID-19 
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Africa Rapid Grant Fund call announced by South Africa’s National Research Foundation in partnership 
with other stakeholders. The proposal fell under the Science Engagement: Science Advisers strand and 
aims to enhance the capacity of academies of science in Africa to provide rapid science advice in sup-
port of regional and continental responses to COVID-19 and other emerging infectious diseases.

Project Proposal submitted in response to the COVID-19 Africa Rapid Grant Fund Science Engagement: 
Science Advisors on Enhancing the capacity of Academies of Science in Africa to provide rapid science 
advice in emergencies such as the COVID-19 pandemic and other emerging infectious diseases has been 
approved for funding. The results of a due diligence process being conducted by the NRF is awaited for 
commencement of project implementation activities.

The INGSA Africa Chapter organised a one-hour African Regional Panel Discussion during the INGSA Glob-
al Week of Dialogue. The session brought together science advice experts and practitioners who have 
been	at	the	frontline	of	advising	on	COVID-19	responses.	The	panellists	tackled	issues	specific	to	Africa,	ex-
panding on and contextualising some of the issues raised by the keynote and High-Level Panel. The session 
was chaired by the INGSA African Chapter.

The Chapter is in the process of transferring the prize money of winners of the Articles and Project Concepts 
Competition organised in 2019 which has been delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Following the approval of a new 3-year project proposal by the IDRC, the INGSA-Africa Chapter is in the 
process of drafting its workplan and budget for the period July 2020 to December 2022.

The due diligence process being conducted by the NRF for the take-off of implementation activities of the 
awarded project on Enhancing the Capacity of Academies of Science in Africa to provide rapid science 
advice in emergencies, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and other emerging infectious diseases, has 
been completed. The South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) has undertaken to administer the 
approved project funding for the next three years, due to the imminent closure of the ISC ROA, who acted 
as Secretariat of INGSA-Africa. The transfer of funds to the SAMRC is pending.

Four out of eight awardees of the Articles and Project Concepts Competition have been paid their cash 
prizes. Arrangements are being made to pay the remaining four awardees as soon as the balance of ING-
SA-Africa funds is transferred back to ISC HQ. 

The workplan/budget, in line with the new 3-year IDRC funding cycle (July 2020 -December 2022) has 
been submitted to INGSA HQ in New Zealand for approval. ISC and INGSA Global will have to identify the 
Secretariat/structure to coordinate the Chapter’s activities post-March 2021.

ISC membership engagement

While	interacting	with	the	African	science	community,	the	Office	managed	to	re-establish	contacts	with	
five	ISC	National	Members	and	encouraged	others	to	join	the	ISC	family.	The	National	Academy	of	Sci-
ences and Techniques of Senegal has since applied to become a member, and the Ethiopian Academy 
of Science expressed its interest to join the Council - ISC HQ has since sent them the necessary information 
for their consideration.

As part of the ISC membership engagement strategy that includes a broad with individual members 
around the world, ISC ROA is conducting a survey on African membership to get an understanding of 
members priorities as organizations and their priorities for science, a view of how they are engaging or can 
engage in realizing the ISC Action Plan and the four domains of impact and get an insight of how the ISC 
can better serve its members particularly with regards to communication. ISC ROA has since successfully 
engaged and interviewed four ISC National Members, including South Africa.

As	part	of	the	ISC	global	membership	engagement	programme,	the	Office	organised	and	held	one	on	
one membership discussions. The outcome of these engagements was uploaded online for access by ISC 
HQ	and	the	Governing	Board.	The	Office	has	since	engaged	17	of	the	28	African	National	Members.
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1. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/THE BOARD

The Academy is governed by a Council comprising 13 members. Twelve are elected from the member-
ship and one is appointed by the Minister as representative of the National Advisory Council on Innovation 
(NACI).

The	Academy	has	five	office-bearers:	The	President,	two	Vice-Presidents,	General	Secretary	and	Treasurer.

The	Council	has	constituted	an	Executive	Committee	comprising	the	office-bearers.	The	purpose	of	the	
Executive Committee is to streamline Council operations and to allow for decision-making on important 
matters in the intervals between Council meetings. In addition, the Council has a Human Resources Com-
mittee and an Audit and Risk Committee.

The Academy’s activities are guided by the Academy of Science of South Africa Act (Act No. 67 of 2001), 
as amended by the Science and Technology Laws Amendment Acts (Act 16 of 2011 and Act 7 of 2014), 
and a set of established regulations that collectively comprise the Academy’s Constitution.

The	reporting	period	saw	the	election	of	new	office-bearers	and	Council	members	to	serve	the	Academy	
for the 2020 – 2024 term with the appointments effective from October 2021. Three new Advisors who will 
serve for the full term of the Council which appointed them were also appointed. 
 
The	outgoing	ASSAf	Council	met	five	times	during	2020/21,	with	the	fifth	being	a	special	meeting	held	on	26	
August 2020 to review the recommendations of the Membership Advisory Committees (12 February 2020, 
13 May 2020, 22 July 2020 and 14 October 2020). 

Name Designation on Council Date appointed Attendance at meetings End of term

Prof Jonathan Jansen President 2016 5 2024

Prof Brenda Wingfield Vice President 2012 5 2020

Prof Nayameko Barney Pityana Vice President 2016 5 2020

Prof sabiha Essack General secretary 2016 4 2024

Prof Eugene Cloete Treasurer 2016 3 2024

Prof Norman Duncan Council Member 2015 3 2023

Prof stephanie Burton Council Member 2014 5 2022

Prof Mary scholes Council Member 2018 5 2024

Prof Zeblon Vilakazi Council Member 2012 3 2020

Prof Refilwe Nancy Phaswana-Mafuya Council Member 2016 4 2024

Prof Wim de Villiers Council Member 2019 3 2024

Prof Johann Mouton Council Member 2012 4 2020

Prof Wieland Gevers Advisor 2012 4 2020

Prof sunil Maharaj Advisor 2016 4 2020

Prof Evance kalula Advisor 2016 4 2020

PART C GOVERNANCE
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The inaugural meeting of the new Council took place on 14 October 2020 followed by the second on 10 
February 2021.
 

Name Designation on Council Date appointed Attendance at meetings End of term

Prof Jonathan Jansen President 2016 2 2024

Prof stephanie Burton Vice President 2014 2 2022

Prof sabiha Essack Vice President & 
General secretary 2016 2 2024

Prof Eugene Cloete Treasurer 2016 1 2024

Prof Norman Duncan Council Member 2015 2 2023

Prof Evance kalula Council Member 2020 1 2024

Prof Mary scholes Council Member 2018 1 2024

Prof Refilwe Nancy Phaswana-Mafuya Council Member 2016 2 2024

Prof Wim de Villiers Council Member 2019 1 2024

Prof Irvy (Igle) Gledhill Council Member 2020 2 2024

Prof Julian May Council Member 2020 2 2024

Prof Christian Pirk Council Member 2020 2 2024

Prof Thokozani Majozi Advisor 2020 1 2024

Prof Letlhokwa George Mpedi Advisor 2020 Appointed at the first 
meeting of Council 2024

Prof stella Nkomo Advisor 2020 1 2024

New Council for the 2020 – 2024 cycle:

PRESIDENT

Prof Jonathan Jansen is Distinguished Professor of Educa-
tion at the University of Stellenbosch. He is President of the 

Academy of Science of South Africa and in 2020 will be 
a Knight-Hennessey Fellow at Stanford University.  He 
started his career as a Biology teacher in the Cape 
and holds a PhD from Stanford as well as honorary 
doctorates from Edinburgh, Vermont, Cleveland 
State and the University of Cape Town. He is the au-
thor of the award-winning book, Knowledge in the 
Blood (Stanford University Press) and his recent books 
include Inequality in South African schools (with Nic 

Spaull, Springer Publishers), Decolonization in universi-
ties (Wits U Press), and Who gets in and why: the politics 

of admission in South Africa’s elite schools (with Saman-
tha Kriger, UCT Press). His forthcoming books include, The 

decolonization of knowledge (Cambridge University Press, 
with Cyrill Walters). He was recently elected Fellow of the Inter-
national Academy of Education and holds an A-rating from the 

National Research Foundation.



   ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  77

VICE-PRESIDENT

Prof Stephanie Burton is Professor in Biochemistry, and Professor 
at Future Africa at the University of Pretoria (UP), as well as 
the immediate past Vice-Principal for Research and Post-
graduate Education at UP, having served in that role from 
2011 to 2020. She is the President and a Fellow of the 
Royal Society of South Africa (RSSA), Vice-President 
of the Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf), 
a Research Fellow for Universities South Africa (USAf), 
and the Chairperson of the Future Earth Regional Of-
fice	 for	 Southern	Africa	 (FEROSA).	 Prof	 Burton	 holds	
an MSc in Organic Chemistry (1990) and a PhD in 
Biochemistry (1994) from Rhodes University.  Her ac-
ademic career started in Biochemistry and Biotech-
nology at Rhodes University, and then as Professor in 
Chemical Engineering at the University of Cape Town. 
She served as Director of Postgraduate Studies and Di-
rector of the Biocatalysis and Technical Biology Group 
at Cape Peninsula University of Technology before her UP 
appointment.  Her research interests are in sustainability, applied 
biochemistry and biotechnology, and she has published wide-
ly and supervised numerous postgraduate students.  She also has a 
strong interest in research capacity development, and research eth-
ics and integrity, and she serves on several national bodies related to 
research and doctoral training.  She is recognised for her leadership in 
managing research strategy and performance, postgraduate train-
ing, innovation activities, open science and science communication 
initiatives, and internationalisation programmes.  

VICE-PRESIDENT AND GENERAL SECRETARY

Prof Sabiha Essack is the South African Research Chair in Anti-
biotic Resistance and One Health and Professor in Pharmaceu-

tical Sciences at the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN).  
She established the Antimicrobial Research Unit at 
UKZN and secured a number of research grants from 
national and international funders to investigate strat-
egies for the prevention and containment of antibiot-
ic resistance.  Professor Essack is the Deputy President 
and General Secretary of ASSAf, Vice Chair of the 
WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group for An-
timicrobial Resistance (STAG-AMR), Senior Implemen-

tation Research Advisor at the International Centre for 
Antimicrobial Resistance Solutions (ICARS) in Denmark 

and member of the International Pharmacy Federation 
(FIP) AMR Commission at The Hague in The Netherlands.  

She is a peer-reviewed member of the Southern Africa 
FAIMER Regional Institute and co-founder of the South African 

Committee of Health Sciences Deans.  Professor Essack’s current 
research interests include the molecular epidemiology, pathogenom-
ics and metagenomics of antibiotic resistance using next genome 
sequencing and bioinformatics, and health systems strengthening to 
optimize the management of infections in the context of antibiotic 
resistance and stewardship.
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TREASURER

Prof Thomas Eugene Cloete is a microbiologist and water 
expert and is the Deputy Vice Chancellor: Research, 
Innovation and postgraduate studies at Stellenbosch 
University. Before taking up this position in September 
2012, Prof Cloete served as the Dean of the Facul-
ty of Science at Stellenbosch University. He is also 
the Founding Director of the Stellenbosch Univer-
sity Water Institute. He has promoted more than 
100	 MSc	 and	 PhD	 students,	 authored	 five	 books,	
holds	 10	 patents	 and	 has	more	 than	 160	 scientific	
publications to his credit. Prof Cloete also serves on 
the editorial boards of several journals. He is a past 
Vice-President of the International Water Association 
(IWA) and past Chairman of the IWA Strategic Coun-
cil. He is also a Fellow of the IWA and a Senior Fellow of 
the Water Institute of SA (WISA). Prof Cloete was a board 
member	of	the	South	African	Council	 for	Scientific	and	In-
dustrial Research (CSIR) and the Water Research Commission.  
In 2016 Prof Cloete was appointed by the Minister to serve on the 
Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf) Council.  In 2017 he received 
the National Science and Technology Forum (NSTF) South 32 award for re-
search leading to innovation.  He was also selected as one of the Legends 
of SA Science by ASSAf, during 2017.

COUNCIL MEMBERS

Prof Wim de Villiers is is Rector and Vice-Chancellor of Stel-
lenbosch University. After graduating from Stellenbosch 
University with an MB,ChB, he went to Oxford University for 
his PhD, and then to America, where he held a number of 
senior positions at the University of Kentucky. He also stud-
ied at Harvard and was included in the publication Best 
Doctors in America.  On the national stage, he serves 
as Vice-Chair of Universities South Africa, and chair of 
Higher Health; and on the international stage as council 

member of the Association of Commonwealth Universi-
ties.

Prof Norman Duncan holds a professorship in Psychology 
and is the DVC: Academic at the University of Pretoria. His 
research	and	publications	are	primarily	in	the	fields	of	rac-
ism and social and community psychology. His current 
research	scholarly	 interests	are	 in	 the	field	of	 teaching	
and learning in higher education. He has co-edited a 
range of volumes, including ‘Race, Memory and the 
Apartheid Archive (Palgrave/WUP) and Contemporary 
Issues in Human Development: A South African Focus (In-
ternational Thompson Publishers). He is a former President 
of the Psychological Society of South Africa (PsySSA) and 
is an alumnus of the University of the Western Cape, the Uni-
versité Bordeaux Montaigne and the Université Paul-Valery 
Montpellier III.
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Prof Irvy (Igle) Gledhill Igle Gledhill is Visiting Adjunct Professor in 
Flow Physics at the University of the Witwatersrand. She did her 
post-doctoral work at the University of California, Los Angeles, 

on thermonuclear fusion, and at Stanford on Space Shuttle 
physics. For 30 years, she specialised in transonic computa-
tional	fluid	dynamics	at	the	CSIR.	She	also	contributed	with-
in multidisciplinary collaborations including rational drug 
design, ocean engineering, and mine safety. She served 
on the executive of the Gender Gap project funded by 
the International Science Council.  She is a Past President 
of the South African Institute of Physics, and a council 
member of SACNASP and the Academy of Science of 

South Africa, and has been a member of the World Cultur-
al Council Interdisciplinary Committee. She is an Editor of 

African Physics Newsletter, and one of three Vice-Presidents 
of the Network of African Science Academies.

Prof Evance Kalula is Chairperson of the ILO Committee on Freedom 
of Association (CFA). He is Emeritus Professor of Law at the Univer-
sity of Cape Town (UCT), as well as Honorary Professor at the 
University of Rwanda, fellow of the Stellenbosch Institute for 
Advanced Study (STIAS), the African Academy of Scienc-
es (AAS) and Executive Policy Advisor, University of Lusaka 
(UNILUS). He holds several degrees in law, including a PhD. 
He has published extensively on labour law and social 
protection. He serves on editorial boards of a number of 
local and international academic journals. He has and 
serves on boards of many public interest and policy organ-
isations, including as Chair of the then Employment Condi-
tions Commission (ECC), ILO Commission of Inquiry on Free-
dom of Association in Zimbabwe, Ministerial Advisory Panel 
of the then Department of Economic Development (EDD), 
Institute for African Alternatives (IFAA) and Human Sciences 
Research Council (HSRC) Press Editorial Board. He is a past Pres-
ident of the International Labour and Employment Relations Asso-
ciation (ILERA)’.

Prof Refilwe Nancy Phaswana-Mafuya is Professor in the Fac-
ulty of Health Sciences at the University of Johannesburg. She 
is a world-renowned epidemiologist with skills in designing, 
executing and analysing rigorous HIV and chronic non-com-

municable disease epidemiological studies. A NRF rated 
scientist, she was declared a Science Role Model and 
Science Ambassador by the National Science and 
Technology Forum (NSTF). Among her many achieve-
ments was to Chair the Ninth SA AIDS Conference and 
be appointed an Academy of Science of South Africa 
Merited Scientist; a Fellow of the African Academy of 
Sciences; a Fellow of the Organisation for Women in 
Science for the Developing World; a Wellcome Trust 
Fellow; and to receive the Human Sciences Research 

Council (HSRC) CEO Award and Long Service Award. 
Prof Phaswana-Mafuya is also a member of the following 

Boards and Panels – the International Panel on Infectiol-
ogy; the Board of the National Research Foundation; the 

Council of the Academy of Science of South Africa; and the 
Higher Health Board.
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Prof Julian May is the Director of the NRF-DSI Centre of Excellence 
in Food Security at the University of the Western Cape, South Af-
rica, and the UNESCO Chair in African Food Systems. Before 
this he was the South African Research Chair in Applied Pov-
erty Reduction Assessment and served on the South Afri-
can Statistics Council for more than 10 years.  He holds 
a PhD in Development Studies and has edited 7 books 
and published over 90 papers on poverty and inequality 
in books and academic journals. During his career, he 
has worked on options for poverty reduction including 
land reform, food systems. social protection, information 
technology and urban agriculture throughout Africa.  His 
current research focuses on food and nutrition security, 
childhood malnutrition and food systems in secondary cit-
ies and small towns. He has been an associate researcher 
at Oxford University, the University of Bergen, the University of 
Manchester and the International Food Policy Research Insti-
tute (IFPRI); and a visiting researcher at the London School of Hy-
giene and Tropical Medicine, Université de Paris, Vrije University-Am-
sterdam and the University of Cape Town.

Prof Christian Pirk is a Professor and heads up the Social Insects Re-
search Group (SIRG) in the Department of Zoology and Entomolo-
gy at the University of Pretoria.  Born in Berlin, Germany, he studied 

Biology and Mathematics at the Technical University Berlin be-
fore	finishing	his	PhD	at	Rhodes	University	in	2002.	He	is	as	well	
a fellow of the African Academy of Science and served as 
the Vice President of the Entomological Society of South-
ern Africa from 2017 - 2021. He serves as well on the coun-
cil of the International Society of Chemical Ecology. His re-
search focuses on the behavioural and chemical ecology 
of social insects, in particular honeybees. He is involved 
in a number of international networks with an interest in 
pollinator and honeybee health and collaborates with col-

leagues in Europe, Asia, America and Africa. As for June 
2021, Prof Pirk has graduated over 55 postgraduate students 
and is currently supervising 14 postgraduate students including 

8 PhD students. He provides a base for students and colleagues 
interested in behaviour, chemical ecology, mathematical model-

ling, nutrition and social insects in general.

Prof Mary Scholes, a graduate of the University of the Witwa-
tersrand (Wits), is currently a full professor in the School of Animal, 
Plant and Environmental Sciences. Her research activities focus 
on systems analysis in a variety of disciplines including, soil fer-
tility, food security and biogeochemistry in savannas, planta-
tion forests and croplands. She is currently actively involved 
in monitoring water pollution, food security, forestry and 
climate change and policy implementation in South Afri-
ca. Her publication record is extensive; she has mentored 
over 85 postgraduate students and she teaches at post-
graduate level and undergraduate levels at the Universi-
ty. She has been awarded the Vice-Chancellors Teaching, 
Research and Academic Citizen Awards. She is a fellow of 
the Royal Society of South Africa, the South African Acad-
emy of Science, the World Academy of Sciences and the 
African Academy of Sciences. She is the recipient of several 
national and international awards including being elected as 
a foreign member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture 
and Forestry. She has served on Senate at Wits for over 25 years 
and has served on Council for three terms.
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NACI REPRESENTATIVE 

No appointment has been made to date by the Minister.

ADVISORS

Prof Thokozani Majozi is Professor in the School of Chemi-
cal and Metallurgical Engineering at the University of the 
Witwatersrand where he holds the NRF/DST Chair in Sus-
tainable Process Engineering. He is the current Chairper-
son of the CSIR Board. Majozi is the editor for the Journal of 

Cleaner Production and Process Safety and Environmen-
tal Protection, which are both published by Elsevier. He is 

a Fellow of the Institution of Chemical Engineers, UK, and the 
African Academy of Sciences. He is a recipient of the National 

Order of Mapungubwe (Bronze).

Prof Letlhokwa George Mpedi is the Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Aca-
demic (designate) and former Executive Dean: Faculty of Law, Uni-
versity of Johannesburg. He completed his B Juris degree (1996) and 
LLB degree (1998) at Vista University. In 2001 the LLM degree in La-
bour Law was conferred upon him by the then Rand Afrikaans 
University (now University of Johannesburg). He was twice the 
recipient of the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst 
(DAAD) award (in 2000 and 2001, for purposes of research-
ing in Germany for his LLM dissertation and LLD thesis re-
spectively). Upon completing his LLB he was employed as 
a Junior Lecturer in the Department of Mercantile Law at 
Vista University (Mamelodi Campus). He joined the Centre 
for International and Comparative Labour and Social Se-
curity Law (CICLASS) at the then Rand Afrikaans University 
as a researcher in 2000. In August 2003, Professor Mpedi ac-
cepted a position as a Research Fellow at the Max Planck 
Institute for Foreign and International Social Law in Munich 
(Germany). Upon his return from Germany in 2006, he was em-
ployed as a Deputy Director at CICLASS. In the same year, the 
LLD degree in Mercantile Law was conferred upon him by the Uni-
versity of Johannesburg. 
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Prof Stella Nkomo is a Professor in the Department of Human Resource 
Management at the University of Pretoria.  She is the former Dep-
uty Dean for Research and Postgraduate Studies in the Faculty of 

Economic and Management Sciences (University of Pretoria). 
Her research focuses on diversity, difference, and race and 
gender in organisations, particularly the exclusion of mar-
ginalised voices in management and organisation studies.  
Professor Nkomo’s research has been published in numer-
ous management journals and edited volumes.  She has 
received numerous awards for her scholarly contributions 
including the Sage Scholarly Contributions Award (Acad-
emy of Management) for her research on gender and di-

versity in organisations; the Distinguished Woman Scholar in 
the Social Sciences Award from the Department of Science 

and Technology (South Africa), and the International Leader-
ship Association Lifetime Achievement Award.  Professor Nko-

mo is A-rated South African researcher and the founding Presi-
dent of the Africa Academy of Management.

Committees

Council has appointed two committees, the Audit and Risk (A&R) Committee and the Human Resources 
(HR) Committee to ensure that the ASSAf Management oversees the operational issues of the Academy 
in accordance with the ASSAf mandate and ensuring compliance.

Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members
Audit and Risk Committee 4 5 Committee Members 

(representing Council 
and nominated by 
AssAf),

Internal Auditors

External Auditors

AssAf secretariat 
support 

Prof sunil Maharaj (Chairperson, AssAf Advi-
sor on Council),
Prof Eugene Cloete (AssAf Treasurer on 
Council),
Prof Zeblon Vilakazi (AssAf Council),
Prof Dawid van Wyk (External member of the 
Committee)

Internal auditors: kPMG

External auditors: sNG – Grant Thornton Inc.

ASSAf secretariat:
Prof Himla soodyall (EO)
Mr Morakeng Chiloane (Financial Manager)
Ms Lynette du Plessis (HR Manager)

Human Resources 
Committee

Issues are discussed via 
email correspondence as 
they arise with Members on 
this Committee

5 Committee Members Prof Barney Pityana (Chairperson)
Prof Norman Duncan
Prof sabiha Essack
Prof Himla soodyall (EO) 
Ms Lynette du Plessis (HR Manager)
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Coinciding with the election of the new ASSAf Council, new members were appointed to the A&R Com-
mittee and the HR Committee:

Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members
Audit and Risk Committee

1
5 Committee Members 
(representing Council 
and nominated by 
AssAf)

Internal Auditors

External Auditors

AssAf secretariat 
support

Prof Eugene Cloete (Chairperson, Treasurer 
on AssAf Council),
Prof Julian May (AssAf Council Member),
Prof sunil Maharaj (AssAf Member),
Prof Dawid van Wyk (External member 
of the Committee)

Internal auditors: kPMG (Contract has ex-
pired on 31 March 2021)

External auditors: sNG – Grant Thornton Inc: 
(Contract has expired on 31 March 2021)

ASSAf secretariat:
Prof Himla soodyall (EO)
Mr Morakeng Chiloane (Financial Manager)
Ms Lynette du Plessis (HR Manager)

Council also appoints discipline sub-committees to assist the General Secretary in evaluating new applica-
tions for Membership. This process entails inviting voluntary participation of Members to serve on the three 
Membership Advisory Committees (MACs), followed by Council’s endorsement of the Chairperson and 
Members selected to participate in the three MACs. The three MACs represent the Humanities and Social 
Sciences; the Earth and Environmental Sciences, Physical Sciences, Mathematical Sciences, Engineering 
and Technological Sciences; and the Health/Medical Sciences, Life Sciences and Agricultural Sciences. 
Following evaluation, the Chairpersons of MACs send their recommendations to Council for approval for 
the names to be included in the ballot form that is completed in accordance with the regulation for Mem-
bership. These meetings take place once in the year.

In addition, Council nominates Members to serve on the Committee that reviews applications received 
for the prestigious ASSAf Science-for-Society Gold Medal. The General Secretary, together with at least 
three additional Members, serve on this Committee and make their recommendations using Regulation 2 
to guide this process. This meeting takes place once a year.

Remuneration of board members

Council Members represent ASSAf Members voluntarily. Financial support is only provided for expenses 
related to their attendance at meetings and no allowances are paid.

2. RISK MANAGEMENT

The entity has a risk management policy and strategy which is encapsulated in the form of a risk register. 
The	policy	identifies	key	risk	areas,	identifies	possible	factors	and	appropriate	mitigating	factors	to	minimise	
or curb those risks. The risk register is reviewed on an annual basis and is updated on the basis of the risk 
assessments gathered. The risk register was last updated in February 2021.  

The management serves as a risk management committee.  The A&R Committee acts as a high-level over-
seer	of	the	entity’s	risk	management.		There	is	good	progress	in	the	management	of	ASSAf’s	identified	risks	
and this has aided the entity’s performance.

3. INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT

ASSAf does not have an internal control unit, however there are a number of internal controls in place. 

4. INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEES

The internal audit undertakes regular reviews of the various spheres that make up the entity’s operational 
components.	This	includes	the	review	of	the	supply	chain	management,	the	financial	discipline	as	well	as	
reviews of the human resources and the Information Technology (IT) general controls.
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This process also reviews ASSAf’s performance pertaining to good governance in accordance with appli-
cable legislation, review of policies that are intended to enhance good governance, and the review of 
quarterly	and	annual	financial	statements.	

The table below provides relevant information on the audit committee members.

Name Qualifications Internal or 
external

If internal, position 
in the entity Date appointed Date Resigned

No. of
Meetings 
attended

s Maharaj Professor Internal Chairperson March 2010 4

D van Wyk Professor External March 2015 4

E Cloete Professor Internal Treasurer February 2017 2

Z Vilakazi Professor Internal Council Member February 2017 3

Coinciding with the election of the new ASSAf Council, new members were appointed to the A&R Com-
mittee:

Name Qualifications Internal or 
external

If internal, position 
in the entity Date appointed Date Resigned

No. of
Meetings 
attended

E Cloete Professor Internal Chairperson February 2017 4

J May Professor Internal Council Member October 2020 1

D Van Wyk Professor External March 2015 4

s Maharaj Professor Internal AssAf Member March 2010 4

5. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The entity complies with the PPPFA and National Treasury Regulations in its Supply Chain Management 
processes; ASSAf Act, GRAP standards, National Treasury and Auditor General requirements on financial 
reporting and auditing and National Treasury requirements on budgeting processes.

6. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

With very limited resources, the entity has adequate segregation of duties. Bank reconciliations are per-
formed and reviewed monthly. Passing of journal entries is approved and reviewed monthly. There are no 
incentives	that	are	paid	to	finance	and	supply	chain	management	staff.	Cost	centre	reports	are	gener-
ated,	disseminated	to	the	relevant	Programme/Project	Officers	and	Management	and	are	reviewed	on	
a monthly basis. Financial statements are produced and disseminated to the Audit and Risk Committee 
and Council on a quarterly basis. Financial reporting is undertaken to the DSI and National Treasury on a 
quarterly	basis.	Periods	are	closed	monthly.	There	are	financial	policies	and	procedures	 in	place	which	
are reviewed on an annual basis. Financial information sharing transparency is promoted and practiced. 
Communication	channels	on	financial	and	supply	chain	management	are	not	restricted	in	that	every	staff	
member is free to communicate or report any suspected wrongdoing or practice to any staff member 
irrespective of the position they hold in the entity including those who serve on the Council. The entity has 
an internal audit function which operates and functions independently outside of the management and 
reports directly to the Audit and Risk Committee. The entity also undertakes external audits on an annual 
basis.

Communication	channels	on	financial	and	supply	chain	management	are	not	restricted	in	any	way	in	
that every staff member is free to communicate or report any wrongdoing or practice to any staff member 
irrespective of the position they hold in the entity including those who serve on the Council and its various 
subcommittees.

Reporting of cases is promoted and encouraged and can come from different angles. The HR unit serve 
as the ultimate recipient of any allegations related to allegations of misconduct and it has the latitude to 
evaluate and recommend whatever action it considers appropriate.
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7. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

All	employees	sign	a	declaration	of	interest	form	when	they	join	ASSAf.	This	is	kept	on	their	personnel	files.		
In	addition,	all	Council	Members	complete	a	conflict-of-interest	declaration	at	each	meeting.

8. CODE OF CONDUCT

An Employee Relations Policy that includes Grievance, Counselling and Disciplinary processes and pro-
cedures is in place.

9. HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

ASSAf has a Health and Safety Policy in place and have two employees that are elected and trained 
Health	and	Safety	Officers.	

10. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Due to the limited baseline, the entity does not have any corporate social projects in place. 
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1. INTRODUCTION

ASSAf’s Human Resources (HR) process is implemented as follows:

	y  A Human Resources Committee is in place that reviews all HR related processes and approves all HR 
related changes 

	y 	The	primary	purpose	of	the	Committee	is	to	assist	Council	and	the	Executive	Officer	in	establishing	in-
ternal human resource management and development strategies that ensure the processes of recruit-
ment, development, compensation, retention, succession planning and performance management 
are in accordance with the Academy’s objectives and strategic plan

	y  HR priorities are set annually, and a performance agreement is in place to measure the priorities
	y  Recruitment processes are formalised and recruitment panels are selected when there are vacancies 

prior to commencing with interviewing processes
	y  A Performance Management Policy is in place. Performance reviews are completed twice annually, 

every six months
	y The entity has an employee wellness program in place with a CSD registered service provider
	y A Policy and Procedure Working Group with approved terms of reference is in place
	y  ASSAf has a stable workforce with a low staff turnover. The majority of employees at ASSAf is skilled staff. 
	y A positive and motivated staff morale is prevalent 
	y  ASSAf considers its organisational structure on a regular basis to ensure that employees are placed 

correctly. Should the organisational structure require changes, consultation takes place with those staff 
members that may be affected. Only in instances where it is required to align with the strategic plan in 
delivering the ASSAf mandate, organisational restructuring may be considered. Upskilling of employees 
is a continuous process.   

2. HUMAN RESOURCES OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

Personnel Cost by programme/activity/objective

Programme/activity/
objective

Total expenditure 
for the entity
(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure
(R’000)

Personnel
exp. as a
% of total
exp. (R’000)

No. of employees Average personnel 
cost per employee
(R’000)

Governance and Administration 16 871  13 263 38 14 947

scholarly Publishing Programme 8 107 5 696 16 10 569

Liaison Programme 6 927 5 400 15 7 771

science Advisory Programme 3 164 2 569 7 3 856

PART D HUMAN REsOURCE 
MANAGEMENT



 88  ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021

Personnel cost by salary band

Level
Personnel 
expenditure
(R’000)

% of personnel exp. To 
total personnel cost
(R’000)

No. of employees
Average personnel 
cost per employee
(R’000)

Top Management (1) and 
senior Management (5) 7 867 29 6 1 311

Professional qualified 13 636 51 12 1 136

skilled 5 291 20 14 378

Unskilled 134 0.5 2 67

TOTAL 26 928 34

Note:	ASSAf	does	not	pay	performance	allowances.	However,	should	an	employee	contribute	significant-
ly to activities outside of their brief, ASSAf does acknowledge this with a discretionary bonus as stipulated 
in the approved Policy and Procedure relating to the payment of discretionary bonuses.

Training Costs

Programme/activity/objective
Personnel 
expenditure
(R’000)

Training 
expenditure
(R’000)

Training 
expenditure 
as a % of 
Personnel
Cost.

No. of employees
trained

Avg training cost per 
employee

senior Management 7 867 61 0.8 2 30 500

Professional qualified 13 636 58 0.4 3 19 333

skilled 5 291 83 1.57 5 16 600

TOTAL 26 794 202 2.8 10 66 433

Employment and vacancies

Programme/activity/objective 2019/2020
No. of  Employees

2019/2020
Approved
Posts

2020/2021
No. of 
Employees

2020/2021
Vacancies % of vacancies

Admin and Governance 10 10 10 1 10

scholarly Publishing Programme 10 10 10 0 0

Liaison Programme 8 8 7 1 14

science Advisory Programme 5 5 3 0 0

IsC ROA 6 6 4 0 0

Top Management 1 1 1 0 0

senior Management 5 5 5 1 20

Professional qualified 19 19 12 1 8

skilled 15 15 14 0 0

semi-skilled 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 2 2 2 0 0

TOTAL 42 42 34 2 6

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the ASSAf baseline was reduced substantively. Following the res-
ignation of a number of staff members, a decision was made to redistribute the work amongst other staff 
members in an attempt to recover from the budget cuts as well as to reduce the salary bill.
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Employment changes

Salary Band Employment at beginning of 
period Appointments Terminations Employment at end of 

the period

Top Management 1 0 0 1

senior Management 5 0 1 4

Professional qualified 18 0 7 11

skilled 19 0 2 17

semi-skilled 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 2 0 1 1

Total 45 0 11 34

Reasons for staff leaving

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 1 9%

Resignation 4 36%

Dismissal 0 0

End of contract 6 55%

Retirement 0 0

Total 11 100%

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

Nature of disciplinary Action Number

Verbal Warning 0

Written Warning 0

Final Written warning 0

Dismissal 0

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status

Levels MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

senior Management 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

skilled 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

semi-skilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Levels FEMALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

senior Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Professional qualified 5 0 0 0 0 0 6 0

skilled 6 0 0 0 0 0 3 0

semi-skilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 12 0 0 0 1 0 11 0

Levels Disabled Staff

Male Female

          Current        Target        Current      Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0

senior Management 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 0 0 0 0

skilled 0 0 0 0

semi-skilled 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 0 0
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General Information
Nature of operation and principal activities  Promotion	and	application	of	scientific	thinking	in	the	

service of society.

Council Members Prof Jonathan Jansen
 Prof Stephanie Burton
 Prof Sabiha Essack
 Prof Eugene Cloete
 Prof Wim De Villiers
 Prof Norman Duncan
 Prof Irvy Gledhill
 Prof Evance Kalula
 Prof Julian May
 Prof Nancy Phaswana-Mafuya
 Prof Christian Pirk
 Prof Mary Scholes

Registered office 41 De Havilland Crescent Block A
 The Woods, Persequor Park Pretoria
 0020

Physical Address 41 De Havilland Crescent Block A
 The Woods, Persequor Park Pretoria
 0020

Postal address P O Box 72135
 Lynnwood Ridge 0040

Bankers Standard Bank

Auditors Morar Incorporated Chartered Accountants (S.A.)  
 Registered Auditors

Index
The	 reports	and	 statements	 set	out	below	comprise	 the	annual	 financial	 statements	presented	 to	 the	
Parliament:

 Page
Council’s Responsibilities and Approval 94
Audit and Risk Committee Report 95
Council’s Report 97
Statement of Financial Position 101
Statement of Financial Performance 102
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 102
Cash Flow Statement 103
Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 104
Accounting Policies 106
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 119

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
IAS International Accounting Standards

PART E FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Council’s Responsibilities and Approval
The Council members are required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), to main-
tain	adequate	accounting	records	and	are	responsible	for	the	content	and	integrity	of	the	annual	finan-
cial	statements	and	related	financial	information	included	in	this	report.	It	is	the	responsibility	of	the	mem-
bers	to	ensure	that	the	annual	financial	statements	fairly	present	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	entity	as	at	the	
end	of	the	financial	year	and	the	results	of	its	operations	and	cash	flows	for	the	period	then	ended.	The	
external	auditors	are	engaged	to	express	an	independent	opinion	on	the	annual	financial	statements	and	
were	given	unrestricted	access	to	all	financial	records	and	related	data.

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	standards	of	Generally	Recog-
nised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

The	annual	financial	statements	are	based	upon	appropriate	accounting	policies	consistently	applied	
and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The	Council	members	acknowledge	that	they	are	ultimately	responsible	for	the	system	of	internal	finan-
cial control established by the entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the Council members to meet these responsibilities, the accounting authority sets 
standards	for	internal	control	aimed	at	reducing	the	risk	of	error	or	deficit	in	a	cost-effective	manner.	The	
standards	include	the	proper	delegation	of	responsibilities	within	a	clearly	defined	framework,	effective	
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These 
controls are monitored throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circum-
stances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying, assessing, manag-
ing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, 
the entity endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and eth-
ical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Council members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by manage-
ment,	that	the	system	of	internal	control	provides	reasonable	assurance	that	the	financial	records	may	be	
relied	on	for	the	preparation	of	the	annual	financial	statements.	However,	any	system	of	internal	financial	
control	can	provide	only	reasonable,	and	not	absolute,	assurance	against	material	misstatement	or	defi-
cit.

The	Council	members	have	reviewed	the	entity’s	cash	flow	forecast	for	the	year	to	31	March	2022	and,	in	
light	of	this	review	and	the	current	financial	position,	they	are	satisfied	that	the	entity	has	or	has	access	to	
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The entity is wholly dependent on the National Treasury for continued funding of operations. The annual 
financial	statements	are	prepared	on	the	basis	that	the	entity	is	a	going	concern	and	that	the	National	
Treasury has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the entity.

The	external	auditors	are	responsible	for	indepedently	reviewing	and	reporting	on	the	entity’s	annual	fi-
nancial statements.

The	annual	financial	statements	set	out	on	pages	93	to	132,	which	have	been	prepared	on	the	going	con-
cern basis, were approved by the accounting authority on 26 July 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Prof Jonathan Jansen

Chairperson
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Audit and Risk Committee Report
The	Audit	&	Risk	Committee	is	pleased	to	present	its	report	for	the	financial	year	ended	31	March	2021.

Audit and Risk Committee members and attendance

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of the members listed here under and should meet four times per 
annum as per its approved terms of reference. During the current year four meetings were held.

Name of member Number of meetings attended
Prof S Maharaj (Chairperson until October 2020) Four 
Prof E Cloete (Appointed Chairperson from October 2020) Four
Prof D van Wyk Four
Prof Z Vilakazi Three
Prof J May (Appointed member from October 2020) One

Audit and Risk Committee responsibility

The Auditand Risk Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section51(1)
(a)(ii) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Audit and Risk Committee also reports that it has ad-
opted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk Committee Charter, has regulated its 
affairs incompliance witht his charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The effectiveness of internal control

The Audit and Risk Committee, in executing its oversight role, considers ASSAf’s internal controls to be 
effective. The Audit and Risk Committee and management are committed to ensuring that ASSAf’s inter-
nalcontrols	continue	to	be	enhanced	in	order	to	ensure	that	they	are	effective	and	efficient	and	that	they	
are responsive to the principles of good governance.

The Audit and Risk Committee is always prepared to welcome the external auditor’s recommendationson 
internal control processes and procedures and is willing to ensure that they are implemented. The Audit 
and Risk Committee reports that it has complied with the requirement to submit reports to the Accountin-
gAuthority,	Accounting	Executive,	the	National	Treasury	and	the	Office	of	the	Auditor	General.	The	Audit	
and	Risk	Committee	is	satisfied	with	the	content	and	quality	of	the	reports	that	were	prepared	and	issued	
by the management of the entity during the year under review.

Quarterly Reports

The entity has been reporting quarterly to the National Treasury as is required by the PFMA.
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Evaluation of annual financial statements

The Audit and Risk Committee has:
	y 	reviewed	and	discussed	the	unaudited	annual	financial	statements	to	be	included	in	the	annual	report,	

with the Auditor-General and theAccounting Authority;
	y  reviewed external auditor’s management report and management’s response there to and the im-
plementation	plan	for	audit	issues	raised	in	the	prior	year	and	are	satisfied	that	the	matters	have	been	
adequately resolved;

	y reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;
	y reviewed the entity’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions; and
	y reviewed	significant	adjustments	resulting	from	the	audit.

Internal audit

During the year under review, the outsourced internal audit service providers, KPMG, undertook reviews of 
the Donor Funding Management and Performance Information. The internal auditors issued two reports, 
including a progress report.

One of the functions of internal audit is to provide the Audit and Risk Committee and management with-
assurance on the effectiveness of internal controls. According to their reports they considered the internal 
controls to be operating satisfactory.

KPMG	has	served	as	internal	auditors	for	five	years	and	their	term	has	come	to	an	end.

The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	is	satisfied	that	the	internal	audit	function	is	operating	effectively	and	that	
it complements efforts that are intended to address risks.

Prof E Cloete
Chairperson of the Audit & Risk Committee
Date: 21 July 2021
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Council’s Report
The Council members submit their report for the year ended 31 March 2021.

1. Establishment

The entity was established on 22 March 1996 and commenced with its operation on the same day.

2. Review of activities Main operations

The	entity	is	engaged	in	the	promotion	and	application	of	scientific	thinking	in	the	service	of	society	and	
operates principally in South Africa.

The operating results and state of affairs of the entity are fully set out on page 101 to 131 of the accom-
panying	annual	financial	statements.

3. Going concern

We draw attention to the fact that as at 31 March 2021, the entity had sustainability fund of R 8,316,677 
and that the entity’s total liabilities do not exceed its assets

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	going	concern	basis.	This	basis	presumes	that	
funds	will	be	available	to	finance	future	operations	and	that	the	realisation	of	assets	and	settlement	of	lia-
bilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of operation.

4. Events after reporting date

There	were	no	significant	events	after	the	reporting	date	that	would	require	additional	disclosure	or	ad-
justment	to	the	annual	financial	statements.

The COVID19 impact has been discussed under note 26.

5. Council

The Council members of the entity during the year and to the date of this report were as follows:

Name Nationality Changes
Prof Jonathan Jansen South African Appointed: 18 October 2016
Prof	Brenda	Wingfield South African Term expired: October 2020
Prof Johann Mouton South African Term expired: October 2020
Prof Zeblon Vilakazi South African Term expired: October 2020
Prof Stephanie Burton South African Appointed: 31 May 2014
Prof Norman Duncan South African Appointed: 20 February 2015
Prof Eugene Cloete South African Appointed: 14 October 2016
Prof Sabiha Essack South African Appointed: 14 October 2016
Prof Barney Pityana South African Term expired: October 2020
Prof Nancy Phaswana-Mafuya South African Appointed: 14 October 2016
Prof Mary Scholes South African Appointed: 4 July 2018
Prof Wim De Villiers South African Appointed: 1 February 2019
Prof Evance Kalula South African Appointed: October 2020
Prof Irvy Gledhill South African Appointed: October 2020
Prof Julian May South African Appointed: October 2020
Prof Christian Pirk South African Appointed: October 2020

Auditors

Morar Incorporated Chartered Accountants (SA) Registered Auditors have been appointed as new 
auditors as from 10 June 2021.
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Independent auditor’s report to the Minister of Science and Innovation 
on the Academy of Science of South Africa
Report	on	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements

Opinion

1. 	We	have	audited	the	financial	statements	of	the	Academy	of	Science	of	South	Africa	(ASSAf)	set	
out	on	pages	101	to	131,	which	comprise	the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	March	2021,	
statement	of	financial	performance,	statement	of	changes	in	net	assets,	and	cash	flow	statement	
and the statement of comparison of budget information and actual information for the year then 
ended,	as	well	as	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements,	including	a	summary	of	significant	account-
ing policies. 

2. 	In	our	opinion,	the	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	position	
of	the	Academy	of	Science	of	South	Africa	as	at	31	March	2021,	and	its	financial	performance	and	
cash	flows	 for	 the	year	 then	ended	 in	accordance	with	 the	Standards	of	Generally	Recognised	
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the Academy of Science of South Africa Act, 
2001 (Act No. 67 of 2001) (ASSAf Act).

Basis for opinion

3.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our re-
sponsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of	the	financial	statements	section	of	this	auditor’s	report.	

4.  We are independent of the Academy of Science of South Africa in accordance with sections 290 
and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of professional conduct for Regis-
tered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Audi-
tors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the 
IRBA	Codes)	and	other	 independence	 requirements	applicable	 to	performing	audits	of	 financial	
statements	 in	South	Africa.	We	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	 responsibilities,	as	applicable	 in	ac-
cordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accoun-
tants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International code of ethics for 
professional accountants (including International Independence Standards) respectively.

5. 	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	
basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Accounting Authority for the financial statements

6.  The council, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation	of	 the	financial	 statements	 in	accordance	with	 Standards	of	Generally	Recognised	
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the Academy of Science of South Africa Act, 
2001 (Act No. 67 of 2001), and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is nec-
essary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	
whether due to fraud or error.

7. 	In	preparing	the	financial	statements,	the	accounting	authority	is	responsible	for	assessing	the	entity’s	
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the accounting authority either intends to 
liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

8. 	Our	objectives	are	 to	obtain	 reasonable	assurance	about	whether	 the	financial	 statements	as	a	
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a material mis-
statement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually	or	in	aggregate,	they	could	reasonably	be	expected	to	influence	the	economic	deci-
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sions	of	users	taken	on	the	basis	of	these	financial	statements.	
9. 	A	further	description	of	our	responsibilities	for	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	is	included	in	the	

annexure to this auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

10.  The entity is not required to prepare a report on its performance against predetermined objectives, 
as it does not fall within the ambit of the PFMA and such reporting is also not required in terms of the 
entity’s	specific	legislation.	

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope

11.  In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, we have a responsibility 
to	report	material	findings	on	the	entity	compliance	with	specific	matters	in	key	legislation.	We	per-
formed	procedures	to	identify	findings	but	not	to	gather	evidence	to	express	assurance.	

12. 	We	did	not	identify	material	non-compliance	with	specific	matters	in	key	legislation,	as	set	out	in	the	
General Notice issued in terms of the PAA. 

Other information

13.  The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the	information	included	in	the	annual	report.	The	other	information	does	not	include	the	financial	
statements and the auditor’s report.

14. 	Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	other	information	and	we	do	not	express	
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

15.  In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, con-
sider	whether	 the	other	 information	 is	materially	 inconsistent	with	 the	financial	 statements,	or	our	
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we performed, on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Internal control deficiencies

16. 	We	considered	 internal	control	 relevant	to	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements	and	compliance	
with applicable legislation; however, our objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. 
We	did	not	identify	any	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control.

Auditor tenure

17.  In terms of the IRBA rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, 
we report that Morar Incorporated has been the auditor of Academy of Science of South Africa 
for 1 year.

Vishall Samarjith 
Director
Registered Auditor
Morar Incorporated 
30 July 2021 
Centurion
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Annexure – Auditor’s responsibility for the audit
1.  As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional	scepticism	throughout	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	and	on	the	entity’s	compli-
ance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. 	In	addition	to	our	responsibility	for	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	as	described	in	this	auditor’s	
report, we also: 
	y 	identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements	whether	due	to	

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence	that	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	opinion.	The	risk	of	not	de-
tecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control

	y  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control

	y  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the council, which constitutes the accounting author-
ity

	y  conclude on the appropriateness of the council, which constitutes the accounting authority’s use 
of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	in	the	preparation	of	the	financial	statements.	We	also	
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists relating 
to	events	or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	doubt	on	the	ability	of	Academy	of	Science	of	
South Africa to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we	are	required	to	draw	attention	in	our	auditor’s	report	to	the	related	disclosures	in	the	financial	
statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my 
opinion	on	the	financial	statements.	Our	conclusions	are	based	on	the	information	available	to	
me at the date of this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause an entity 
to cease operating as a going concern

	y 	evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	financial	statements,	including	the	
disclosures,	and	determine	whether	 the	financial	 statements	 represent	 the	underlying	 transac-
tions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with governance

3.  We communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope	and	timing	of	the	audit	and	significant	audit	findings,	including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

4. 	We	also	confirm	to	the	accounting	authority	that	we	have	complied	with	relevant	ethical	require-
ments regarding independence, and communicate all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to have a bearing on our independence and, where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

5.  From the matters communicated to those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that	were	of	most	significance	in	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	current	period	and	are	
therefore key audit matters. We describe these matters in this auditor’s report unless law or regu-
lation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in this auditor’s report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest of such 
communication.
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2021

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2021 2020

Assets

Current Assets

Other	financial	assets 4 13,848,748 13,133,274

Receivables from exchange transactions 5 692,510 1,054,727

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 6 647,593 1,276,992

Cash and cash equivalents 7 5,564,988 5,775,990

20,753,839 21,240,983

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 109,013 205,113

Non-Current Assets 109,013 205,113

Current Assets 20,753,839 21,240,983

Total Assets 20,862,852 21,446,096

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Payables from exchange transactions 11 231,735 512,660

International	Science	Council	-	Regional	Office	for	Africa	
(ISC ROA) 10 1,369,941 1,315,730

Unspent conditional grants and receipts 8 8,097,980 8,108,909

Provisions 9 2,846,519 3,753,520

12,546,175 13,690,819

Non-Current Liabilities - -

Current Liabilities 12,546,175 13,690,819

Total Liabilities 12,546,175 13,690,819

Assets 20,862,852 21,446,096

Liabilities (12,546,175) (13,690,819)

Net Assets 8,316,677 7,755,277

Reserves

Sustainability Fund 8,316,677 7,755,277

Total Net Assets 8,316,677 7,755,277
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Statement of Financial Performance
Figures in Rand Note(s) 2021 2020
Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Fees earned 491,643 667,908
Interest received 1,021,221 1,441,926
Gain on foreign exchange 62,976 3,269
Fair value adjustments - 19,488
Total revenue from exchange transactions 1,575,840 2,132,591

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Transfer revenue
Government grants & subsidies 13 27,782,534 39,011,994
Local grants and donations 4,984,796 8,128,856
Foreign grants and donations 1,287,595 3,337,701
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 34,054,925 50,478,551

1,575,840 2,132,591
34,054,925 50,478,551

Total revenue 12 35,630,765 52,611,142
Expenditure
Employee related costs 14 (26,927,564) (28,297,446)
Depreciation and amortisation 3 (176,484) (196,228)
Finance costs (31) (89)
Lease rentals on operating lease (1,842,344) (1,834,421)
Provision for doubtful debts (163,989) (242,011)
Loss on disposal of assets (932) (11,369)
Fair value adjustments (78,638) -
General Expenses 15 (5,879,383) (21,986,372)
Total expenditure (35,069,365) (52,567,936)

- -
Total revenue 35,630,765 52,611,142
Total expenditure (35,069,365) (52,567,936)
Operating	surplus/deficit - -
Surplus before taxation 561,400 43,206
Taxation - -
Surplus for the year 561,400 43,206

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Figures in Rand Other NDR Total net assets

Balance at 01 April 2019 7,712,071 7,712,071

Changes in net assets 

Surplus for the year 43,206 43,206

Total changes 43,206 43,206

Balance at 01 April 2020 7,755,277 7,755,277

Changes in net assets 

Surplus for the year 561,400 561,400

Total changes 561,400 561,400

Balance at 31March 2021 8,316,677 8,316,677

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021



   ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  103

Cash Flow Statement
Figures in Rand Note(s) 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Fees 916,836 662,689
Grants 34,684,324 50,478,551
Interest received 1,021,221 1,441,926

36,622,381 52,583,166

Payments

Employee costs (26,927,564) (28,217,255)
Suppliers (9,030,360) (22,186,058)
Finance costs (31) (89)

(35,957,955) (50,403,402)
Total receipts 36,622,381 52,583,166
Total payments (35,957,955) (50,403,402)
Net cash flows from operating activities 19 664,426 2,179,764

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (81,316) (12,616)

Acquisition	of	additional	financial	assets (794,112) (961,323)
Net cash flows from investing activities (875,428) (973,939)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (211,002) 1,205,825
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5,775,990 4,570,165
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 5,564,988 5,775,990

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts
Budget on Cash Basis

Approved 
budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis

Difference 
between 

final	budget	
and actual

References

Figures in Rand

Statement of Financial Performance 
Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions
Fees earned 448,000 96,000 544,000 491,643 (52,357) 28
Interest received-investment 1,200,000 - 1,200,000 1,021,221 (178,779) 28
Total revenue from 
exchange transactions

1,648,000 96,000 1,744,000 1,512,864 (231,136)

Revenue from 
non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Government grants & subsidies 36,529,800 (6,787,465) 29,742,335 27,782,534 (1,959,801) 28
Local grants and donations - 519,561 519,561 4,984,796 4,465,235 28
Foreign grants and donations - 1,386,797 1,386,797 1,287,595 (99,202) 28
Total revenue from 
non-exchange transactions

36,529,800 (4,881,107) 31,648,693 34,054,925 2,406,232

‘Total revenue from exchange 
transactions’

1,648,000 96,000 1,744,000 1,512,864 (231,136)

‘Total revenue from 
non-exchange transactions’

36,529,800 (4,881,107) 31,648,693 34,054,925 2,406,232

Total revenue 38,177,800 (4,785,107) 33,392,693 35,567,789 2,175,096
Expenditure
Personnel (22,577,580) - (22,577,580) (26,927,564) (4,349,984) 28
Depreciation and amortisation (184,000) - (184,000) (176,484) 7,516
Finance costs - - - (31) (31)
Lease rentals on operating lease (1,646,899) - (1,646,899) (1,842,344) (195,445) 28
Provision for doubtful debts (150,000) - (150,000) (163,989) (13,989)
General Expenses (13,619,321) 4,785,107 (8,834,214) (5,879,383) 2,954,831 28
Total expenditure (38,177,800) 4,785,107 (33,392,693) (34,989,795) (1,597,102)

38,177,800 (4,785,107) 33,392,693 35,567,789 2,175,096
(38,177,800) 4,785,107 (33,392,693) (34,989,795) (1,597,102)

Operating surplus - - - 577,994 577,994
Loss on disposal of assets 
and liabilities

- - - (932) (932)

Gain on foreign exchange - - - 62,976 62,976
Fair value adjustments - - - (78,638) (78,638)

- - - (16,594) (16,594)
- - - 577,994 577,994
- - - (16,594) (16,594)

Surplus before taxation - - - 561,400 561,400
Deficit	before	taxation - - - 561,400 561,400
Taxation - - - - -
Actual Amount on Comparable 
Basis as Presented in the Budget 
and Actual Comparative 
Statement

- - - 561,400 561,400
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts
Budget on Cash Basis

Approved 
budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis

Difference 
between 

final	budget	
and actual

References

Figures in Rand

Reconciliation of Actual amounts 
on a Comparable Basis and Actual 
amounts on the Annual Financial 
Statements.
Net Cash flows from

Operating 
Activities

Financing 
Activities

Investing 
Activities

Total

Actual amounts on comparable 
basis as presented in the 
budgetand actual comparative 
statement

(1,597,102) - - (1,597,102)

Basis difference 2,261,528 - (875,428) 1,386,100
Timing difference - - - -
Entity difference - - - -
Actual amount in 
Cash Flow Statement

664,426 - (875,428) (211,002)

The accounting policies on pages 106 to 118 and the notes on pages 118 to 131 form an integral part of the annual 
financial	statements.
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Accounting Policies
1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	Standards	of	Generally	
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance 
with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) and the requirements of the 
Academy of Science of South Africa Act, 2001 (Act No. 67 of 2001) (ASSAf Act).

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	an	accrual	basis	of	accounting	and	are	in	ac-
cordance	with	historical	cost	convention	as	the	basis	of	measurement,	unless	specified	otherwise.

A	summary	of	the	significant	accounting	policies,	which	have	been	consistently	applied	in	the	prepara-
tion	of	these	annual	financial	statements,	are	disclosed	below.

1.1 Presentation currency

The	annual	financial	statements	are	presented	in	South	African	Rand	(rounded	off	to	the	nearest	Rand),	
which is the functional and presentation currency of the entity

1.2 Going concern assumption

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	based	on	the	expectation	that	the	entity	will	con-
tinue to operate as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In	preparing	the	annual	financial	statements,	management	is	required	to	make	estimates	and	assump-
tions	that	affect	the	amounts	represented	in	the	annual	financial	statements	and	related	disclosures.	Use	
of available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual 
results	in	the	future	could	differ	from	these	estimates	which	may	be	material	to	the	annual	financial	state-
ments.	Significant	judgements	include:

Trade receivables/Held to maturityinvestments and loans and receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables for impair-
ment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded 
in	 surplus	or	deficit,	 the	surplus	makes	 judgements	as	 to	whether	 there	 is	observable	data	 indicating	a	
measurable	decrease	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	from	a	financial	asset.

The impairment for trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables is calculat-
ed	on	a	portfolio	basis,	based	on	historical	loss	ratios,	adjusted	for	national	and	industry-specific	economic	
conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. 
These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss 
emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	traded	in	active	markets	(such	as	trading	and	available-for-sale	secu-
rities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used 
for	financial	assets	held	by	the	entity	is	the	current	bid	price.

The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	that	are	not	traded	in	an	active	market	(for	example,	over-the	count-
er derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. The entity uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted 
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such 
as	estimated	discounted	cash	flows,	are	used	to	determine	fair	value	for	the	remaining	financial	 instru-
ments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows.	The	fair	value	of	forward	foreign	exchange	contracts	is	determined	using	quoted	forward	exchange	
rates at the end of the reporting period.
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The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approxi-
mate	their	fair	values.	The	fair	value	of	financial	liabilities	for	disclosure	purposes	is	estimated	by	discounting	
the	future	contractual	cash	flows	at	the	current	market	interest	rate	that	is	available	to	the	entity	for	similar	
financial	instruments.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event,	when	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation	and	when	
the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provision for leave pay: The provision is measured as the number of accumulated leave days multiplied by 
the daily remuneration rate.

Provision for 13th cheque bonus: The provision is an estimate which is an equivalent of the employees one 
month salary. Additional disclosure of this estimate of provision is included in note 9&11.

Allowance for doubtful debts

Impairment	loss	on	debtors	is	recognised	in	surplus	and	deficit	when	there	is	objective	evidence	that	it	is	
impaired. The impairment is measured at the amount equal to an invoice when its due for more than one 
hundred and twenty days.

1.1 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
	y 	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	

entity; and
	y the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable 
to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of ac-
quisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or 
monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially 
measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost 
is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When	significant	components	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	have	different	useful	lives,	they	
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and 
costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in 
the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is 
located is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur 
such expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes 
other than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the 
item is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management.
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Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are recognised when they meet 
the	definition	of	property,	plant	and	equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equip-
ment and which meet the recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the 
item of property, plant and equipment. Any remaining inspection costs from the previous inspection are 
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives 
to their estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Furniture	and	fixtures Straightline 6 to 7 years

Office	equipment Straightline 6 to 7 years

Computer equipment Straightline 3 years

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

Each	part	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	with	a	cost	that	is	significant	in	relation	to	the	total	
cost of the item is depreciated separately.

The	depreciation	method	used	reflects	the	pattern	in	which	the	asset’s	future	economic	benefits	or	ser-
vice potential are expected to be consumed by the entity. The depreciation method applied to an asset 
is	reviewed	at	least	at	each	reporting	date	and,	if	there	has	been	a	significant	change	in	the	expected	
pattern	of	consumption	of	the	future	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	embodied	in	the	asset,	the	
method	is	changed	to	reflect	the	changed	pattern.	Such	a	change	is	accounted	for	as	a	change	in	an	
accounting estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the entity expectations 
about the residual value and the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. 
If any such indication exists, the entity revises the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly. 
The change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The	depreciation	charge	for	each	period	is	recognised	in	surplus	or	deficit	unless	it	is	included	in	the	car-
rying amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are 
no	further	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	expected	from	the	use	of	the	asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
surplus	or	deficit	when	the	item	is	derecognised.	The	gain	or	loss	arising	from	the	derecognition	of	an	item	
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if 
any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Assets which the entity holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary 
course of activities, are transferred to inventories when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-
sale.	Proceeds	from	sales	of	these	assets	are	recognised	as	revenue.	All	cash	flows	on	these	assets	are	
included	in	cash	flows	from	operating	activities	in	the	cash	flow	statement.
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1.1 Financial instruments

A	financial	instrument	is	any	contract	that	gives	rise	to	a	financial	asset	of	one	entity	and	a	financial	liability	
or a residual interest of another entity.

A	derivative	is	a	financial	instrument	or	other	contract	with	all	three	of	the	following	characteristics:
•	 	Its	 value	changes	 in	 response	 to	 the	change	 in	a	 specified	 interest	 rate,	 financial	 instrument	price,	

commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other 
variable,	provided	in	the	case	of	a	non-financial	variable	that	the	variable	is	not	specific	to	a	party	to	
the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’).

•	  It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for 
other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market fac-
tors.

•	 It is settled at a future date.

A	financial	asset	is:
•	 cash;
•	 a residual interest of another entity; or
•	 a contractual right to:
	 -	 receive	cash	or	another	financial	asset	from	another	entity;	or
	 -	 	exchange	financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	with	another	entity	under	conditions	that	are	poten-

tially favourable to the entity.

A	financial	liability	is	any	liability	that	is	a	contractual	obligation	to:
•	 deliver	cash	or	another	financial	asset	to	another	entity

Financial	instruments	at	fair	value	comprise	financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	that	are:	
•	 derivatives;
•	 combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
•	 instruments	held	for	trading.	A	financial	instrument	is	held	for	trading	if:

-	 it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or
-	 	on	initial	recognition	it	is	part	of	a	portfolio	of	identified	financial	instruments	that	are	managed	to-

gether	and	for	which	there	is	evidence	of	a	recent	actual	pattern	of	short	term	profit-taking;
-	 	non-derivative	financial	assets	or	financial	 liabilities	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	 that	are	

designated at fair value at initial recognition; and
-	 	financial	instruments	that	do	not	meet	the	definition	of	financial	instruments	at	amortised	cost	or	fi-

nancial instruments at cost.

Initial recognition

The	entity	recognises	a	financial	asset	or	a	financial	liability	in	its	statement	of	financial	position	when	the	
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The	entity	recognises	financial	assets	using	trade	date	accounting.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The	entity	measures	a	financial	asset	and	financial	liability	initially	at	its	fair	value	plus	transaction	costs	that	
are	directly	attributable	to	the	acquisition	or	issue	of	the	financial	asset	or	financial	liability.

The	entity	measures	a	financial	asset	and	financial	liability	initially	at	its	fair	value	[if	subsequently	measured	
at fair value].

The	entity	first	assesses	whether	the	substance	of	a	concessionary	loan	is	in	fact	a	loan.	On	initial	recogni-
tion, the entity analyses a concessionary loan into its component parts and accounts for each component 
separately. The entity accounts for that part of a concessionary loan that is:

•	 	a	social	benefit	in	accordance	with	the	Framework	for	the	Preparation	and	Presentation	of	Financial	
Statements, where it is the issuer of the loan; or

•	  non-exchange revenue, in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange 
Transactions (Taxes and Transfers), where it is the recipient of the loan.
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Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The	entity	measures	all	financial	assets	and	financial	 liabilities	after	 initial	recognition	using	the	following	
categories:
•	 Financial instruments at fair value.
•	 Financial instruments at amortised cost.
•	 Financial instruments at cost.

All	financial	assets	measured	at	amortised	cost,	or	cost,	are	subject	to	an	impairment	review.

Fair value measurement considerations

The	best	evidence	of	fair	value	is	quoted	prices	in	an	active	market.	If	the	market	for	a	financial	instrument	
is not active, the entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valu-
ation technique is to establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement date in 
an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques include 
using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, refer-
ence	to	the	current	fair	value	of	another	instrument	that	is	substantially	the	same,	discounted	cash	flow	
analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market partici-
pants to price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates 
of prices obtained in actual market transactions, the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation 
technique	makes	maximum	use	of	market	inputs	and	relies	as	little	as	possible	on	entity-specific	inputs.	It	
incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price and is consistent with 
accepted	economic	methodologies	for	pricing	financial	instruments.	Periodically,	an	entity	calibrates	the	
valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions 
in	the	same	instrument	(i.e.	without	modification	or	repackaging)	or	based	on	any	available	observable	
market data.

The	fair	value	of	a	financial	liability	with	a	demand	feature	(e.g.	a	demand	deposit)	is	not	less	than	the	
amount	payable	on	demand,	discounted	from	the	first	date	that	the	amount	could	be	required	to	be	
paid.

Reclassification

The	entity	does	not	reclassify	a	financial	instrument	while	it	is	issued	or	held	unless	it	is:
•	 combined instrument that is required to be measured at fair value; or
•	 an	investment	in	a	residual	interest	that	meets	the	requirements	for	reclassification.

Where the entity cannot reliably measure the fair value of an embedded derivative that has been sep-
arated	from	a	host	contract	that	is	a	financial	instrument	at	a	subsequent	reporting	date,	it	measures	the	
combined	instrument	at	fair	value.	This	requires	a	reclassification	of	the	instrument	from	amortised	cost	or	
cost to fair value.

If fair value can no longer be measured reliably for an investment in a residual interest measured at fair 
value,	the	entity	reclassifies	the	investment	from	fair	value	to	cost.	The	carrying	amount	at	the	date	that	fair	
value is no longer available becomes the cost.

If a reliable measure becomes available for an investment in a residual interest for which a measure was 
previously not available, and the instrument would have been required to be measured at fair value, the 
entity	reclassifies	the	instrument	from	cost	to	fair	value.

Gains and losses

A	gain	or	loss	arising	from	a	change	in	the	fair	value	of	a	financial	asset	or	financial	liability	measured	at	
fair	value	is	recognised	as	surplus	or	deficit.
For	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost	or	cost,	a	gain	or	loss	is	recognised	
as	surplus	or	deficit	when	the	financial	asset	or	financial	liability	is	derecognised	or	impaired,	or	through	
the amortisation process.
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Impairment and uncollectibilityof financial assets

The entity assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial	asset	or	group	of	financial	assets	is	impaired.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:

If	there	is	objective	evidence	that	an	impairment	loss	on	financial	assets	measured	at	amortised	cost	has	
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and	the	present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows	(excluding	future	credit	losses	that	have	not	been	in-
curred)	discounted	at	the	financial	asset’s	original	effective	interest	rate.	The	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	
is reduced directly OR through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised as 
surplus	or	deficit.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be re-
lated objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed directly OR by adjusting an allowance account. The reversal does not result 
in	a	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	that	exceeds	what	the	amortised	cost	would	have	been	had	
the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is 
recognised	as	surplus	or	deficit.

Financial assets measured at cost:

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual 
interest that is not measured at fair value because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount 
of	the	impairment	loss	is	measured	as	the	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	
and	the	present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows	discounted	at	the	current	market	rate	of	return	for	a	
similar	financial	asset.	Such	impairment	losses	are	not	reversed.

Derecognition 

Financial assets

The	entity	derecognises	financial	assets	using	trade	date	accounting.

The	entity	derecognises	a	financial	asset	only	when:
•	 the	contractual	rights	to	the	cash	flows	from	the	financial	asset	expire,	are	settled	or	waived;
•	 	the	entity	transfers	to	another	party	substantially	all	of	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	financial	

asset; or
•	 	the	entity,	despite	having	retained	some	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	financial	asset,	

has transferred control of the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell 
the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and 
without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity:
-	 derecognise the asset; and
-	 recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

Financial liabilities

The	entity	removes	a	financial	liability	(or	a	part	of	a	financial	liability)	from	its	statement	of	financial	posi-
tion	when	it	is	extinguished	—	i.e.	when	the	obligation	specified	in	the	contract	is	discharged,	cancelled,	
expires or waived.

Presentation

Interest	relating	to	a	financial	instrument	or	a	component	that	is	a	financial	liability	is	recognised	as	reve-
nue or expense.

Losses	and	gains	relating	to	a	financial	instrument	or	a	component	that	is	a	financial	liability	is	recognised	
as revenue or expense.
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Identification

Statutory receivables are receivables that arise from legislation, supporting regulations, or similar means, 
and	require	settlement	by	another	entity	in	cash	or	another	financial	asset.

Carrying	amount	is	the	amount	at	which	an	asset	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.

The cost method is the method used to account for statutory receivables that requires such receivables to 
be measured at their transaction amount, plus any accrued interest or other charges (where applicable) 
and, less any accumulated impairment losses and any amounts derecognised.

Nominal	interest	rate	is	the	interest	rate	and/or	basis	specified	in	legislation,	supporting	regulations	or	similar	
means.

The transaction amount (for purposes of this Standard) for a statutory receivable means the amount spec-
ified	in,	or	calculated,	levied	or	charged	in	accordance	with,	legislation,	supporting	regulations,	or	similar	
means.

Recognition

The entity recognises statutory receivables as follows:
•	  if the transaction is an exchange transaction, using the policy on Revenue from exchange transactions;
•	  if the transaction is a non-exchange transaction, using the policy on Revenue from non-exchange 

transactions (Taxes and transfers); or
•	  if the transaction is not within the scope of the policies listed in the above or another Standard of GRAP, 

the	receivable	is	recognised	when	the	definition	of	an	asset	is	met	and,	when	it	is	probable	that	the	
future	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	asset	will	flow	to	the	entity	and	the	
transaction amount can be measured reliably.

Initial measurement

The entity initially measures statutory receivables at their transaction amount.

Subsequent measurement

The entity measures statutory receivables after initial recognition using the cost method. Under the cost 
method,	the	initial	measurement	of	the	receivable	is	changed	subsequent	to	initial	recognition	to	reflect	
any:
•	 interest or other charges that may have accrued on the receivable (where applicable);
•	 impairment losses; and
•	 amounts derecognised.

Derecognition

The entity derecognises a statutory receivable, or a part thereof, when:
•	 the	rights	to	the	cash	flows	from	the	receivable	are	settled,	expire	or	are	waived;
•	  the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the receiv-

able; or
•	 	the	entity,	despite	having	retained	some	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	receivable,	

has transferred control of the receivable to another party and the other party has the practical ability to 
sell the receivable in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally 
and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity:
-	 derecognise ther eceivable; and
-	 recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

The carrying amounts of any statutory receivables transferred are allocated between the rights or obli-
gations retained and those transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date. The 
entity considers whether any newly created rights and obligations are within the scope of the Standard of 
GRAP on Financial Instruments or another Standard of GRAP. Any difference between the consideration 
received and the amounts derecognised and, those amounts recognised, are recognised in surplus or 
deficit	in	the	period	of	the	transfer.
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1.6 Leases

Operating leases - lessee

A	lease	is	classified	as	an	operating	lease	if	it	does	not	transfer	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	inci-
dental to ownership.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are rec-
ognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.7 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The	cost	of	short-term	employee	benefits,	(those	payable	within	12	months	after	the	service	is	rendered,	
such	as	paid	vacation	leave	and	sick	leave,	bonuses,	and	non-monetary	benefits	such	as	medical	care),	
are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render ser-
vices that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence 
occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.8 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue	is	the	gross	inflow	of	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	during	the	reporting	period	when	
those	inflows	result	in	an	increase	in	net	assets,	other	than	increases	relating	to	contributions	from	owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extin-
guished, and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of 
assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowl-
edgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts 
and volume rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue	from	the	sale	of	goods	is	recognised	when	all	the	following	conditions	have	been	satisfied:
•	 the	entity	has	transferred	to	the	purchaser	the	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	goods;
•	 the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	

to the entity; and
•	 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue 
associated with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following con-
ditions	are	satisfied:
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•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	

to the entity;
•	 the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
•	 the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured 

reliably.

When	services	are	performed	by	an	indeterminate	number	of	acts	over	a	specified	time	frame,	revenue	is	
recognised	on	a	straight	line	basis	over	the	specified	time	frame	unless	there	is	evidence	that	some	other	
method	better	represents	the	stage	of	completion.	When	a	specific	act	is	much	more	significant	than	any	
other	acts,	the	recognition	of	revenue	is	postponed	until	the	significant	act	is	executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date. Stage of completion is determined by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the total 
estimated costs of the transaction.

Interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends or similar 
distributions is recognised when:
•	 It	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	

to the entity, and
•	 The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest	is	recognised,	in	surplus	or	deficit,	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.

1.9 Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

Recognition

An	 inflow	of	 resources	 from	a	non-exchange	 transaction	 is	 recognised	as	 revenue	when	 funds	are	 re-
ceived.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets rec-
ognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, an entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured in accordance with GRAP 23 paragraph .41, unless it is 
also required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured in ac-
cordance with the requirements of GRAP 23 paragraph .57, and the amount of the increase in net assets, 
if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event occurs 
or	a	condition	is	satisfied,	the	amount	of	the	reduction	in	the	liability	will	be	recognised	as	revenue.

Transfers

Apart from Services in kind, which are not recognised, the entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers 
when	the	transferred	resources	meet	the	definition	of	an	asset	and	satisfy	the	criteria	for	recognition	as	an	
asset.

The	entity	recognises	an	asset	in	respect	of	transfers	when	the	transferred	resources	meet	the	definition	of	
an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.

Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition.
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Grants and subsidies

Grants are recognised as revenue when:
-	 	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	

to the entity,
-	 the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, and
-	 to the extent that there has been compliance with any restrictions associated with the grant.

The	entity	assesses	the	degree	of	certainty	attached	to	the	flow	of	future	economic	benefits	or	service	po-
tential on the basis of the available evidence. Certain grants payable by one level of one to another are 
subject to the availability of funds.

Revenue	from	these	grants	is	only	recognised	when	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	service	
potential	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	entity.	An	announcement	at	the	beginning	of	
a	financial	year	that	grants	may	be	available	for	qualifying	entities	in	accordance	with	an	agreed	pro-
gramme	may	not	be	sufficient	evidence	of	the	probability	of	the	flow.	Revenue	is	then	only	recognised	
once	evidence	of	the	probability	of	the	flow	becomes	available,	which	in	most	cases	is	on	receipt.

Restrictions on grants may result in such revenue being recognised on a time proportion basis. Where there 
is no restriction on the period, such revenue is recognised on receipt or when the act becomes effective, 
which-ever is earlier.

When grants are remited on a re-imbursement basis, revenue is recognised when the qualifying expense 
has been incurred and to the extent that any other restrictions have been complied with.

Other grants and donations (Conditional grants etc)

Other grants and donations are recognised as revenue when:
-	 	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	service	potential	associated	with	the	transaction	will	

flow	to	the	entity;
-	 the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably; and
-	 to the extent that there has been compliance with any restrictions associated with the grant.

If goods in-kind are received without conditions attached, revenue is recognised immediately. If condi-
tions are attached, a liability is recognised, which is reduced and revenue recognised as the conditions 
are	satisfied.

1.10 Investment income

Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

1.11 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign cur-
rency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the 
date of the transaction.

At each reporting date:
•	 foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
•	  non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
•	  non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the ex-

change rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous 
annual	financial	statements	are	recognised	in	surplus	or	deficit	in	the	period	in	which	they	arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised directly in net assets, any exchange component 
of that gain or loss is recognised directly in net assets. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is rec-
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ognised	in	surplus	or	deficit,	any	exchange	component	of	that	gain	or	loss	is	recognised	in	surplus	or	deficit.
Cash	flows	arising	from	transactions	in	a	foreign	currency	are	recorded	in	Rands	by	applying	to	the	foreign	
currency amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash 
flow.

1.12 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement 
of	financial	performance	 in	the	year	that	the	expenditure	was	 incurred.	The	expenditure	 is	classified	 in	
accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as 
revenue	in	the	statement	of	financial	performance.

1.13 Irregular expenditure

Irregular	expenditure	as	defined	in	section	1	of	the	PFMA	is	expenditure	other	than	unauthorised	expen-
diture, incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable 
legislation, including -
a. this Act; or
b. the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
c. any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of 
the PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular	expenditure	that	was	 incurred	and	 identified	during	the	current	financial	year	and	which	was	
condoned	before	year	end	and/or	before	finalisation	of	the	financial	statements	must	also	be	recorded	
appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is required with the 
exception	of	updating	the	note	to	the	financial	statements.

Irregular	expenditure	that	was	incurred	and	identified	during	the	current	financial	year	and	for	which	con-
donement is being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further 
action	is	required	with	the	exception	of	updating	the	note	to	the	financial	statements.

Where	irregular	expenditure	was	incurred	in	the	previous	financial	year	and	is	only	condoned	in	the	follow-
ing	financial	year,	the	register	and	the	disclosure	note	to	the	financial	statements	must	be	updated	with	
the amount condoned.

Irregular	expenditure	that	was	 incurred	and	 identified	during	the	current	financial	year	and	which	was	
not condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the 
irregular expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt 
account must be created if such a person is liable in law.

Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recov-
ery	is	not	possible,	the	accounting	officer	or	Council	may	write	off	the	amount	as	debt	impairment	and	
disclose	such	in	the	relevant	note	to	the	financial	statements.	The	irregular	expenditure	register	must	also	
be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable in 
law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item, be 
disclosed	as	such	in	the	note	to	the	financial	statements	and	updated	accordingly	in	the	irregular	expen-
diture register.

1.14 Budget information

Academy	of	Science	of	South	Africa	presents	its	approved	budget	on	a	cash	basis	and	the	financial	state-
ments on the accrual basis.

The	budget	is	approved	on	a	cash	basis	by	functional	classification	as	well	as	economic	classification.
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The	approved	budget	covers	the	fiscal	period	from	01/04/2020	to	31/03/2021.	The	budget	and	the	ac-
counting basis differ.

The	financial	statements	for	the	entity	are	prepared	on	the	accrual	basis	using	a	classification	based	on	
the	nature	of	expenses	in	the	statement	of	financial	performance.

The	financial	statements	differ	from	the	budget,	which	is	approved	on	the	cash	basis.

The statement of comparison budget and actual amounts is prepared on a comparable basis to the 
budget.	The	reconciliation	of	the	actual	comparable	amounts	to	the	net	cash	flows	per	the	cash	flow	
statement is presented on the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

1.15 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise 
significant	influence	over	the	other	party,	or	vice	versa,	or	an	entity	that	is	subject	to	common	control,	or	
joint control.

Control	is	the	power	to	govern	the	financial	and	operating	policies	of	an	entity	so	as	to	obtain	benefits	
from its activities.

Joint control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a binding arrangement, and exists only 
when	the	strategic	financial	and	operating	decisions	relating	to	the	activity	require	the	unanimous	con-
sent of the parties sharing control (the venturers).

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting entity 
and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Significant	influence	is	the	power	to	participate	in	the	financial	and	operating	policy	decisions	of	an	entity,	
but is not control over those policies.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the en-
tity, including those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances 
where they are required to perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expect-
ed	to	influence,	or	be	influenced	by,	that	management	in	their	dealings	with	the	entity.

The entity is exempt from disclosure requirements in relation to related party transactions if that transac-
tion occurs within normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationships on terms and conditions no more 
or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the entity to have adopted if dealing with 
that individual entity or person in the same circumstances and terms and conditions are within the normal 
operating parameters established by that reporting entity’s legal mandate.

Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures in accordance with the above, the entity discloses nar-
rative information about the nature of the transactions and the related outstanding balances, to enable 
users	of	the	entity’s	financial	statements	to	understand	the	effect	of	related	party	transactions	on	its	annual	
financial	statements.
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2. New standards and interpretations

2.1    Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and 
are mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2021 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:
Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

•	  GRAP104 (amended):
Financial Instruments

To	be	confirmed Unlikely there will be a material impact

•	   Guideline: Guideline on the Application 
of Materiality to Financial Statements

To	be	confirmed Unlikely there will be a material impact
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
3. Property, plant and equipment

Figures in Rand 2021 2020
Cost / 

Valuation
Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment

Carrying 
value

Furniture	and	fixtures 1,504,511 (1,504,511) - 1,507,218 (1,478,520) 28,698

Office	equipment 365,634 (344,253) 21,381 377,150 (343,869) 33,281

Computer equipment 1,125,652 (1,038,020) 87,632 1,267,332 (1,124,198) 143,134

Total 2,995,797 (2,886,784) 109,013 3,151,700 (2,946,587) 205,113
Reconciliation of property,plant and 
equipment - 2021

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Furniture	and	fixtures 28,698 - - (28,698) -

Office	equipment 33,281 - - (11,900) 21,381

Computer equipment 143,134 81,316 (932) (135,886) 87,632

205,113 81,316 (932) (176,484) 109,013

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020

Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Total
balance

Furniture	and	fixtures 67,230 - - (38,532) 28,698

Office	equipment 49,875 - - (16,594) 33,281

Computer equipment 282,989 12,616 (11,369) (141,102) 143,134

400,094 12,616 (11,369) (196,228) 205,113

4. Other financial assets

Designated at fair value

Stanlib Income Fund 13,848,748 13,133,274

Investment is measured at the value of the listed investment at reporting date.

 
Financial assets at fair value

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at fair value

For	financial	assets	recognised	at	fair	value,	disclosure	is	required	of	a	fair	value	hierarchy	which	reflects	the	significance	
of the inputs used to make the measurements. The fair value hierarchy have the following levels:

Level 1 represents those assets which are measured using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 
The fair value of the stanlib income fund is measured using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets. 

Level 2 applies inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirect-
ly (i.e. derived from prices). The entity has no items that are fair valued using inputs other than quoted prices.

Level 3 applies inputs which are not based on observable market data. The entity has no items fair valued using unob-
servable
Level 1

Stanlib Income Fund 13,848,748 13,133,274
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Figures in Rand 2021 2020

5. Receivables from exchange transactions

Trade debtors 574,173 539,634

Prepayments 243,513 527,914

Deposits 247,170 247,170

Provision for impairments (437,383) (432,908)

Project advances 65,037 172,917

 692,510 1,054,727

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across different industries in the geographical area of 
the	entity.	Periodic	credit	evaluation	is	performed	on	the	financial	condition	of	accounts	receivable	and,	where	appro-
priate, credit guarantee is increased accordingly. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 
day collection terms. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the amortised cost of each class of 
receivable mentioned above.

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, management considers any change in the credit quality of the debt-
or from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. Any impairment on trade and other receivables 
exists predominantly due to the possibility that these debts will not be recovered. Management assesses these debtors 
individually	for	impairment	and	group	them	together	in	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position	as	financial	assets	with	similar	
credit risk characteristics.

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be assessed by refer-
ence to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:

Trade and other receivables exchange transactions

Trade and other receivables that are outside their normal payment terms are considered to be past due. The following 
represents	an	analysis	of	the	past	due	financial	assets.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Current 135,658 300,927

30+ days 16,452 180,199

60+ days 49,270 48,004

90+ days 32,076 71,837

120+ days 896,437 886,669

Trade and other receivables impaired

As of 31 March 2021, trade and other receivables of R 154,200 (2020: R 242,011) were impaired and provided for.

The amount of the provision was R 437,383 as of 31 March 2021(2020: R 432,908).

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:
120+ days 512,706 432,908
Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
Opening balance (432,908) (456,023)
Provision for impairment (154,200) (242,011)
Amounts written off as uncollectible 108,223 263,126
Unused amounts reversed 41,502 2,000

(437,383) (432,908)

In determining the recoverability of debtors, the allowance for impairment of trade receivables has been made for custom-
er balances outstanding over 120 days. No further credit allowance is required in excess of the allowance for Impairment.
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6. Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Public contributions and subsidies 647,593 1,276,992

Credit qualityof receivables from non-exchange transactions

Periodic	credit	evaluation	is	performed	on	the	financial	condition	of	accounts	receivable	and,	where	appropriate,	credit	
guarantee is increased accordingly. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, management considers any change in the credit quality of the debtor 
from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. Any impairment on trade and other receivables (loans 
and receivables) exists predominantly due to the possibility that these debts will not be recovered. Management assesses 
these	debtors	individually	for	impairment	and	group	them	together	in	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position	as	financial	assets	
with similar credit risk characteristics.

The credit quality of trade receivables from non-exchange that are neither past due nor impaired are considered fair by the 
company taking into account the historical information available.

Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions that are outside their normal payment terms are considered to be past 
due.	The	following	represents	an	analysis	of	the	past	due	financial	assets.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Current 243,132 935,503

30+ days - 41,177

60+ days 275,738 160,650

90+ days - 139,653

120+ days 128,723 -

Receivables from non-exchange transactions impaired

As of 31 March 2021, other receivables from non-exchange transactions of R 5,989 (2020: R -) were impaired and provided for.

The amount of the provision was R 5,989 a sof 31 March 2021(2020: R -).
The ageing of these receivables is as follows:
120+days 5,989 -

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of receivables from non-exchange transactions
Opening balance
Provision for impairment
Amounts written off as uncollectible
Unused amounts reversed
Other

-
-

5,989
-
-

4,547
-
-

 (4,547)
-

5,989 -

7. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances 757,633 103,339
Short-term deposits 4,807,355 5,672,651

5,564,988 5,775,990
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8. Unspent conditional grants and receipts

Unspent conditional grants and receipts comprises of:

Unspent conditional grants and receipts

Alternative Telecommunication Technologies - 249,680

Deutsche Akademie 383,174 380,292

Department	of	Science	and	Innovation	-	Energy	Efficiency	Technologies 314,806 314,806

Department of Science and Innovation - Energy Management Knowledge 52,722 90,536

Department of Science and Innovation - Genetics and Genomics 118,073 118,073

Department of Science and Innovation - Hydraulic Fracturing 109,985 109,985

Department of Science and Innovation - Innovation for Inclusive Development 2,004,135 1,390,445

Department of Science and Innovation - International Cooperation 
& Intra Academy in Africa 1,848,364 3,096,828

Department of Science and Innovation - Postgraduate Engineering 118,027 301,642

Department of Science and Innovation - SAAE 444,476 145,644

IDRC - Breaking Barriers 631,796 968,392

Janssen Pharmaceuticals-M&S 274,783 369,561

National Research Foundation-African Open Science Platform 566,312 573,025

National Research Foundation-Africa Rapid Grant Fund 298,058 -

NIHSS -SAYAS 300,000 -

South African Medical Research Council 150,000 -

UNESCO - Twas 7,967 -

US NAS 475,302 -
8,097,980 8,108,909

Movement during the year

Alternative Telecommunication Technologies
Balance at the beginning of the year 249,680 -
Additions during the year - 390,150
Revenue recognised during the year (249,680) (140,470)
Balance at end of the year - 249,680
Deutsche Akademie
Balance at the beginning of the year 380,292 1,135,938
Additions during the year - 512,369
Revenue (recognised)/reversed during the year 2,882 (1,268,015)
Balance at end of the year 383,174 380,292
Department of Science and Innovation - Energy Efficiency Technologies
Balance at the beginning of the year 314,806 314,806
Additions during the year - -
Revenue recognised during the year - -
Balance at end of the year 314,806 314,806
Department of Science and Innovation - EnergyManagementKnowledge
Balance at the beginning of the year 90,536 156,576
Additions during the year - 1,000,000
Revenue recognised during the year (37,813) (1,066,040)
Balance at the end of the year 52,722 90,536
Department of Science and Innovation - Genetics and Genomics
Balance at the beginning of the year 118,073 120,595
Additions during the year - (2,522)
Revenue recognised during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year 118,073 118,073
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Department of Science and Innovation - HydraulicFracturing
Balance at the beginning of the year 109,985 110,635
Additions during the year - -
Revenue recognised during the year - (650)
Balance at the end of the year 109,985 109,985
Department of Science and Innovation - Innovation for Inclusive
Development
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,390,445 987,219
Additions during the year 1,000,000 1,000,000
Revenue recognised during the year (386,310) (596,774)
Balance at the end of the year 2,004,135 1,390,445
Department of Science and Innovation - International Cooperation 
and Intra Academy in Africa
Balance at the beginning of the year 3,096,828 3,155,387
Additions during the year - 9,588,365
Revenue recognised during the year (1,248,464) (9,646,924)
Balance at the end of the year 1,848,364 3,096,828
Department of Science and Innovation - Lindau Nobel Laureate
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Additions during the year 1,000,000 2,750,685
Revenue recognised during the year (1,000,000) (2,750,685)
Balance at the end of the year - -
Department of Science and Innovation - Postgraduate Engineering
Balance at the beginning of the year 301,642 388,324
Revenue recognised during the year (183,615) (86,682)

Balance at the end of the year 118,027 301,642
Department of Science and Innovation - SAAE
Balance at the beginning of the year 145,644 15,537
Additions during the year 314,553 269,463
Revenue recognised during the year (15,721) (139,356)
Balance at the end of the year 444,476 145,644
IDRC - Breaking Barriers
Balance at the beginning of the year 968,392 -
Additions during the year - 970,530
Revenue recognised during the year (336,596) (2,138)
Balance at the end of the year 631,796 968,392
Janssen Pharmaceuticals - M&S
Balance at the beginning of the year 369,561 489,397
Revenue recognised during the year (94,778) (119,836)
Balance at the end of the year 274,783 369,561
National Research Foundation - Africa Open Science Platform
Balance at the beginning of the year 573,025 -
Additions during the year - 2,863,097
Revenue recognised during the year (6,713) (2,290,072)
Balance at the end of the year 566,312 573,025
National Research Foundation - Africa Rapid Grant Fund
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Additions during the year 298,058 -
Revenue recognised during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year 298,058 -
NIHSS -SAYAS
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Additions during the year 300,000 -
Revenue recognised during the year - -
Balance at end of the year 300,000 -
South African Medical Research Council
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Additions during the year 150,000 -
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Revenue recognised during the year - -
Balance at end of the year 150,000 -
UNESCO - Twas
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Additions during the year 86,635 -
Revenue recognised during the year (75,668) -
Balance at the end of the year 7,967 -
UNESCO - GenderINSITE
Balance at the beginning of the year - 13,402
Additions during the year 204,748 508,798
Revenue recognised during the year (204,748) (508,798)
Refund recognised during the year - (13,402)
Balance at the end of the year - -
USNAS
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Additions during the year 840,297 -
Revenue recognised during the year (364,995) -
Balance at end of the year 475,302 -

9. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2021

Opening 
Balance

Additions Utilised during 
the year

Total

13th cheque bonus 2,443,291 1,551,450 (2,443,291) 1,551,450

Leave pay 1,310,229 1,922,371 (1,937,531) 1,295,069

3,753,520 3,473,821 (4,380,822) 2,846,519

Reconciliation of provisions - 2020

Opening 
Balance

Additions Utilised during 
the year

Total

13th cheque bonus 266,682 2,443,291 (266,682) 2,443,291

Leave pay 1,297,542 2,247,457 (2,234,770) 1,310,229

1,564,224 4,690,748 (2,501,452) 3,753,520

The	provision	represents	an	estimated	amount	to	be	paid	for	13th	cheque	bonuses.	The	process	of	finalising	provisions	will	
be	concluded	in	the	next	financial	year	when	the	actual	payments	are	made.

10. International Science Council - Regional Office for Africa (ISC-ROA)

Reconciliation

Opening balance 1,315,730 1,486,769

Amounts received during the year 5,084,052 7,799,694

Expenditure incurred during the year (5,029,841) (7,845,907)

Other costs incurred during the year - (124,826)

1,369,941 1,315,730

11. Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables 107,917 441,678

Income received in advance 13,733 1,200

Salary control account 811 811

Unallocated receipts 109,274 68,971

231,735 512,660
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12. Revenue

Fees earned 491,643 667,908

Interest received 1,021,221 1,441,926

Government grants & subsidies 27,782,534 39,011,994

Local grants and donations 4,984,796 8,128,856

Foreign grants and donations 1,287,595 3,337,701

35,567,789 52,588,385

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as 
follows:

Publication fees 350,541 426,586

Membership fees 110,000 106,400

Bad debts recovered 31,102 2,000

Insurance recoveries - 7,378

Sundry recoveries - 125,544

491,643 667,908

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:

Taxation revenue 

Transfer revenue
Government grants & subsidies 27,782,534 39,011,994

Local grants and donations 4,984,796 8,128,856

Foreign grants and donations 1,287,595 3,337,701

34,054,925 50,478,551

13. Government grants and subsidies

Operating grants

Department of Science and Innovation-Baseline 24,840,000 26,983,000

Department of Science and Innovation-Contract funding 2,935,821 10,101,976

South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement - 63,849

National Research Foundation 6,713 1,813,169

South African Medical Research Council - 50,000

27,782,534 39,011,994

14. Employee related costs

Basic 21,852,954 22,132,323

Bonus 1,551,450 2,443,291

Unemployment Insurance Fund 136,359 146,418

Workers Compensation Assistance 42,079 65,008

Skills Development Levy 152,229 227,320

Other payroll levies 11,040 13,720

Leave pay provision charge (15,159) 12,687

Defined	contribution	plans 3,196,612 3,256,679

26,927,564 28,297,446

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021



 126  ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  

15. General expenses

Advertising 18,078 17,214

Auditors remuneration 608,052 487,301

Bank charges 34,017 46,864

Cleaning 7,030 -

Consulting and professional fees 462,617 448,105

Consumables 24,019 12,492

Insurance 160,841 277,337

IT expenses 806,002 552,813

Promotions and sponsorships (60,000) 60,000

Placement fees 2,950 5,273

Postage and courier - 2,703

Printing and stationery 34,983 182,555

Repairs and maintenance 3,612 3,173

Security services - 5,425

Software expenses 97,212 792

Staff welfare 35,646 41,100

Subscriptions and membership fees 66,427 103,780

Telephone and fax 45,577 54,861

Training 18,655 202,585

Travel - local and overseas 5,361 628,862

Project Expenditure 3,410,609 18,606,704

Office	expenses 35,677 69,290

Layout and design 3,900 136,755

Catering and refreshments 1,258 27,140

Other expenses 56,860 13,248

5,879,383 21,986,372

16. Fair value adjustments

Other	financial	assets

	y Fair value adjustments-investment (78,638) 19,488

17. Auditors’ remuneration

Fees 608,052 487,301

18. Lease Rentals on Operating Leases

Premises 1,803,842 1,799,259

Photocopier 38,502 35,162

1,842,344 1,834,421
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19. Cash generated from operations

Surplus 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation

561,400

176,484

43,206

196,228

Loss on disposal of assets 932 11,369

Fair value adjustments 78,638 (19,488)

Provision for doubtful debts

Changes in working capital:

Receivables from exchange transactions

163,989

362,217

242,011

(167,556)

Provision for impairment of debtors (163,989) (242,011)

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions 629,399 434,180

Payables from exchange transactions (280,925) (1,557,525)

International	Science	Council	-	Regional	Office	for	Africa	
(ISC ROA)

54,211 (171,039)

Unspent conditional grants and receipts (10,929) 1,221,093

Provisions (907,001) 2,189,296

664,426 2,179,764

20. Financial instruments disclosure

Categories of financial instruments

2021

Financial assets

At fair value At amortised 
cost

Total

Other	financial	assets 13,848,748 - 13,848,748

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions - 692,510 692,510

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions - 647,593 647,593

Cash and cash equivalents - 5,564,988 5,564,988

13,848,748 6,905,091 20,753,839

Financial liabilities
At amortised 

cost 
Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 3,078,254 3,078,254

2020

Financial assets

At fair value At amortised 
cost

Total

Other	financial	assets 13,133,274 - 13,133,274
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions - 1,054,727 1,054,727
Other receivables from non-exchange transactions - 1,276,992 1,276,992
Cash and cash equivalents - 5,775,990 5,775,990

13,133,274 8,107,709 21,240,983

Financial liabilities
At amortised 

cost 
Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 4,266,180 4,266,180

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021



 128  ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  

21. Commitments

This	committed	expenditure	relates	to	office	rent,	parking	bays,	photocopier,	storage,	journal	support,	journal	design	and	
market research.

Operating leases - as lessee (expense)

Minimum payments due
- within one year 218,964 355,396
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive - -
Photocopier
- within one year 38,502 38,502
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive 19,251 57,753
Storage
- within one year 32,243 -
Journal Support
- within one year 125,292 -
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive 187,938 -
Journal Design
- within one year 59,524 -
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive 14,881 -
Market Research
- within one year 39,382 -
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive 39,382 -

Operating	lease	payments	represent	rentals	payable	by	the	entity	for	office	rent	and	parking	bays.	Lease	duration	is	from	1	
January 2021 to 31 December 2021. Monthly lease payment amount to R72,987.85. No contingent rent is payable.

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for photocopier. Lease duration is from 1 October 2019 to 
30 September 2022. Monthly lease payment amount to R3,208.50. No contingent rental is payable.

Operating lease payments represent storage payable by the entity for storage. Lease duration is from December 2020 to 
March 2022. Monthly lease payment amount to R2,686.95. No contingent rental is payable.

Commitment payments represent journal maintenance payable by the entity for journal maintenance. Contract duration is 
from December 2020 to October 2023. Quarterly payment amount to R31,330.00. No contingent rental is payable.

Commitment payments represent journal design payable by the entity for journal design. Contract duration is from July 2020 
to June 2022. Quarterly payment amount to R14,881.00. No contingent rental is payable.

Commitment payments represent market research payable by the entity for market research. Contract duration is from April 
2020 to March 2023. Quarterly payment amount to R3,281.82.00. No contingent rental is payable.

22. Related parties

Relationships
Controlling entity   Department of Science and Innovation
Controlled	entities	 	 	 	Council	for	Scientific	and	Industrial	Research	
     Human Science Research Council
     National Advisory Council on Innovation 
     National Research Foundation
	 	 	 	 	 South	African	Council	Agency	for	Natural	Scientific	Professions
     South African National Space Agency 
     Technology Innovation Agency
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ASSAf Council Members   Prof J Jansen
     Prof S Burton 
     Prof N Duncan 
     Prof E Cloete 
     Prof S Essack 
     Prof M Scholes
     Prof N Phaswana-Mafuya 
     Prof Wim De Villiers
     Prof E Kalula 
     Prof I Gledhill 
     Prof J May 
     Prof C Pirk

Members of key management  Prof H Soodyall 
     Mr M Chiloane 
     Mr S Maphosa 
     Mrs L Du Plessis 
     Mrs S Veldsman

Related party balances

Unspent conditional grants

Department of Science and Innovation 5,010,588 5,567,959

National Research Foundation 864,370 573,025

Receivables from exchange and non exchange transactions

Department of Science and Innovation 588,759 524,862

Council	for	Scientific	and	Industrial	Research 16,303 16,303

Human Sciences Research Council 56,320 -

Payables from exchange transactions

National Research Foundation 3,564 -

Related party transactions

Grants received

Department of Science and Innovation 27,775,821 37,084,976

National Research Foundation 6,713 1,813,169

Fees received

Human Sciences Research Council 56,320 -

Expenditure incurred

National Research Foundation 20,582 133,108

Remuneration of management

Management class: Executive management

2021

Name
Basic salary Bonuses Other short-term 

employee benefits
Total

Executive	Officer 1,877,400 156,450 9,000 2,042,850
Financial Manager 1,457,291 121,441 6,000 1,584,732
Human Resource Manager 1,017,299 84,775 6,000 1,108,074
Liaison Manager 1,196,345 99,695 6,000 1,302,040
Scholary Publishing Manager 1,104,755 92,063 6,000 1,202,818

6,653,090 554,424 33,000 7,240,514

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021



 130  ASSAf Annual Report 2020|2021  

2020

Name
Basic salary Bonuses Other short-term 

employee benefits
Total

Executive	Officer 1,788,000 184,760 9,000 1,981,760
Financial Manager 1,387,899 143,416 6,000 1,537,315
Human Resource Manager 974,444 100,116 6,000 1,080,560
Communications Manager 801,162 - 4,500 805,662
Liaison Manager 1,139,378 117,736 6,000 1,263,114
Scholary Publishing Manager 1,052,147 108,721 6,000 1,166,868

7,143,030 654,749 37,500 7,835,279

23. Council members’ emoluments

No	emoluments	were	paid	to	the	members	or	any	individuals	holding	a	prescribed	office	during	the	year.

24. Comparative figures

Comparative	figures	have	been	restated	to	facilitate	correct	disclosure.

25. Risk management

Financial risk management

The	entity’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	financial	risks:	market	risk	(including	currency	risk,	fair	value	interest	rate	risk,	and	
cash	flow	interest	rate	risk),	credit	risk	and	liquidity	risk.

The	entity’s	overall	risk	management	program	focuses	on	the	unpredictability	of	financial	markets	and	seeks	to	minimise	po-
tential	adverse	effects	on	the	entity’s	financial	performance.	Risk	management	is	carried	out	by	entity’s	finance	department	
under	policies	approved	by	the	accounting	authority.	Entity	finance	finance	department	identifies,	evaluates	and	hedges	
financial	risks	in	close	co-operation	with	the	entity’s	operating	units.	The	accounting	authority	provides	written	principles	for	
overall	risk	management,	as	well	as	written	policies	covering	specific	areas,	such	as	foreign	exchange	risk,	interest	rate	risk,	
credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk

Prudent	liquidity	risk	management	implies	maintaining	sufficient	cash	and	the	availability	of	funding.

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments, through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure 
and	actual	vs	forecasted	cash	flows	and	its	investment	policy.	Adequate	reserves	and	liquid	resources	are	also	maintained.

Cash	flow	forecasts	are	prepared	and	adequate	utilised	borrowing	facilities	are	monitored.

The	table	below	analyses	the	entity’s	financial	liabilities	into	relevant	maturity	groupings	based	on	the	remaining	period	at	
the	statement	of	financial	position	to	the	contractual	maturity	date.	The	amounts	disclosed	in	the	table	are	the	contractual	
undiscounted	cash	flows.	Balances	due	within	12	months	equal	their	carrying	balances	as	the	impact	of	discounting	is	not	
significant.
 
At 31 March 2021 Less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 years
Trade and other payables 3,078,254 -

At 31 March 2020 Less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 years
Trade and other payables 4,266,180 -

Credit risk

Credit	risk	consists	mainly	of	cash	deposits,	cash	equivalents,	derivative	financial	instruments	and	trade	debtors.	The	entity	
only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.
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Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
risk	control	assesses	the	credit	quality	of	the	customer,	taking	into	account	its	financial	position,	past	experience	and	other	
factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Council. The util-
isation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

As	the	entity	has	no	significant	interest-bearing	assets,	the	entity’s	income	and	operating	cash	flows	are	substantially	inde-
pendent of changes in market interest rates.

Foreign exchange risk

The entity receives grants and make payments to suppliers in foreign denomination. Foreign exchange risk arises from fund-
ing received in US dollar.

The	entity	does	not	hedge	foreign	exchange	fluctuations.

26. Going concern

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	going	concern	basis.	This	basis	presumes	that	funds	will	be	
available	to	finance	future	operations	and	that	the	realisation	of	assets	and	settlement	of	liabilities,	contingent	obligations	
and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

COVID-19 pandemic impact:

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak a global pandemic 
which subsequently resulted in the President of South Africa declaring a national state of disaster on 15 March 2020, with 
many measures implemented by the government, such as travel restrictions. On 23 March 2020, the President of South Africa 
announced a national 21-day lockdown starting on the 26 March 2020.

ASSAf receives its funding mainly from government and some from local and foreign sources in the form of grants. The fund-
ing is still anticipated to be received in the foreseeable future based on the pledges and or contracts in place.

In addition, the entity operated as normal as projects and activities were being undertaken virtually. ASSAf is expected to 
continue to receive funding and the going concern assumption remains appropriate.

27. Events after the reporting date

Council	is	not	aware	of	any	material	events	that	would	impact	the	reporting	of	the	annual	financial	statements.
The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	authorised	for	issue	by	the	Council	on	the	26	July	2021,	as	the	audit	opinion	was	
provided	on	those	annual	financial	statements

28. Budget differences

Differences between actual and budgeted values basis of preparation and presentation

The	budget	and	accounting	basis	differ.	The	financial	statements	are	prepared	on	the	accrual	basis	using	a	classification	on	
the	nature	of	expenses	in	the	statement	of	financial	performance.	The	financial	statements	differ	from	the	budget,	which	is	
approved on the cash basis.

The	amounts	 in	the	annual	financial	statements	were	recast	from	the	accrual	basis	to	the	cash	basis	and	reclassified	by	
functional	classification	to	be	on	the	same	basis	as	the	final	approved	budget.

The variance between the actual and budgeted values are explained as follows::

The	budget	is	approved	on	a	cash	basis	by	functional	classification.	The	approved	budget	covers	the	period	from	1	April	
2020 to 31 March 2021. The variance on the budget was as a result of the following;
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28.1  Fees earned. Unfavourable variance of 9.62%. This was as a result of Covid-19 lockdown restrictions dropping ad-
verts and online journals hosted during the course of the year.

28.2  Interest received. Unfavourable variance of 14.90%. This was as a result of Covid-19 lockdown restrictions and cuts 
in grant funding, which dropped cash and cash equivalents that was kept in a short term interest generating bank 
account.

28.3  Government grants and subsidies. Unfavourable variance of 6.59%. This was as a result of Covid-19 lockdown restric-
tions and cuts in grant funding.

28.4  Local grants and donations. Favourable variance of 859.42%. This was as a result of additional grant funding se-
cured during the year.

28.5  Foreign grants and donations. Unfavourable variance of 7.15%. This was as a result of Covid-19 lockdown restrictions 
and cuts in grant funding.

28.6  Personnel costs. Unfavourable variance of 19.27%. This was as a result of the annual salary increase, provision for 
bonus and annual leave paid out.

28.7	 	Lease	rentals	on	operating	lease.	Unfavourable	variance	of	10.61%.	This	was	as	a	result	of	the	office	rental	for	an	
entity ASSAf is hosting.

28.8  General expenses. Favourable variance of 33.45%. This was as a result of Covid-19 lockdown restrictions as project 
activities were undertaken virtually.

Changes from the approved budget to the final budget

The	changes	between	the	approved	and	final	budget	are	a	consequence	of	changes	in	the	overall	budget	parameters	
due to reduction in funding during the year.
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ANNEXURE A
Table 4: Summary of activities pertaining to ASSAf’s lectures, meetings, conferences, workshops, sci-
ence engagement, strategic partnerships, and women and gender in science for all programmes 
(hosted or showing participation).

Date Programme/
Partner

Activity details Participant(s)

ASSAf-Royal Society Seminars hosted by University of Cape Town
18/11/20 LP

RssA
Title: 
Finding Haarlem

Speaker: 

Dr Bruno Werz (African Institute for Marine & 
Underwater Research, Exploration & Education)

17/03/21 LP
RssA

Title: 
Dynamic desert: Land use and 
environmental change in the karoo

Recording:
https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=LzkoIIHclTo

Speaker:

Prof Timm Hoffman (UCT)

Embassy Lecture Series
07/07/20 LP

Embassy of Italy 
in south Africa

Title: social, Psychological and Health 
Impact of COVID-19 on the Elderly: south 
African and Italian Perspectives

Proceedings report: 
http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.11911/153

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
HE Mr Paolo Cuculi, Ambassador, Embassy of Italy 
in south Africa
Prof Priscilla Reddy (HsRC, MAssAf)
Prof Emanuele Nicastri (National Institute for 
Infectious Diseases, Italy)
Prof Ashraf kagee (sU, MAssAf)
Prof Fabrizia Lattanzio (National Institute for Health 
and science on Aging, Italy)
Prof Margie schneider (UCT)

Presidential Roundtables
28/05/20 LP Title: Technology and the Future of 

Higher Education

Recording:
https://bit.ly/2MbL Wsu

Participants/Speakers:
Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Prof Ruksana Osman (Wits, MAssAf)
Prof Laura Czerniewiecz (UCT)
Mr Stafford Masie (WeWork South Africa)

25/11/20 LP Title: Frankensteins or Gods? The impact 
of the new technologies on what it means 
to be human

Recording:
https://buff.ly/2JLjCIY

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Prof Margaret Levi (stanford University)
Prof Tshilidzi Marwala (UJ, MAssAf)
Dr Asheel singh (UJ)
Dr Mpho Tshivhase (UP)

ASSAf Annual Science-Business Leadership Forum
26/11/20 LP Title:

south Africa’s Economic Recovery Post 
COVID-19

Recording:
https://drive.google.com/
drive/folders/1Z2tBBOo6U0j-
hZVfVEsswBr0dwqs4Rhu

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Dr kenneth Creamer (Wits)
Dr Thabi Leoka (statistics south Africa)

Innovation for Inclusive Development (IID) Seminars (Partnership with DSI)
31/08/20 LP Title:

Building Profitable and Sustainable 
Community Owned Connectivity Networks

Proceedings report:
https://research.assaf.org.za/
handle/20.500.11911/174

Participants/speakers:

Ms Ellen Fischat (story Room)
Dr Carlos Rey-Moreno (APC-Brazil)
Mr Michuki Mwangi (Internet society-kenya)
Mr Jabhera Matogoro (University of Dodoma-
Tanzania)
Ms Duduzile Mkhwanazi (Consultant-south Africa)
Mr Jabulani Vilakazi (soweto Wireless User 
Groups-south Africa)
Dr David Johnson (UCT)
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01/03/21 LP
DsI
UJ

Title:
Exploring the Prospects of Using 3D 
Printing Technology in the south African 
Human settlements

Recording:
https://buff.ly/33XpqWw

Participants/speakers:

Dr Jennifer Mirembe (Department of Human 
settlements)
Dr Jeffrey Mahachi (UJ)
Mr Refilwe Lediga (UJ)
Mr khululekani Ntakana (UJ)
Dr Luxien Ariyan (UJ)

Annual Humanities Lecture
06/10/20 sPP Title:

Race science
Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Ms Angela saini (science Journalist)

Distinguished Visiting Scholar
10/09/20 LP

UJ
Title:
science Policy, science Literacy: Post-
COVID education for the developing world 
during the Fourth Industrial Revolution

Recording:
https://www.facebook.com/UJLibrary/
videos/617637425493139 

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Tshilidzi Marwala (UJ, MAssAf)
Prof saurabh sinha (UJ, MAssAf)
Prof Romain Murenzi (TWAs)
Prof shireen Motala (UJ)

ASSAf Annual Awards Ceremony
14/10/20 Governance Title: 2020 AssAf Awards Ceremony

Recording: 
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1c-
LcFBe2pTdznMFdZofuEt6DrsANstRH/
view?usp=sharing

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)
Prof Brenda Wingfield (Vice-President, ASSAf)
Prof Barney Pityana (Vice-President, AssAf)
Prof Eugene Cloete (Treasurer, AssAf)
Prof sabiha Essack (General secretary, AssAf)
Dr Judy Dlamini (Wits)
Dr Marizvikuru Manjoro (sAYAs)
Prof Adeyemi Oladapo Aremu (sAYAs)

Meetings/Workshops/Conferences/Functions/Strategic Partnership participation and/or hosted
26/03/21 LP

DsI
Title:
Book Launch: Lindau Nobel Laureate 
Meetings - Narratives from south Africa

Recording:
https://buff.ly/2RuhBoC 

Participants/Speakers:

Dr stanley Maphosa (AssAf)
Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)
Mr Daan du Toit (DsI)
Mr Bheki Radebe (DsI)
Ms Edith shikumo (NRF)
Dr Osmond Mlonyeni (Alumnus)
Dr Edith Phalane (Alumnus)
Mr Thembinkosi Magasela (DsI)

23/04/20 sPP Title:
How can journals promote science 
engagement

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jane Carruthers (Editor-in-Chief of the SAJS)
27/05/20 sPP Title:

Recognising collaborative research

Recording:
https://drive.google.com/file/d/18JNwfcX1f
6VNNT6j1cvQT3o1TQAkn3nf/view

Participants/Speakers:

susan Veldsman (AssAf)
Prof David Walwyn (UP)

04/06/20 sPP Title:
SAJS Author Questions and Answers on 
Marine Plastic Debris in south Africa

Recording:
https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=6HdhZ1A7v_k

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jane Carruthers (Editor-in-Chief of the SAJS)
Prof Linda Godfrey (CsIR)
Dr Carina Verster (NWU)
Dr sumaiya Arabi (CsIR)
Prof Peter Ryan (UCT)
Dr Trishan Naidoo (UCT)

18/06/20 LP Title:
Harnessing health Innovations in Africa to 
tackle COVID-19 and beyond

Recording:
https://youtu.be/1YkTsCjc7rk

Participants/Speakers:

A/Prof sudesh sivarasu (UCT, sAYAs member)
Prof salome Maswime (UCT)
Dr Michelle Mulder (sAMRC)
Prof Moses John Bockarie (sAMRC)
Dr Palesa sekhejane (HsRC)
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30/06/20 LP
DsI

Title:
Lindau 2020 Nobel Laureate Online 
Meeting (Expo and Networking session)

A video – integrating video clips and 
photos from previous Lindau meetings 
– was compiled by AssAf and projected 
online for two consecutive days. The 
video can be accessed at:
https://animoto.com/play/
Q5zJ1AF6PRmfCjkl5FUFgw

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)

22/07/20 LP
NAsAC

Title:
Response of African science academies 
to the COVID-19 pandemic

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Norbert Hounkonnou (NAsAC)
Prof Peggy Hamburg (IAP)
Jackie kado (NAsAC)
Prof Habiba B. Chaabouni
(Academy of Arts, sciences and Letters
Beit al-Hikma –Tunisia)
Dr Abdeslam Hoummada (Hassan II Academy of 
sciences and
Technology – Morocco)
Dr Betty N. kivumbi (Uganda National Academy of 
sciences)
Dr Doyin Odubanjo (Nigerian Academy of science)
Prof Fastone Goma (Zambia Academy of 
sciences)
Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)

31/07/20 sPP Title:
Good Peer Review Practices

Recording:
https://bit.ly/3hsYMmt 

Participants/Speakers:

Dr Lucienne Abrahams (Corresponding Editor, 
African Journal of Information and Communication)
Dr salmina Mokgehle (ARC) 
Prof Mokoko Piet sebola (University of Limpopo)
Dr Andy Carolin (UJ)

26/08/20 sPP Title:
Let’s ROR Together: An Introduction to 
the Research Organization Registry

Recording:
https://bit.ly/2ErfV8I 

Participants/Speakers:

Maria Gould (Product Manager and Research 
Data specialist at California Digital Library at the 
University of California)

28/09/20 LP Title:
The Hidden Crisis: Mental Health in Times 
of COVID-19

Participants/Speakers:

Marcella Rietschel (Central Institute of Mental 
Health, Germany) 
Prof Berta Ausin (University of Madrid, spain) 
Prof Oye Gureje (WHO, University of Ibadan, 
Nigeria)
Prof Andreas Heinz (Charité University Hospital, 
Berlin)
Prof Ashraf kagee (sU)

01/10/20 LP
Us NAs
Academies 
of science of 
the following 
countries: 
academies 
of science in 
Botswana, 
eswatini, 
Mauritius, Zambia 
and Zimbabwe

Title:
COVID-19 Public Health and social 
Measures (PHsM) Implementation: A 
sADC Region Perspective

Recording:
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1q2Z1ScD5
6tj3lBxbbobitUwBGzusFY4a/view 

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)
Dr Willy Amisi (sADC secretariat)
Dr Marape Marape (Public Health Consultant, 
Botswana)
Prof simiso Mkhonta (University of Eswatini)
Dr Deoraj Caussy (Epidemiology Consultant, 
Mauritius)
Dr Modest Mulenga (Copperbelt University, 
Zambia)
Prof Charles Nhachi (President, Medical Research 
Council of Zimbabwe)

14/10/20 Governance AGM Lecture
Title: 
The changing course of the COVID-19 
pandemic in south Africa - hope or 
despair?

Participants/Speakers:

Prof shabir Madi (Wits)
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20/10 to 
24/10/20

sPP Title:
Open Access Week

20 October 2020: Prof Cameron Neylon from 
Curtin University, Australia, provided a regional 
perspective through his presentation on Global 
Open Access to scholarly Literature: Progress and 
Evidence of African Leadership. 
22 October 2020: south African Protection of 
Personal Information (POPI) Act,  chaired by AssAf 
Executive Officer, Prof Himla Soodyall, on the topic 
The POPI Act (POPIA) - The need for a single 
Code of Conduct for Research and a discussion of 
key issues to be addressed in the Code. 
23 October 2020: Prof Ahmed Bawa from 
Universities south Africa (UsAf) presented on The 
Open science Agenda and Framework for south 
Africa/south African Open science Adventures. 
24 October 2020: Overview of the African 
scientists Directory, presented by Dr Richard 
Glover (IsC ROA) and Ina smith (AssAf). An 
article by University World News: Africa Edition, 
for an account of the webinar can be accessed 
here: African scientists Directory fosters 
collaboration, counters populism. 

18/11/20 sAP
NAsAC
Leopoldina

Title:
Neonicotinoid Insecticides: Use and 
Effects in African Agriculture. A Review 
and Recommendations to Policymakers

Proceedings report:
https://research.assaf.org.za/
handle/20.500.11911/178 

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)
Prof Masresha Fetene (Co-chair, IAP)
Mrs Jackie kado (Executive Director, NAsAC)
Prof Michael Norton (Programme Director, EAsAC 
Environment)
Prof Torto Baldwyn (International Centre of Insect 
Physiology and Ecology)
Dr Enock Dankyi (University of Ghana)

20/11/20 LP
DsI
HsRC
Nabio Consulting
TWAs-sAREP
AsPEN
Pfizer 

Title:
COVID-19 Vaccine Policy Dialogue 2020

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Eleanor Fish (University of Toronto)
Dr Max Paoli (TWAs)
Dr stanley Maphosa (AssAf) 

03/12 to 
04/12/20

LP
TWAs-sAREP
TWAs-Latin 
America
Caribbean 
Regional Partner 
(LACREP) TWAs-
Arab Regional 
Partner (AREP)

Title:
TWAs-sAREP and TYAN symposium 
and Workshop

see full programme here for all participants:
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1uMx64qPCS2R4SH
RqhN7Jo5U9ktlwVLoL/view 

26/11/20 LP
Leopoldina
Ethiopian 
Academy of 
sciences
Uk Academy of 
Medical sciences
of science of 
senegal Academy 
of science and 
Technology ̇

Title:
COVID-19 and Multimorbidity: How to 
Deal with Multiple Infectious Diseases in 
Parallel?

Participants/Speakers:

Vivian Upmann (Freelance Journalist)
Prof Quarraisha Abdool karim (CAPRIsA, 
MAssAf)
Prof Wondwossen Amogne (Addis Ababa 
University, Ethiopia)
Prof Papa salif sow (senegal Academy of science 
and Technology)
Prof stefan kaufmann (Max Planck Institute for 
Infection Biology, Berlin, Germany)
Prof Peter Calverley (University of Liverpool, United 
kingdom)

27/11/20 LP
sAYAs

Title:
Modelling and simulation in Medicine: 
Public Trust in Numbers and COVID-19

Participants/Speakers:

Mr Michael Ellis (sAAsTA)
Dr Claire Davis-Reddy (south African Earth 
Observation Network)
Prof Tarylee Reddy (sAMRC)
Prof Bruce Mellado (Wits)
Prof Gesine Meyer-Rath (Boston University)
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07/12/20 LP
International 
Human Rights 
Network of 
Academies 
and scholarly 
societies

Title:
COVID-19 and Human Rights: 
Perspectives on socio-economic Rights 
and Violence

Recording:
https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=gE036wQHt8w&t=1s

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Dr siyavuya Bulani (AssAf)
Prof Christof Heyns (UP, MAssAf)
Prof Rachel Jewkes (sAMRC)
Prof sandy Liebenberg (sU)
Prof Christopher Mbazira (Makarere University, 
Uganda)

14/12 to 
15/12/20

LP
BRICs Academies 
of sciences

Title:
Academic science in the Fight against 
COVID-19: Economic, sociological and 
Other Aspects of the Post-COVID World

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Prof salim Abdool karim (CAPRIsA)
Prof Julian May (UWC)

15/02/21 Governance Title:
Challenges Lying ahead with COVID-19 
Vaccines in south Africa

Recording:
https://www.facebook.
com/245174602508331/
videos/466721374348277 

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Prof Mosa Moshabela (Chair, AssAf standing 
Committee on Health)
Prof shabir Madhi (Wits, MAssAf)
Prof Wolfgang Preiser (sU, MAssAf)

18/02/21 LP
Unisa
NWU
sAMRC

Title:
No Paraffin! Campaign webinar series

Webinar 1: south Africa’s Inequalities 
in Risk: The Case for the No Paraffin! 
Campaign

Recording:
https://www.facebook.
com/245174602508331/
videos/1037070000118180 

Participants/speakers:

Prof Mohamed seedat (Unisa, MAssAf)
Prof Thenji Meyiwa (Unisa)
Prof stuart Piketh (NWU, MAssAf)
Prof Ashley van Niekerk (Unisa)
Prof Joe Baleka (TEPRAsM)
Prof David kimemia (Unisa)
Dr Ethel Andrews (sA Burns Association)
Prof Harold Annegarn (NWU, MAssAf)

25/02/21 LP
Unisa
NWU
sAMRC

Title:
No Paraffin! Campaign webinar series

Webinar 2: Lessons for south Africa: 
successful Campaigns for Energy 
Migration

Recording:
https://www.facebook.com/watch/live/?v=
337779580911309&ref=watch_permalink

Participants/Speakers:

Prof kopano Ratele (Unisa and sAMRC)
Dr Debajit Palit (The Energy &
Resources Institute)
Mr Greg Murray (kOkO) 
Prof Harold Annegarn (NWU, MAssAf)
Dr shonali Pachauri (Institute
for Advanced systems Analysis)
Prof Diane Hildebrandt (Unisa, MAssAf)
Prof Shahnaaz Suffla (Unisa)
Mr Thapelo Mohapi (Abahlali baseMjondolo 
Movement sA)
Mr Phumzile Nteyi (Urban Rural Development)
Mr Joe Baleka (TEPRAsM)
Ms sibongile Zenzile (Community Burn safety 
Champion)
Prof Quarraisha Abdool karim (CAPRIsA, 
MAssAf)
Ms Teri kruger (synergetics
sustainable solutions) (sAMRC)
Dr Yussuf saloojee (National
Council Against smoking)

04/03/21 LP
Unisa
NWU
sAMRC

Title:
No Paraffin! Campaign webinar series

Webinar 3: Institutional Arrangements, 
Evidence and Policy Pathways to safe 
Domestic Energy

Recording:
https://www.facebook.com/watch/live/?v=
497004357961382&ref=watch_permalink

Participants/Speakers:

Prof stuart Piketh (NWU, MAssAf)
Prof Mohamed seedat (Unisa, MAssAf)
Dr David kimemia (Unisa)
Prof Ashley van Niekerk (Unisa)
Prof Harold Annegarn (NWU MAssAf)
Prof Jimi Adesina (Unisa, MAssAf)
Prof Himla soodyall (AssAf)
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15/03/21 LP
DsI

Title:
Civil society Organisations in 
Conversation with science: synergies 
aimed at addressing developmental 
challenges for the societies we serve

Recording:
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Upn
vwD1gqpLMp06xr4UzvyIe9u7piXqI/
view?usp=sharing 

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Igle Gledhill (Wits, MAssAf)
Dr Anthony Bouwer (National Development 
Agency)
Ms Itumeleng Indiphile Motlhabane (Equal 
Education)
Mr Vinayak Bhardwaj (Doctors Without Borders)
Dr Caradee Wright (sAMRC) 
 

The Innovation Bridge Science Forum South Africa 2020
10/12/20 AssAf

DsI
Title: 
The Presidential Employment stimulus: 
Research Opportunities

Participants/Speakers:

Busisiwe Ntuli (DsI)
Dr Kate Philip (Project Management Office: Private 
Office of the President)
Dr stanley Maphosa (AssAf)
Imraan Patel (DsI)

10/12/20 AssAf
DsI

Title: 
The Protection of Personal Information 
Act No 4 of 2013: A Code of Conduct for 
Research

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Michèle Ramsay (Wits, MAssAf)
DR Rachel Adams (HsRC)
Prof Collet Dandara (UCT)
Dr Harriet Etheredge (Wits)
Dr Antonel Olckers (DNAbiotec, MAssAf)
Prof Tobias schonwetter (UCT)

10/12/20 AssAf
DsI

Title: 
iscourses of Race

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)
Prof Crain soudien (HsRC)
Prof Cathy Burns (Wits)
Prof Collet Dandara (UCT)

10/12/20 AssAf
DsI
sci-COMM

Title: 
The Policy & Practice of Drug, Alcohol & 
Tobacco Use During COVID-19

Recording:
https://research.assaf.org.za/
handle/20.500.11911/175 

Participants/Speakers:

Aidan Gilligan (sci-COMM)
Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)
shaun shelly (TB HIV Care)
Prof Francois Venter (Wits)
Dr kgosi Letlape (Association of Medical Councils 
of Africa)
Prof Julian kinderlerer (UkZN)
Prof David Budtz Pedersen (University of 
Copenhagen)

10/12/20 AssAf
DsI

Title:
Integrating Gender across sDG Research 
in south Africa

Participants/speakers:

Prof Jonathan Jansen (President, AssAf)
Ylann schemm (Elsevier Foundation)
Dr Molapo Qhobela (NRF)
Holly Falk krzesinski (Elsevier Foundation)
Prof Jennifer Thomson (UCT, OWsD, MAssAf)

10/12/20 AssAf
DsI

Title: 
Open science: Future of science, 
science of the Future

Participants/Speakers:

susan Veldsman (AssAf)
11/12/20 AssAf

DsI
Title: 
science Diplomacy: Considering the 
Health Diplomacy response to COVID-19

Participants/speakers:

Dr stanley Maphosa (AssAf)
Dr Jeffrey Mphahlele (SAMRC)
Prof steven Friedman (UJ)
Dr Philani Mthembu (Institute for Global Dialogue)
Jackie kado (NAsAC)
Dr Charles FB Nhachi (University of Zimbabwe)
Prof Oyewale Tomori (Nigerian Academy of 
science)

11/12/20 AssAf
DsI
UCT
IsC-ROA

Title: 
Research Excellence, Peer Review and 
Epistemic Justice

Participants/speakers:

Prof Jane Carruthers (Editor-in-Chief of the SAJS)
Prof keyan Gray Tomaselli (UJ)
Dr Joel Modiri (UP)
Phila Msimang (sU)
Dr Bridget Farham (Editor, south
African Medical Journal)
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Science Engagement and outreach
15/03/21 sPP

DsI
sAAsTA
sANsA
sARAO
Eding 
International 
science Festival

Title:
science for society Week

Day 1: space science and astronomy in 
science engagement

Recording: TBC

Participants/Speakers:

Mr Tsepo Majake (AssAf)
Mr Dan Matsapola (sANsA)
simphiwe Madlanga (sARAO)

16/03/21 sPP
DsI
sAAsTA
sANsA
sARAO
Eding 
International 
science Festival

Title:
science for society Week

Day 2: The benefits of engaging different 
publics in science festivals

Recording: TBC

Participants/Speakers:

Mr Tsepo Majake (AssAf)
Mr Bushy Moabelo (Eding International science 
Festival)

17/03/21 sPP
DsI
sAAsTA
sANsA
sARAO
Eding 
International 
science Festival

Title:
science for society Week

Day 3: Leadership and management in 
science engagement

Recording: TBC

Participants/Speakers:

Mr Tsepo Majake (AssAf)
Mr Moloko Matlala (sANsA)
Mr Livhuwani Masevhe (DsI)

18/03/21 sPP
DsI
sAAsTA
sANsA
sARAO
Eding 
International 
science Festival

Title:
science for society Week

Day 4: science communication as an 
enhancer of science engagement

Recording:
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1GZkIm0b7
QwdexahXVzRj0yGtZH3u4GcB/view 

Participants/Speakers:

Mr Tsepo Majake (AssAf)
Mr Michael Ellis (sAAsTA)

Promotion of women and gender in science
09/07/20 LP

IDRC
Title:
International Development Research 
Centre (IDRC) project on Eliminating 
Barriers to Women’s Participation in 
science: A study of the African Research 
Universities Alliance

Participants/Speakers:

Prof susan spronk (University of Ottawa)

19/08/20 Title:
UP Women in science symposium

Recording: https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=_g3DI3m4dw4 

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Vasu Reddy (UP)
Prof Tawana kupe (UP)
Prof Thuli Madonsela (sU)
Prof Himla soodyall (EO, AssAf)
Prof Nthabiseng Ogude (UP)
Dorothy Ngila (NRF, OWsD sA)
Prof Mmantsae Diale (UP)
saphia Essop (UP)
Prof Frans Viljoen (UP)
Nthabiseng Taole (UP)

26/08/20 LP
OWsD sA
DsI
Black Women in 
science (BWIs)
Nka’Thuto 
EduPropeller

Title:
south African Women in science Awards 
(sAWisA) Webinar series

Webinar 1: Covid-19 and its implications 
on women

Participants/Speakers:

Ms Mmampei Chaba (DsI)
Ms Thulile khanyile (Nka’Thuto EduPropeller)
Prof Nokuthula sibiya (Durban University of 
Technology (DUT))
Prof Jennifer Thomson (UCT, OWsD, MAssAf)
Prof Mmantsae Diale (UP)
Dr Bridget Ikalafeng (Gauteng Health Department)
Prof Fanelwa Ngece-Ajayi (UWC)

23/09/20 LP
OWsD sA
DsI
Black Women in 
science (BWIs)
Nka’Thuto 
EduPropeller

Title:
south African Women in science Awards 
(sAWisA) Webinar series

Webinar 2: Modern mentoring in focus: 
supporting women’s science careers

Participants/Speakers:

Ms Ndoni Mcunu (BWIs)
Prof Hasina Ebrahim (Unisa)
Ms Bavisha koovarjee (Wits)
Prof salome Maswime (UCT)
Dr katye Altieri (UCT)
Dr Xolelwa Zulu-Magwenyane (CsIR)
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21/10/20 LP
OWsD sA
DsI
Black Women in 
science (BWIs)
Nka’Thuto 
EduPropeller

Title:
south African Women in science Awards 
(sAWisA) Webinar series

Webinar 3: Tackling Gender-based 
Violence: Towards an Enabling science 
and Research Environment

Participants/Speakers:

Ms Dorothy Ngila (NRF, OWsD sA)
Prof Amanda Gouws (sU, MAssAf)
Dr Benita Moolman (UCT)
Prof Azwihangwisi
Mavhandu-Mudzusi (Unisa)
Anza Thiba (Wits)
Dr Ramneek Ahluwalia (Higher Health)

29/10/20 LP
GenderInsITE

Title:
African Women in science Leadership

Recording:
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1zvBTu
G1f2s7HsNpYbhznNpQmgjHsuMtO/
view?usp=sharing 

Participants/Speakers:

Prof Roseanne Diab (Director, GenderInsITE, 
MAssAf)
Phyllis kalele (AssAf)
Mzime Murisa (sTART)
Thato Morokong (AssAf)
Elzarie swanepoel (AssAf)
Dr Madaka Tumbo (University of Dar es salaam)

25/11/20 LP
OWsD sA
DsI
Black Women in 
science (BWIs)
Nka’Thuto 
EduPropeller

Title:
south African Women in science Awards 
(sAWisA) Webinar series

Webinar 4: Women in Innovation

Participants/Speakers:

Deputy Minister DsI: Mr Buti Manamela
Prof sibusiso Moyo (DUT)
Prof shirley Motaung (Tshwane University of 
Technology)
Ms Thandeka Mhlanga (Nka’Thuto EduPropeller)
Ms Nneile Nkholise (3DIMO)
Dr McLean sibanda (Innovation Hub)
Ms shona McDonald (shonaquip)
Mrs Portia Mngomezulu (Portia M)

30/11/20 LP
GenderInsITE
sTART

Title:
Crafting solutions to Create successful 
Pathways for African Women in science

Recording:
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1lvG7s_
ZjOX7QJL1tbmM30oXaFlWj4aFG/
view?usp=sharing 

Participants/Speakers:

Phyllis kalele (AssAf)
Mzime Murisa (sTART)
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